
 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

A G E N D A  

 

ABAG EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING NO. 423 

Thursday, March 16, 2017, 7:00 PM 

Location: 

Bay Area Metro Center 
Board Room 
375 Beale Street 
San Francisco, California 

 

The ABAG Executive Board may act on any item on this agenda. 

Agenda and attachments available at http://www.abag.ca.gov/ 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (415) 820 7913. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT 

INFORMATION 

3. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

INFORMATION 

4. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

INFORMATION 

5. ACTING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

INFORMATION 

6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

ACTION 

Unless there is a request by an Executive Board member to take up an item on the Consent 
Calendar separately, the Consent Calendar will be acted upon in one motion. 

A. Approval of Executive Board Summary Minutes of Meeting No. 422 held on 
February 16, 2017 

Attachment:  Summary Minutes of February 16, 2017 

  

Agenda

http://www.abag.ca.gov/


ABAG Executive Board 
March 16, 2017 
Page 2 
 

B. Ratification of Committee Appointments 

The Executive Board is requested to ratify the following committee appointments: 

San Francisco Bay Restoration Authority Governing Board 

Dave Pine, Supervisor, County of San Mateo—Chair 

John Gioia, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa—East Bay 

Vinnie Bacon, Councilmember, City of Fremont—South Bay 

Susan Gorin, Supervisor, County of Sonoma—Bayside City/County/Park District 

C. Ratification of the Submittal of the Proposal to the California Energy Commission 
as the Program Administrator for the Statewide Benchmarking Collaborative 
Project 

The Executive Board is requested to ratify the submittal of the proposal by ABAG to the 
California Energy Commission as the Program Administrator for the Statewide 
Benchmarking Collaborative Project, and, if approved, authorize the ABAG Acting 
Executive Director to enter negotiations and execute the necessary agreements in an 
amount not to exceed $2 million. 

Attachments:  Local Government Challenge Memo; Project Narrative 

D. Authorization to Enter into New Contract with Canopy for the Healthy Watersheds, 
Resilient Baylands Project 

The Executive Board is requested to authorize the Acting Executive Director or designee 
to enter into a new Subrecipient Agreement with Canopy for the Healthy Watersheds, 
Resilient Baylands Project in the amount not to exceed $38,000. 

Attachments:  Canopy Memo, Canopy Draft Subrecipient Agreement 

E. Ratification of Website Support Contract Modification No. 7 with San Francisco 
Estuary Institute 

The Executive Board is requested to ratify Contract Modification No. 7 to the agreement 
with San Francisco Estuary Institute to provide website support to San Francisco 
Estuary Partnership in the amount of $57,000 for the contract term from March 1, 2011 
through September 30, 2017. 

Attachment:  SFEI Web Support Memo, Contract Modification No. 7 

F. Approval of ABAG Management Pay Schedules and Monthly Salary Schedule for 
Represented Staff 

The Executive Board is requested to approve the attached ABAG Management Pay 
Schedule listing existing management salaries and ABAG Monthly Salary Schedule 
listing existing represented staff salaries. 

Attachments:  Management Pay and Monthly Salary Schedules Memo; Management 
Pay Schedule January 2017; Monthly Salary Schedule Represented Staff January 2017 

  

Agenda



ABAG Executive Board 
March 16, 2017 
Page 3 
 
7. ABAG LEGISLATION AND GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION COMMITTEE REPORT 

ACTION 

Committee Chair Scott Haggerty, Supervisor, County of Alameda, will report on Committee 
activities and request ABAG Executive Board approval of Committee recommendations. 

Attachment:  LGO Committee Agenda 

Agenda and attachments available at abag.ca.gov 

8. ABAG FINANCE AND PERSONNEL COMMITTEE REPORT 

ACTION 

Committee Chair Karen Mitchoff, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa, will report on 
Committee activities and request ABAG Executive Board approval of Committee 
recommendations. 

Attachments:  FP Committee Agenda 

Agenda and attachments available at abag.ca.gov 

9. REPORT ON PLANNING AND RESEARCH OVERVIEW 

INFORMATION 

Staff will present an overview of the Planning and Research Department, including 
describing how it fulfills its legal mandates, serves our cities, and brings new knowledge and 
innovation, and will seek input on actions needed to ensure continuity for current planning 
work and meet its legal mandates, and to identify greatest opportunities for the Council of 
Governments in the staff consolidation. 

Attachment:  Planning and Research Department Overview Memo; Summary of Key Tasks, 
Resources, and Tools; Challenges Cross City Boundaries 

10. REPORT ON ABAG/MTC OPTION 7 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION PLAN 

A. REPORT ON CONTRACT FOR SERVICES 

INFORMATION 

Staff will present an update on the Contract for Services and related documents. 

B. REPORT ON MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

INFORMATION 

Staff will present an update on the Memorandum of Understanding. 

Attachments:  Joint ABAG MTC Memo Approval Contract for Services and Memorandum of 
Understanding; Comment ABAG Retirees 

11. CLOSED SESSION 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency designated representatives:  Brad Paul, Acting Executive Director; Kenneth Moy, 
Legal Counsel; Courtney Ruby, Finance and Administrative Services Director; Marti 
Paschal, Assistant Director of Administrative Services 

Employee organization:  SEIU Local 1021 

Agenda

http://abag.ca.gov/
http://abag.ca.gov/


ABAG Executive Board 
March 16, 2017 
Page 4 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT 

The next meeting of the ABAG Executive Board will be on April 20, 2017. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Brad Paul, Acting Secretary-Treasurer 

 

 

Date Submitted:  March 10, 2017 

Date Posted:  March 16, 2017 

 

 

Agenda



 

SUMMARY MINUTES (DRAFT) 
ABAG Executive Board Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Bay Area Metro Center 

375 Beale Street, Board Room 
San Francisco, California 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ABAG President Julie Pierce, Councilmember, City of Clayton, called the meeting of the 
Executive Board of the Association of Bay Area Governments to order at about 7:00 p.m. 

President Pierce welcomed the following new Executive Board members:  Diane Burgis, 
Supervisor, County of Contra Costa—attending for Supervisor Candace Andersen; Liz 
Gibbons, Mayor, City of Campbell—Cities in Santa Clara County; John Rahaim, Director of 
Planning, City and County of San Francisco; Todd Rufo, Director of Economic and 
Workforce Development, City and County of San Francisco; Lan Diep, Councilmember, City 
of San Jose; Sergio Jimenez, Councilmember City of San Jose. 

President Pierce announced that Dave Cortese, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara, was 
participating by teleconference. 

President Pierce directed the Clerk of the Board to conduct a roll call. 

A quorum of the ABAG Executive Board was present at about 7:00 p.m. 

Representatives and Alternates Present Jurisdiction 

Mayor Jesse Arreguin Cities in Alameda County 
Supervisor Diane Burgis County of Contra Costa 
Councilmember Annie Campbell Washington City of Oakland 
Supervisor Dave Canepa County of San Mateo 
Supervisor Cindy Chavez County of Santa Clara 
Supervisor David Cortese County of Santa Clara 
Councilmember Lan Diep City of San Jose 
Councilmember Pat Eklund City of Novato 
Dir Nicole Elliott, Leg and Gov Affairs City of San Francisco 
Mayor Leon Garcia City of American Canyon 
Mayor Liz Gibbons City of Campbell 
Councilmember Lynette Gibson McElhaney City of Oakland 
Councilmember Abel Guillen City of Oakland 
Mayor Pradeep Gupta City of South San Francisco 
Supervisor Scott Haggerty County of Alameda 
Mayor Barbara Halliday City of Hayward 
Supervisor Erin Hannigan County of Solano 
Councilmember Sergio Jimenez City of San Jose 
Director William Kissinger * RWQCB 
Mayor Wayne Lee City of Millbrae 
Mayor Jake Mackenzie City of Rohnert Park 
Supervisor Karen Mitchoff County of Contra Costa 
Councilmember Raul Peralez City of San Jose 
Councilmember Julie Pierce City of Clayton 

Item 6.A.



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Executive Board Special Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Page 2 

 

 

Supervisor Dave Pine County of San Mateo 
Supervisor David Rabbitt County of Sonoma 
Dir John Rahaim, Planning City of San Francisco 
Supervisor Dennis Rodoni County of Marin 
Dir Todd Rufo, Economic and Workforce Dev City of San Francisco 
Mayor Greg Scharff City of Palo Alto 

Representatives Absent Jurisdiction 

Mayor Len Augustine City of Vacaville 
Vice Mayor Dave Hudson City of San Ramon 
Supervisor Nathan Miley County of Alameda 
Supervisor Belia Ramos County of Napa 
Supervisor Norman Yee County of San Francisco 

[ * Non-voting Advisory Member] 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT 

There was no public comment. 

3. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

There were no announcements. 

4. PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

President Pierce reported on the following: 

The special General Assembly on “Shaping the Future of ABAG:  What Does the Bay Area 
Need from Its Council of Governments?” was held on January 30, 2017. 

The regular General Assembly and Business Meeting is on May 11, 2017. 

The San Francisco Bay Trail and San Francisco Water Trail 2016 highlights booklets were 
distributed. 

Executive Board representatives and alternates are required to file an annual Form 700 
under ABAG’s Conflict of Interest Code.  Filing deadline is April 3, 2017. 

The Executive Board was requested to ratify appointments to ABAG committees under the 
Consent Calendar. 

5. ACTING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

There was no Acting Executive Director’s report. 

6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

President Pierce recognized a request by Pradeep Gupta, Mayor, City of South San 
Francisco, to pull Item 6.C., Authorization to Enter into New Contract with San Francisco 
Estuary Institute (SFEI) for the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project, from the 
Consent Calendar. 

President Pierce recognized a motion by Pat Eklund, Councilmember, City of Novato, which 
was seconded by Cindy Chavez, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara, to approve the 
Consent Calendar, excepting Item 6.C., Authorization to Enter Into New Contract with San 
Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI) for the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project 
and including the ratification of committee appointments. 

Item 6.A.



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Executive Board Special Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Page 3 

 

 

There was no discussion. 

There was no public comment. 

President Pierce directed the Clerk to conduct a roll call vote. 

The aye votes were:  Arreguin, Burgis, Canepa, Chavez, Cortese, Diep, Eklund, Elliott, 
Garcia, Gibbons, Guillen, Gupta, Haggerty, Halliday, Hannigan, Jimenez, Lee, Mackenzie, 
Mitchoff, Peralez, Pierce, Pine, Rabbitt, Rahaim, Rodoni, Rufo, Scharff. 

The nay votes were:  None. 

Abstentions were:  None. 

Absent were:  Augustine, Campbell Washington, Gibson McElhaney, Hudson, Miley, 
Ramos, Yee. 

The motion passed unanimously. 

A. Approval of Executive Board Summary Minutes of Meeting No. 421 held on 
January 19, 2017 

The ABAG Executive Board approved its Summary Minutes of the meeting on 
January 19, 2017. 

B. Ratification of Committee Appointments 

The Executive Board ratified the following committee appointments: 

Administrative Committee 

Karen Mitchoff, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa—FP Committee Chair 
Cindy Chavez, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara 

Finance and Personnel Committee 

Annie Campbell Washington, Councilmember, City of Oakland 
Erin Hannigan, Supervisor, County of Solano 

Legislation and Governmental Organization Committee 

Dave Hudson, Vice Mayor, City of San Ramon 
Greg Scharff, Mayor, City of Palo Alto 

Regional Planning Committee 

Monica Brown, Supervisor, County of Solano 
David Canepa, Supervisor, County of San Mateo 
Greg Scharff, Mayor, City of Palo Alto—San Francisco Bay Conservation and 
Development Commission 
Kathleen Cha, League of Women Voters—Public Interest 

C. Authorization to Enter into New Contract with San Francisco Estuary Institute 
(SFEI) for the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project 

The Executive Board authorized the Executive Director or designee to enter into an 
agreement with SFEI for Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands project in the amount 
not to exceed $988,335.14. 

Item 6.A.



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Executive Board Special Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Page 4 

 

 

D. Authorization to Enter into New Contract with Grassroots Ecology for the Healthy 
Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project 

The Executive Board authorized the Executive Director or designee to enter into a new 
Subrecipient Agreement with the Grassroots Ecology for the Healthy Watersheds, 
Resilient Baylands project in the amount not to exceed $52,250. 

E. Authorization to Enter into New Contract with City of Sunnyvale for the Healthy 
Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project 

The Executive Board authorized the Executive Director or designee to enter into a new 
Subrecipient Agreement with the City of Sunnyvale for the Healthy Watersheds, 
Resilient Baylands project in the amount not to exceed $380,000. 

Members discussed Item 6.C., Authorization to Enter into New Contract with San Francisco 
Estuary Institute (SFEI) for the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands project, i.e., project 
costs and funding. 

President Pierce recognized a motion by Pradeep Gupta, Mayor, City of South San 
Francisco, which was seconded by Wayne Lee, Mayor, City of Millbrae, to approve Item 
6.C., Authorization to Enter into New Contract with San Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI) 
for the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands project. 

There was no public comment. 

President Pierce directed the Clerk to conduct a roll call vote. 

The aye votes were:  Arreguin, Burgis, Canepa, Chavez, Cortese, Diep, Eklund, Elliott, 
Garcia, Gibbons, Guillen, Gupta, Haggerty, Halliday, Hannigan, Jimenez, Lee, Mackenzie, 
Mitchoff, Peralez, Pierce, Pine, Rabbitt, Rahaim, Rodoni, Rufo, Scharff. 

The nay votes were:  None. 

Abstentions were:  None. 

Absent were:  Augustine, Campbell Washington, Gibson McElhaney, Hudson, Miley, 
Ramos, Yee. 

The motion passed unanimously. 

7. REPORT ON LOWER SAN JOAQUIN RIVER FLOW OBJECTIVES 

Miriam Chion, ABAG Planning and Research Director, introduced a panel of speakers, 
including Leslie F. Grober, Deputy Director for Water Rights, State Water Resources Control 
Board; Steven Ritchie, Assistant General Manager of the Water Enterprise, San Francisco 
Public Utilities Commission; and Peter Drekmeier, Policy Director, Tuolumne River Trust, 
which presented on the proposed State Water Resources Control Board's Phase I 
Substitute Environmental Document for Flow Objectives on the Lower San Joaquin River. 

Members discussed ground water recharging, water storage, and water for the Bay; status 
of settlement discussions and implications on comment period; salt water intrusion; bay 
restoration; flow flexibility, program implementation, and state of emergency; wastewater 
treatment facility discharge for ground water recharge; San Francisco Public Utility 
Commission assertions and socioeconomic study; customer impact on housing 
development; Sonoma County Water Agency and Russian River flows. 

Item 6.A.



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Executive Board Special Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Page 5 

 

 

President Pierce recognized a motion by Eklund, which was seconded by Lee, to accept the 
staff report, including approval to send a comment letter to the State Water Resources 
Control Board, as reported. 

President Pierce recognized a friendly amendment by Nicole Elliot, Director, Legislative and 
Governmental Affairs, City and County of San Francisco, to include in the letter 
acknowledgment of the parties in the negotiated settlement in seeking time to find balance.  
The friendly amendment was accepted by Eklund and Lee. 

There was no discussion. 

There was no public comment. 

President Pierce directed the Clerk to conduct a roll call vote. 

The aye votes were:  Arreguin, Burgis, Campbell Washington, Canepa, Chavez, Cortese, 
Diep, Eklund, Elliott, Garcia, Gibbons, Gibson McElhaney, Guillen, Gupta, Haggerty, 
Halliday, Hannigan, Jimenez, Lee, Mackenzie, Mitchoff, Peralez, Pierce, Pine, Rabbitt, 
Rahaim, Rodoni, Rufo, Scharff. 

The nay votes were:  None. 

Abstentions were:  None. 

Absent were:  Augustine, Hudson, Miley, Ramos, Yee. 

The motion passed unanimously. 

8. REPORT ON ABAG/MTC OPTION 7 IMPLEMENTATION ACTION PLAN 

A. REPORT ON CONTRACT FOR SERVICES 

Brad Paul, ABAG Acting Executive Director, presented the draft Contract for Services 
that will govern how ABAG and MTC will share a consolidated staff and requested 
members to provide policy guidance, including ABAG statutory authority, employee 
transition plan, organizational chart, consolidated staff organizational chart, 
Memorandum of Understanding, and annual budget and work plan, organizational 
development work, input process, update schedule, ad hoc committee, and employee 
relations group. 

The following individuals gave public comment:  Matt Vander Sluice, Greenbelt Alliance; Lee 
Huo, SEIU Local 1021, ABAG Chapter; Julio Corral, SEIU Local 1021; Ken Bukowski. 

Members discussed transition of staff not needing Legislature approval; Legislature approval 
regarding merger of governance agencies; staff integration and revised job classification 
report, employee transition plan, employee representation, and retirement and benefits; job 
classification and organizational development consultants; CalPERS contract and 
retirement; compensation and benefits, and sick and vacation leave; dispute resolution and 
policy making; termination for cause provision; stakeholder process and involvement; 
organizational development contract and agency mission and culture; procuring areas of 
service from MTC for ABAG, functional work, budget and work plan, and checks and 
balances, budget shortfall; Regional Planning Committee workshop feedback, maintain local 
control, protect staff employee benefits, enhance engagement with local planners, economic 
prosperity on par with housing and transportation issues; classification study and keeping 
employees whole regarding compensation and benefits; input regarding Memorandum of 
Understanding and Contract for Services documents; conflict resolution process regarding 

Item 6.A.



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Executive Board Special Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Page 6 

 

 

policy issues; financial and programmatic accountability for products and services; General 
Assembly role, engagement, and policy decisions; Option 7 resolution and principles; 
successor Executive Director selection; $2.6 million funding gap; provision for General 
Assembly, Executive Board, and local jurisdictions discussion on consolidation 
implementation; revenue sources and funding for transportation and land use planning; 
compilation of General Assembly notes; consolidated staff cost; Executive Board control 
over staff liaison; staff consolidation and merger of ABAG and MTC governance; cities and 
counties interests and regional planning; executive management staff work on consolidation; 
Council of Governments and Metropolitan Planning Organization; trust and working with 
colleagues; working with past and incoming MTC chair and vice chair. 

B. REPORT ON POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Kenneth Moy, ABAG Legal Counsel, reported on potential conflict of interest and 
requested the Executive Board to accept a report that staff members negotiating the 
Contract for Services have a ‘remote interest’ in the contract. [Govt Code § 1091.5(a)(9)] 

President Pierce recognized a motion by Karen Mitchoff, Supervisor, County of Contra 
Costa, which was seconded by Abel Guillen, Councilmember, City of Oakland, to accept the 
staff report on potential conflict of interest regarding staff members negotiating the Contract 
for Services. 

There was no discussion. 

There was no public comment. 

President Pierce directed the Clerk to conduct a roll call vote. 

The aye votes were:  Arreguin, Burgis, Campbell Washington, Canepa, Chavez, Cortese, 
Diep, Eklund, Elliott, Garcia, Gibbons, Gibson McElhaney, Guillen, Gupta, Halliday, 
Hannigan, Jimenez, Lee, Mackenzie, Mitchoff, Pierce, Pine, Rabbitt, Rahaim, Rodoni, Rufo, 
Scharff. 

The nay votes were:  None. 

Abstentions were:  None. 

Absent were:  Augustine, Haggerty, Hudson, Miley, Peralez, Ramos, Yee. 

The motion passed unanimously. 

9. ADJOURNMENT 

Dave Cortese, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara, commented on the deliberation on staff 
consolidation process and Contract for Services. 

President Pierce adjourned the meeting of the ABAG Executive Board at about 9:30 p.m. 

The next regular meeting of the ABAG Executive Board will be on March 16, 2017. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Brad Paul, Acting Secretary-Treasurer 

Item 6.A.



Summary Minutes (Draft) 
ABAG Executive Board Special Meeting No. 422 

Thursday, February 16, 2017 
Page 7 

 

 

 

Date Submitted:  March 7, 2017 

Approved:   

 

For information or to review audio recordings of ABAG Executive Board meetings, contact 
Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (415) 820 7913 or FredC@abag.ca.gov. 

 

Item 6.A.

mailto:FredC@abag.ca.gov


Blank Page 



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: February 24, 2017 
 
To: ABAG Executive Board 
 
From: Jennifer Berg 

Principal Program Manager, Energy 
 
Subject: Ratification of a Proposal to California Energy Commission—Local 

Government Challenge 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The California Energy Commission (CEC) has issued a Grant Funding Opportunity (GFO-404), 
called Local Government Challenge.  ABAG, together with a team of other public agencies and 
non-profit organizations intends to submit a proposal called Statewide Benchmarking 
Collaborative project.  ABAG would be the prime recipient on the team and would serve as the 
Program Administrator.  The award notifications will be made on April 11, 2017.  The maximum 
contract allocation is $2 million, with a contract termination date in March 2021. 
 
Background  
 
The CEC’s Existing Buildings Energy Efficiency Action Plan (Action Plan) provides a roadmap to 
activate market forces and transform California’s existing residential, commercial, and public 
buildings to become high-performing and energy-efficient. The Action Plan serves as an 
important tool in the implementation of components of SB 350 (requiring the CEC to establish 
targets and meet goals to double energy efficiency in buildings), and AB 802 (requiring the CEC 
to implement a statewide benchmarking program for nonresidential buildings). The Local 
Government Challenge Program is detailed in Strategy 1.7 of the Action Plan.  
 
In its 2016-2017 budget, the Legislature approved the CEC’s expenditure authority to administer 
repaid and repurposed federal American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA), 
State Energy Program funds. A total of $10.2 million has been made available for the Challenge 
program. The Challenge program will encourage participation from both small and large local 
governments by separating funding into two categories, the Small Government Leadership 
Challenge and the Energy Innovation Challenge.  ABAG’s proposal will fall under the Energy 
Innovation Challenge category, which expressly allows for proposals from councils of 
governments.   
 
The goal of this project proposal is to foster the coordination of government implementation of 
benchmarking and transparency policies in furtherance of the mandates of AB 802 requiring 
energy benchmarking of commercial and multifamily buildings and use of the data to increase 

Item 6.C.



Ratification of a Proposal to CEC—Local Government Challenge 
February 24, 2017 
Page 2 
 

energy efficiency in buildings.  Further the project will support a robust stakeholder engagement 
strategy that will empower building owners and local governments in their efforts to improve the 
performance of buildings across the state. Successful deployment of the statewide 
benchmarking program will largely depend on whether local jurisdictions have access to 
sufficient capacity, resources, and expertise. By convening regular working group calls, 
providing a platform for coordination with the CEC, capturing lessons learned, offering technical 
assistance, and convening in-person meetings, this project initiative will help cities further their 
own benchmarking efforts and contribute to the ramp-up and implementation of the statewide 
program.  
 
Key deliverables from the project are: 
 

 Coordinate 6 local governments partners to advance local and state energy 
benchmarking and transparency policies and programs;  

 Ensure alignment between local and state programs as much as possible. Alignment will 
be necessary across a range of issues, including but not limited to: data infrastructure, 
time of year of reporting, data storage, Building Department/CEC coordination, and best 
practices of Benchmarking Help Centers;  

 Capture lessons learned by local governments at each stage of the benchmarking and 
disclosure cycle to share with the CEC and stakeholders to demonstrate the benefits of 
benchmarking and provide guidance on using the data to reduce energy use;  

 Deliver technical, communication, and policy assistance to participating local 
governments;  

 Foster discussion and dissemination of ideas among local governments;  
 Assist with outreach to real estate, affordable housing, and building industry groups by 

leveraging local government partnerships;  
 Disseminate the learnings and outcomes through channel partners to a wider market, 

both within and outside of California. 
 
ABAG has teamed with the following agencies on this proposal: 
 

 City and County of San Francisco 
 City of Berkeley 
 City of Oakland 
 City of San Jose 
 City of San Diego 
 County of Los Angeles 

 
The term of the contract is from July 2017 through March 2021. 
 
Recommended Action 
 
The Executive Board is requested to ratify the submittal of the proposal by ABAG to the 
California Energy Commission as the Program Administrator for the Statewide Benchmarking 
Collaborative Project, and, if approved, authorize the ABAG Acting Executive Director to enter 
negotiations and execute the necessary agreements in an amount not to exceed $2 million. 
 
  

Item 6.C.



Ratification of a Proposal to CEC—Local Government Challenge 
February 24, 2017 
Page 3 
 

Attachment 
 
Project Narrative 

Item 6.C.



Blank Page 



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 1 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

1. Demonstrated Need or Value  

Project Overview  

The implementation of AB 802 (Williams) will be a national game changer in using 
benchmarking and the disclosure of building performance data to drive energy savings in 
existing buildings. While the State of California’s new mandates will initiate significant 

benchmarking activity, many local jurisdictions are currently adopting or implementing their own 
benchmarking, transparency, and advanced building performance policies. Coordination among 
local and state benchmarking efforts is critical to minimizing market confusion and maximizing 
existing building energy savings. Additionally, gathering and applying lessons learned by 
benchmarking efforts across the United States will increase the likelihood of success for 
California’s state and local efforts. Last, the success of any benchmarking and transparency 
program, whether locally- or state-driven, relies heavily on local jurisdictions’ ability to engage 

and activate their commercial and multifamily building communities.  

The proposed California Energy Data Leadership Project (Project) is designed to address these 
needs. By bringing California jurisdictions that have active or pending benchmarking policies 
together with experts in building performance and data transparency, the Project will foster an 
informed and coordinated deployment of benchmarking policies at the state and local levels. By 
fostering robust stakeholder engagement and best practice sharing, the Project will empower 
local governments and building owners in their efforts to improve the performance of buildings 
across the state. The deep, strategic coordination proposed by this Project will directly support 
the goals established by AB 758 and SB 350 by bolstering local government leadership efforts 
and increasing awareness of energy and cost savings potential among existing commercial and 
multifamily building owners and operators. 

Local governments participating in the Project (Berkeley, Los Angeles, Oakland, San Diego, 
San Francisco, and San Jose) represent a range of diverse communities, and the three member 
cities that already have local benchmarking policies (Berkeley, Los Angeles and San Francisco) 
comprise about 45 percent of the buildings in the state that will have to comply with AB 802. The 
percentage covered by local policies will grow to well over 50 percent of the state’s total should 

the remaining three cities, which are all considering new policies, enact those as well. The 
successful implementation of both local policies and AB 802 requirements within the cities 
participating in the Project is critical to the overall success of AB 802. The additional direct 
funding, technical assistance, access to resources, and networking/collaboration opportunities 
provided through this project will deliver the key elements necessary to ensure their success. 

The Institute for Market Transformation (IMT) brings a national perspective to the project; IMT 
will help inform California’s benchmarking efforts by highlighting best practices established 
across the country, including in Los Angeles and San Jose, via IMT’s co-leadership of the City 
Energy Project. The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) will leverage its 
relationships and programs to engage and activate Bay Area jurisdictions and property owners. 
The Center for Sustainable Energy (CSE) will tap into its education, outreach and policy 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 2 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

expertise to engage and inform stakeholders at all levels, from building occupants to state 
regulators.  

a. Project design reflects the goals of the Applicant as stated in their climate action 

plan, general plan, or other document.  

ABAG and the local government Project partners are all committed to reducing climate change 
impacts and energy use in their jurisdictions. For each of the participating cities, establishing a 
benchmarking and transparency policy is foundational to prioritizing energy savings and critical 
for both long term energy strategy planning and achieving climate action goals. 

 City of San Diego: The proposed Project will support the City of San Diego in reaching 
its Climate Action Plan goals of reducing energy consumption at municipal facilities by 
15 percent by 2020 and an additional 25 percent by 2035, and achieving 100 percent 
renewable energy city-wide by 2035. Benchmarking and energy disclosure policies are 
key components of these Climate Action Plan goals. Alignment and cooperation with 
other local governments will likely increase resource availability and data quality to better 
identify opportunities for the City and its commercial sector to reduce energy 
consumption. Future investments in energy efficiency measures will further reduce the 
municipal load requirement to achieve 100 percent renewable energy city-wide. By 
learning from other governments and promoting the benefits of benchmarking, the City 
will ensure that its residents and businesses are receptive to energy conservation and 
disclosure ordinances. 

 City of Oakland: The proposed Project supports the broad goals of the Oakland Energy 
and Climate Action Plan (ECAP) by targeting existing buildings, a critical and hard-to-
reach market segment of emissions generation. It further supports the ECAP goals of 
broadly reducing emissions in ways that support broader equity goals, including the 
creation of green jobs, the reduction in utility costs for small business owners, and 
increased outreach and coordination with disadvantaged neighborhoods, where many 
large buildings are located. The ECAP specifies 61 priority actions (PA) to meet its 
adopted 2020 climate goals. These include several items specifically supported by 
benchmarking programs and policies, including: 

o PA 42: Engage Largest Electricity Consumers in Energy Retrofits 
o PA 43: Market Energy Retrofit Opportunities to All Oakland Businesses 
o PA 46: Consider Energy Benchmarking Requirements for Commercial Buildings 

 City of San Jose: The project supports the City of San Jose’s “Green Vision” greenhouse 

gas reduction goals in existing buildings. As part of their participation in the City Energy 
Project, San Jose is beginning to implement and expand a set of programs to jump start 
benchmarking and retrofits in commercial and multifamily buildings. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 3 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

 City of Los Angeles: The City of Los Angeles passed the Existing Buildings Energy and 
Water Efficiency Program Ordinance in December 2106. The ordinance requires energy 
and water benchmarking among buildings 20,000 sf and larger and results in the largest 
number of buildings being required to comply with a local policy anywhere in the nation.  

 Cities of San Francisco and Berkeley: These cities have adopted benchmarking policies 
and have several years of experience to share with both the state and local jurisdictions 
wishing to pass their own policies. The Energy Data Leadership Project enables these 
leading jurisdictions to both share best practices and learn from national leaders as they 
adjust their own policies to align with new state requirements.  

b. Application clearly identifies and provides detailed justification for the need and/or 

value of the project as a whole, as well as justification for the need and/or value of 

each of the technical tasks or activities proposed.  

AB 802 requires benchmarking and reporting to the Energy Commission for most buildings over 
50,000 square feet, but the recently published regulations for AB 802 have clarified that where a 
local jurisdiction collects and reports appropriate benchmarking data to the Energy Commission, 
those buildings participating in the local program may be considered by the Energy Commission 
as having complied with the requirements of AB 802. Although AB 802 provides an enormously 
helpful foundation by regulating utility data access provisions, the responsibility for fully 
implementing these local programs and engaging with the covered building owners ultimately 
falls largely upon the cities. In addition, many of the cities that have or are considering local 
benchmarking measures will incorporate aspects that go well beyond the requirements of AB 
802, such as a) including buildings smaller than 50,000 square feet, b) requiring additional 
actions such as audits or retuning for buildings that that demonstrate poor benchmarking 
results, or c) delivering targeted messaging and scorecards to individual buildings to help 
motivate owners to make energy efficiency improvements. The Project members represent the 
leading cadre of local policy makers in the state who are hoping to use benchmarking and 
related programs as a means to drive demonstrable energy savings in their local building stock 
while at the same time, serving as model jurisdictions for others in the state.   

This project seeks to support local governments that have existing or emerging ordinances to 
help them align with and, where appropriate, exceed the state program. Cities that have opted 
to enact local benchmarking requirements have demonstrated their commitment to the energy 
efficiency goals underlying SB 350 and AB 802, but because they have or intend to pass 
policies that to go beyond the requirements of AB 802 they will require additional resources and 
support to help them execute the initial ramp-up of their programs. Any AB 802-focused 
trainings, technical resources, data infrastructure solutions, stakeholder engagement campaigns 
and other activities that the Energy Commission may decide to deliver at the state level will 
need to be augmented or completely superseded by targeted local efforts within these 
communities. This is the fundamental gap that will be addressed through this project. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 4 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

Resources for San Diego, San Jose and Oakland are especially critical as these communities 
will be faced with major change during the contract period. At the start of the Project, building 
owners will be required to report directly to the state under AB 802. Soon thereafter these 
jurisdictions are expected to adopt their own benchmarking policies that exceed the state 
requirements. One of the most valuable components of this project is providing assistance to 
these jurisdictions to help them align their reporting requirements to those established by the 
state to minimize market confusion and create a smooth transition for covered building owners. 
As these jurisdictions adopt their own policies and take on support and outreach responsibilities 
for their local markets, the need for Energy Commission staff to support covered building 
owners will be greatly reduced. 

Because it includes all six major cities in the state that have or are considering local 
benchmarking provisions, this project will provide a single touchpoint for the Energy 
Commission to work with leading cities. Furthermore, federal partners, including the EPA and 
DOE, have expressed a desire to work with a coordinated group of local governments and the 
Energy Commission in California. Not only will the Project directly support benchmarking 
activities within the six participating cites, but local governments across the state will benefit 
from this project’s efforts to bolster awareness around benchmarking, increase coordination with 

the Energy Commission, provide a peer learning network, and create resources and outreach 
strategies that are easily transferable.  

The proposed project includes three technical tasks. The value for each of the proposed tasks 
and activities is described below. 

 TASK 2: BENCHMARKING LEADERSHIP CONSORTIUM (BLC): The BLC will develop 
solutions to current and future challenges to implementing benchmarking policies and 
will enable a fast-tracked channel of communication directly to the Energy Commission 
with recommendations for the statewide benchmarking program. The BLC will identify 
key partner and stakeholder engagement strategies, and address high-priority needs to 
ensure building owners are prepared and ready to benchmark their buildings. 

 TASK 3: STAKEHOLDER OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT: Local governments 
participating in the Project represent over half of the buildings in the state that will have 
to comply with AB 802. Working in a coordinated fashion to engage covered building 
owners and operators will greatly enhance the Energy Commission’s efforts to spread 

the word about the new requirements and reduce the Energy Commission’s workload in 

informing stakeholders. Engaging this large number of stakeholders with consistent 
messaging is also valuable to minimize market confusion and increase the success of 
the statewide program.  

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 5 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

 TASK 4: TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE: Many of the technical details regarding 
coordination between the statewide and local benchmarking policies are still to be 
addressed. This task will bring national expertise and the experience of cities such as 
New York, Chicago, and Seattle to California’s programs. The task will address general 

benchmarking implementation and the roles of city staff and covered building 
communities, data infrastructure alignment and the state and local levels, and moving 
building owners from benchmarking to energy savings.  

 TASK 5: PUBLIC OUTREACH / BROADCAST RESULTS: After working together over 
the course of 2.5 years (mid-2017 through the end of 2019), the group will be have much 
to share with other jurisdictions seeking to better understand the successful approaches 
to implementing benchmarking and disclosure policies. ABAG’s experience as a regional 

leader will help to inform the best channels of communication for sharing the Project 
outcomes. 

c. Application identifies and discusses any benefits of the proposed project/activities 

and who will receive those benefits.  

This project will provide significant benefits to ensure high compliance rates with benchmarking 
and support commercial building decision makers to achieve energy savings. 

Benefit #1: Participating cities will be able to effectively implement their local benchmarking 
requirements, and/or support successful local implementation of AB 802, thereby achieving their 
local climate action and energy efficiency goals 

Benefit #2: Because the cities will be able to deliver additional trainings, provide better support 
resources, and have more robust stakeholder engagement, more building owners will 
benchmark their buildings and begin to consider cost savings improvements they can implement 
in their buildings. 

Benefit #3: The participating cities will be responsible for activities related to benchmarking of 
buildings within their jurisdictions, freeing up Energy Commission staff and resources to focus 
on overseeing AB 802 implementation for the more dispersed buildings across the remainder of 
the state.  

Benefit #4: Energy Commission staff and staff in other California cities will be able to leverage 
the resources, best practices, and positive experiences of building owners and property 
managers that will be developed through this project within the participating cities. 

d. The grant proposal explains how the project would not be able to move forward 

without the Challenge grant.  

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 6 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

Without this specific funding opportunity from the Energy Commission, the Project partners 
would be unable to devote resources to supporting and facilitating a coordinated and informed 
rollout of the forthcoming statewide and local benchmarking program. The local government 
partners would proceed in an uncoordinated fashion. For cities that have local policies, this may 
result in market confusion regarding state and local reporting requirements and have a negative 
impact on compliance among building owners and operators.  

e. Application identifies and discusses any consequences that may result from not 

doing the proposed project.  

The success of any benchmarking program, local or statewide, depends heavily on local 
leadership, and on establishing robust communication channels to engage with and activate the 
commercial and multifamily real estate communities at the local level. Without the dedicated 
funding and support that can be provided under this project, there is a significant risk that the 
participating cities will be unable to devote adequate resources to support their local 
benchmarking efforts, which would significantly undermine the ability for local governments and 
the states to coordinate collaborate on the rollout of coordinated policies. The first few years of 
any benchmarking program are vital to establishing success, and because this is a statewide 
program (the first of its kind), it is imperative that local governments are empowered to lead, on 
behalf of the state, when it comes to outreach, education and technical assistance to their local 
building communities. 

The Local Government Challenge funding opportunity is particularly well-timed; if awarded, the 
proposed Project will enable local governments interested in adopting local policies to 
coordinate their efforts with the rollout of the statewide program. Furthermore, the Project 
partners believe that the Energy Data Leadership Project will create “hot spots” for future 
regional collaboration, develop institutional knowledge and build capacity at the local level, 
establishing a foundation of success for advanced building performance policies and energy 
savings for years to come. As expressed by their climate action plans, it is local governments 
that sit at the vanguard of possibility when it comes to improving energy efficiency in existing 
buildings. The project participants believe that local governments will be the key to a successful 
statewide benchmarking program and without funding for the Project, the future success of the 
statewide benchmarking program remains uncertain. 

2. State Energy Goals  

a. Demonstrates how the project will increase compliance with California Building 

Energy Efficiency Standards.  

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 7 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

In many cases, local building departments play a pivotal role in enforcing compliance with 
benchmarking policies. For example, the City of Los Angeles is relying on the Department of 
Building and Safety to enforce the requirements of the Existing Buildings Energy and Water 
Efficiency Program. Local building departments are also charged with enforcing compliance with 
the California Building Energy Efficiency Standards. Every interaction between building 
owners/operators and building departments around benchmarking compliance, whether in 
person or via web-based data reporting infrastructure, presents an opportunity to increase 
awareness of the energy efficiency standards. The proposed Project will gather and apply best 
practices in enforcement and the most advantageous use of local building departments to 
achieve compliance with both benchmarking policy requirements and Title 24, Part 6. The 
Project team will collaborate with REN codes and standards programs to engage compliance 
community stakeholders, by leveraging existing forums, around benchmarking and transparency 
best practices and practical roles and expectations.  Additionally, outreach and education to 
local building owners and operators about statewide and local benchmarking program 
compliance requirements presents an opportunity to inform them about energy efficiency code 
compliance as well.  

b. Demonstrates how the project will help meet the goals of SB 350 and AB 802  

In the 2016 Existing Buildings Action Plan, the Energy Commission establishes a 10-year plan 
to achieve the following goals: 1) increased government leadership in energy efficiency; 2) data-
driven decision making; 3) increased building industry innovation and performance; 4) 
recognized value of energy efficiency and upgrades; and 5) affordable and accessible energy 
efficiency Solutions. The Plan relies on “increased government leadership in energy efficiency,” 

and specifically mentions benchmarking and disclosure as an area of local government 
leadership. The Vision Statement of the pPlan goes on to state "robust, sustainable efficiency 
marketplaces that deliver multiple benefits to building owners and occupants through 
improvements, investments and operation of existing homes, businesses, and public buildings" 
will result in the "doubling of energy savings from building energy efficiency projects in 
California. This is equivalent to a 20 percent reduction of statewide building energy use from 
2014 levels by 2030." This Project aims to establish such ‘robust marketplaces’ for energy 

efficiency in commercial and multifamily buildings, and to drive energy savings that result from 
increased awareness of building performance. In passing AB 802, the State demonstrated its 
commitment to annual benchmarking and reporting of building performance, facilitated by a 
simple process for building owners to get energy usage data from utilities, as an important 
pathway for driving demand for energy efficient buildings. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 8 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

The success of a statewide benchmarking program will depend on a number of factors, such as 
a) facilitating the development of efficient, streamlined processes for building owners to comply, 
b) ability to collect high quality benchmarking data, c) high levels of compliance by building 
owners, d) educating building owners and the real estate community on the value of 
benchmarking results, e) activating the energy efficiency service provider community to fulfill the 
market demand generated through benchmarking, and ultimately, f) motivating building owners 
to take actions to improve the energy performance of their buildings. This project will assist the 
six participating cities in addressing these, and other key issues, so that the potential value of 
benchmarking as a driver of energy efficiency can be fully realized in these markets. Best 
practices will be shared across the state thereby resulting in greater overall compliance with AB 
802 while also diminishing the demands on Energy Commission staff responsible for 
implementation. 

c. For Energy Innovation Challenge applicants, demonstrates how the project will create 

measurable energy savings and greenhouse gas emissions reductions.  

The success of the proposed Project will be measured in the level of awareness of 
benchmarking requirements among covered building owners and operators, as well as the 
number of complying buildings in the participating jurisdictions. While the Energy Commission 
did not specifically quantify potential energy consumption reductions from the implementation of 
AB 802, it was noted that the EPA saw an estimated seven percent reduction in energy use 
over a period of four years through consistent building benchmarking.1 

A key component of calculating accurate energy savings and greenhouse gas emissions 
reductions from benchmarking and transparency programs, such as AB 802, is data quality. As 
noted in the San Francisco Existing Commercial Buildings Performance Report (2010-2014), 

key factors affecting data quality in their program included unfamiliarity with Portfolio Manager, 
manual data entry (versus automated benchmarking via a local utility), tenant- or electrical-
system reconfiguration, and omission of meters.2 Thus, stakeholder engagement and outreach 
to increase building owner and operator awareness of AB 802 requirements and developing 
best practices will not only increase compliance rates, but also the quality of the data provided 
to local and statewide jurisdictions. Increased data quality, in turn, will increase the accuracy of 
calculations of the energy savings and greenhouse gas emissions reductions realized through 
the passage of AB 802. 

                                                 

 
1 http://docketpublic.energy.ca.gov/PublicDocuments/15-OIR-
05/TN216205_20170223T123839_AB_802_Benchmarking_Form_399_Attachment.pdf 
2 http://uli.org/wp-content/uploads/ULI-Documents/SFenergybenchmarkingreport.pdf 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 9 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

The Project will facilitate additional energy savings and greenhouse gas emissions reductions 
through coordinating and streamlining data sharing, stakeholder engagement and compliance 
mechanisms for local policies exceeding state requirements. Furthermore, through increased 
compliance rates and awareness of building energy consumption, additional savings and 
reductions could be realized through driving more building owners to pursuing energy efficiency  

d. Details activities which implement change and align with state mandates SB 350 and 

AB 802 

The following table details project activities and how they will implement change and/or align 
with state mandates SB 350 and AB 802. 

Task Description 
How it Implements Change and Aligns with State 

Mandates 

2 Benchmarking Leadership 
Consortium 

Activities under Task 2 create a Benchmarking Leadership 
Consortium, which will provide a unique forum for developing 
solutions to current and future challenges in implementing 
benchmarking policies, thus increasing local and statewide 
benchmarking program compliance among building owners. 

3.1 Develop BLC stakeholder 
engagement plan 

Task 3 activities will help establish strong methodologies for 
engagement of key stakeholders for both for local and 
statewide benchmarking programs. By identifying and creating 
city-specific outreach and engagement plans, the Project will 
effectively increase awareness of AB 802 requirements, as 
well as the benefits of benchmarking and energy efficiency, 
among local building owners. 

3.2 Implement stakeholder 
engagement plan 

4.1 Provide benchmarking 
implementation support 

Task 4 activities will leverage IMT’s expertise in benchmarking 

policy development and support in identifying top technical 
issues hindering compliance with local and statewide 
benchmarking mandates. By identifying roadblocks to 
compliance and implementing energy efficiency measures, 
Task 4 activities will facilitate increased compliance rates, as 
well as development of a more robust energy efficiency 
marketplace. 

4.2 Assist with alignment of 
data infrastructure 

4.3 Driving building decision 
makers to action 

5.1 
Develop resource 
dissemination plan 

Documenting project activities and disseminating resources to 
other jurisdictions will facilitate implementation of best 
practices for increasing compliance with both local and 
statewide benchmarking programs (AB 802). Through 
increased compliance, building owner awareness of individual 
building energy consumption and performance compared to 
other similar buildings will increase. This will aid in developing 
a robust marketplace for energy efficiency and related cost 
savings in commercial and multifamily buildings (SB 350). 

5.2 Document project activities 

5.3 Develop information portal 

5.4 Disseminate best practices 
per plan 

 
3. Technical Approach  

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 10 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

a. Project Narrative describes the technique, approach, and methods to be used in 

performing the work.  

In the following section, we describe the techniques, approaches and methods to be used in 
implementing the Energy Data Leadership Project. The project team recognizes that the 
participating cities are in different phases of implementing local benchmarking requirements, 
have differing aspirational goals, and have different levels of existing resources upon which to 
draw. Through the tasks described below, the Project will aim to deliver both targeted, 
individualized assistance to address the unique needs of each city, as well as support 
collaboration and sharing of best practices across the entire network of cities to address 
common challenges in an efficient and easily scalable manner.   

TASK 2: BENCHMARKING LEADERSHIP CONSORTIUM 
The foundational activity of the Energy Data Leadership Project is establishing the 
Benchmarking Leadership Consortium (BLC), a technical advisory committee comprised of the 
six partnering local governments (Berkeley, Los Angeles, Oakland, San Diego, San Francisco, 
and San Jose) and the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG). The members of the 
BLC will work collaboratively to advance state and local energy and water benchmarking and 
transparency policies and programs. The BLC will convene regularly, both in person and 
virtually, facilitated by the Center for Sustainable Energy (CSE), with regular participation by the 
Institute for Market Transformation (IMT), utilities serving the partner cities and, ideally, the 
Energy Commission.  

The BLC proposes to meet with Energy Commission staff quarterly, through years 2017-2019, 
to discuss progress, provide recommendations, and to relay initial reactions from compliant 
stakeholders. Project partners feel that this early and often information exchange will result in a 
timely feedback loop so that local government partners can fulfill their role in the successful 
implementation of the statewide program.  

In the early phase of the Project, the BLC will establish a work plan tailored to the compliance 
deadlines of the state and local benchmarking programs. The goal of the work plan will be 
alignment of local and state benchmarking policies and programming across of range of issues 
pertinent to successful implementation including, but not limited to:  

 data access, infrastructure and storage;  
 time of year of reporting;  
 building department roles and responsibilities (including energy code compliance 

enhancement opportunities); 
 commercial building community engagement;  
 multifamily building community engagement;  
 benchmarking help centers; and 
 violations and enforcement. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 11 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

The BLC will develop solutions to current and future challenges to implementing benchmarking 
policies and will enable a fast-tracked channel of communication directly to the Energy 
Commission with recommendations for the statewide benchmarking program. The BLC will 
identify key partner and stakeholder engagement strategies, and address high-priority needs to 
ensure building owners are prepared and ready to benchmark their buildings. 

TASK 3: STAKEHOLDER OUTREACH & ENGAGEMENT 
The Energy Data Leadership Project will develop outreach and education methods and 
materials to drive awareness of and compliance with the statewide and local benchmarking 
programs. Outreach and engagement methods will likely include regular webinars targeting key 
stakeholders as well as site visits and on-the-ground assistance for participating local 
governments and their covered building owners. Outreach and education materials will address 
compliance with benchmarking policies, as well as point audiences toward resources that will 
help them achieve energy savings in their buildings, from traditional utility incentives to 
information on strategic energy management and whole-building retrofits. Many effective 
education and outreach materials already exist, created by jurisdictions with benchmarking 
policies both in California and beyond. Rather than develop new materials, this Project will 
leverage existing resources, including those developed by the Pacific Coast Collaborative 
Mandatory Benchmarking & Disclosure project and the City Energy Project, and tailor them to 
address building owners and operators in the covered building sectors. 

The Energy Data Leadership Project will collaborate with national, statewide, and regional 
organizations as part of the group’s regular and ongoing stakeholder engagement. Clear 
communication regarding state and local benchmarking requirements must be shared with a 
wide variety of stakeholders to minimize market confusion and maximize energy savings. 
Stakeholders will likely include building owners, property managers, energy service providers, 
large triple-net lease tenants, and associations of these stakeholder groups. By funding local 
government partners through this Local Government Challenge, the Project aims to create 
“regional hubs” that will foster awareness, provide technical assistance, and ensure continuity 
and a strong foundation for the state benchmarking program, particularly through the early 
years.  

By working with the Institute for Market Transformation, a national leader in benchmarking best 
practices, the Project will benefit from their exposure to engagement strategies that drive 
building owners beyond benchmarking to pursing energy savings. For example, IMT has worked 
with New York City since the inception of their building performance policy and has intimate 
familiarity with their policy, which requires both benchmarking and audits. Building upon several 
years’ worth of data, the City launched the Retrofit Accelerator, which “offers free, personalized 

advisory services that streamline the process of making energy efficiency improvements to your 
building that will reduce operating costs, enhance tenant comfort, and improve our 
environment.” The Energy Data Leadership Project, while mainly focused on alignment and 
support of state and local policies, will also establish pathways among local government 
partners that allow building owners to move fluidly from benchmarking to energy saving actions. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative

https://retrofitaccelerator.cityofnewyork.us/


 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 12 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

TASK 4: TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE 
The Energy Data Leadership Project will develop technical resources for the Energy 
Commission and local governments working toward adoption of local benchmarking policies. 
Development of resources will be informed by both the state regulations and the experiences of 
the BLC members in pursuing, adopting and implementing local benchmarking policies and 
programs. This task involves the following three major areas of work: 

4.1 General Benchmarking Implementation Technical Assistance – IMT and the Project partners 
will address critical implementation issues which may include streamlined compliance guidance 
for building owners, benchmarking help center processes and protocols, and guidance for local 
jurisdictions as they seek to enforce compliance with local and state requirements.  

4.2. Data Infrastructure Alignment Technical Assistance – IMT will work closely with the 
participating local governments to map out data flows [utility  building owner  Portfolio 
Manager  jurisdiction  Energy Commission] to better understand how local policies will 
support the state program and ensure a comprehensive data set at the statewide level. IMT and 
the Project partners will also assess the potential use of the Standard Energy Efficiency Data 
(SEED) Platform, an open source platform developed by the DOE, and its ability to facilitate 
real-time exchange of data between multiple (i.e. local and state) datasets. 

4.3. Driving Building Decision Makers to Action – A critical component of this Project is 
increasing the uptake of energy efficiency improvements in buildings that comply with state and 
local benchmarking policies. IMT and CSE will work with the partnering jurisdictions in 
developing resources for covered building owners and operators that drive energy efficiency 
action. Technical assistance will focus on the full spectrum of benefits of taking action, and point 
audiences toward resources that help offset the cost of retrofits , like the BayREN’s successful 

multifamily program.   

Technical assistance will be provided in the form of onsite visits with local government partners 
and building owners, webinars, technical memos, and other delivery formats that best meet the 
needs of the target audiences. The partners propose that all technical resources will be placed 
in a central online repository hosted by either ABAG or the Energy Commission, or both. The 
size and geographic diversity of the partner jurisdictions will help ensure that tools and 
resources created as a part of the Energy Data Leadership Project will be flexible and tailorable 
to any sized jurisdiction. By working with a regional organization such as ABAG, the project and 
its lessons learned will find an institutional home base so that resources can be catalogued, 
modified, and continually shared in the coming years regardless of staff changes at the city 
level.  

TASK 5: PUBLIC OUTREACH / BROADCAST RESULTS  
Information dissemination is a particularly important component of the overall project. By 
working with six local governments in the early stages of the statewide benchmarking program, 
the project aims to fast-track the development of solutions for existing benchmarking barriers. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 13 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

After working together over the course of 2.5 years (mid-2017 through the end of 2019), the 
group will be have much to share with jurisdictions seeking to better understand the successful 
approaches to implementing benchmarking and disclosure policies. IMT and CSE will work 
closely with ABAG to develop an information dissemination plan over the course of the project. 
ABAG’s experience as a regional leader will help to inform the best channels of communication 

for sharing the Project outcomes. The Project partners intend to work closely with the Regional 
Energy Networks as well as the Local Government Sustainable Energy Coalition and Green 
Cities California to broadcast the Project results. The group also plans to submit conference 
abstracts and hopes to present at workshops and conferences in California and beyond. 

b. Project Narrative describes how tasks will be executed and coordinated with various 

participants and team members.  

ABAG has assembled and structured the project team to maximize efficiency and provide 
quality results. All subcontractors, including staff from CSE, IMT and the six participating 
jurisdictions, bring necessary technical expertise to the project and are comfortable with the 
team approach to executing this collaborative project. Individual qualifications are documented 
in Tab 5 (Project Team) of this proposal. The project partners have agreed upon the general 
responsibilities for each task as depicted below.  

Energy Data Leadership Project ABAG CSE IMT LGs CEC 

Task 1: Administration 
     

 
Administer Contract A R R R C 

Task 2: BLC 
     

 
Establish BLC, facilitate meetings, document key issues R A R R C 

Task 3: Stakeholder O&E 
     

 
Develop BLC stakeholder engagement plan C R A C I 

 
Implement stakeholder engagement plan C A C R I 

Task 4: Technical Assistance 
     

 
Provide benchmarking implementation support C R A C I 

 
Assist with alignment of data infrastructure C R A C I 

 
Drive building decision makers to action C R A C I 

Task 5: Public Outreach / Broadcast Results 
     

 
Develop and disseminate information C A R C I 

        
R Responsible - perform work to support task, report to A 

A Accountable - perform and/or delegate work, highest level of responsibility 

C Consulted - technical expert, need to know, two way communication with A/R 

I Informed - notified of milestones, one way communication typically with A 

 

c. Project Narrative identifies and discusses factors critical for success, in addition to 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 14 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

risks, barriers, and limitations, and provides a plan to address them.  

The following risk factors will require thoughtful planning and committed partnerships to 
mitigate. 

Category Risk Mitigation 

Operational 

IF: Geographically and organizationally 
disparate partners participating in this 
project are unable to work together 
efficiently 
THEN:  The project will be unable to fully 
achieve all desired outcomes. 

Develop Project Plan with clearly defined 
roles and responsibilities for each task and 
subtask to ensure that each partner is clear 
on respective responsibilities; hold regular 
check-ins and establish measurable 
milestones with responsibilities allocated to 
project partners as needed for accountability. 

Regulatory 

IF: Statewide utility compliance with AB 
802’s data access requirements does not 

occur per the mandated schedule 
THEN: Building owners, particularly in 
large multifamily properties, may be 
unable to benchmark their buildings. 

Maintain close relationship with utilities 
serving the partner cities to track progress 
and encourage timely deployment of 
solutions; leverage progress already made 
by the participating local jurisdictions, 
through work outside of this project. 

Operational 

IF: Utility data access processes prove 
to be overly complex and onerous 
THEN: Building owners will be frustrated 
with meeting requirements to benchmark 
their buildings, and compliance rates will 
be low. 

BLC will serve as primary point of contact to 
keep Energy Commission staff informed of 
the real-world experiences of building 
owners, and any need for improvements in 
data access provisions; project partners will 
maintain and strengthen existing 
relationships with local building owners, to 
ensure utilities hear directly from the real 
estate community that data access remains 
an urgent priority. 

Technical 

IF: Energy Commission is delayed in 
standing up state level benchmarking 
data collection infrastructure 
THEN: Local jurisdictions will be unable 
to complete development of solutions to 
transfer data to the State. 

Focus on developing high level agreement 
between the Energy Commission and local 
jurisdictions on data transfer and 
interoperability standards so that any local IT 
solutions are future ready. 

Technical 

IF: SEED does not prove to meet 
technical needs, or is not adopted by the 
Energy Commission and/or local 
jurisdictions 
THEN: Alternative IT solutions must be 
identified, funded, and developed. 

Leverage IMT's role as participant in the 
SEED Collaborative and as a contractor to 
DOE to coordinate closely with DOE’s SEED 

development team and with Energy 
Commission staff, and maximize likelihood 
that a SEED based platform can achieve all 
desired functional requirements; maintain an 
open mind to consider alternative IT 
solutions that could provide equal or better 
ability to meet needs of the Energy 
Commission and local jurisdictions. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 15 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

Operational 

IF: Staffing changes or a shift in priorities 
further reduces capacity that an 
individual city can dedicate to 
benchmarking and energy efficiency 
THEN: Despite resources of the BLC, 
that city may be unable to fully 
implement their local benchmarking 
program 

Sharing of best practices through the BLC, 
combined with access to experts and 
capacity provided by local partners will allow 
participating cities to “do more with less.” 

Political 

IF: Participating cities that do not yet 
have local policies are unable to enact 
them and begin implementation during 
the period of this project 
THEN: Those cities will not have any 
requirements that go beyond AB 802 
requirements.  

Focus on efforts to maximize local 
compliance with AB 802 in those cities 
without a local policy, and support activities 
such as robust challenge programs and 
targeted messaging that will leverage 
benchmarking results to drive action.  

 

4. Project Plan 

a. Applicant has a plan to broadcast and/or showcase the project results, when 

completed, to other local governments (EIC).  

The applicant will pursue the activities described in Task 5: Public Outreach / Broadcast Results 
to inform other local governments of the project results.  

b. Applicant has a plan to move forward with implementing projects identified through 

planning activities (SGLC). 

Not applicable 

c. Application includes a realistic schedule for completion of the project tasks during 

the contract period, as well as clearly described products for each task and an 

appropriate budget.  

The applicant team has developed a realistic schedule for completion of the project as depicted 
below. The applicant team has also developed clearly described products for each task and 
appropriate budgets to support those tasks. Products are clearly described in 4.d. below.  

 

 

  

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 16 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

Energy Data Leadership Project 
2017 2018 2019 

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Task 1: Administration                     

  Administer Contract                     

Task 2: BLC                     

  Establish BLC, facilitate meetings, document key issues                     

Task 3: Stakeholder O&E                     

  Develop BLC stakeholder engagement plan                     

  Implement stakeholder engagement plan                     

Task 4: Technical Assistance                     

  Provide benchmarking implementation support                     

  Assist with alignment of data infrastructure                     

  Drive building decision makers to action                     

Task 5: Public Outreach / Broadcast Results                     

  Develop and disseminate information                     

 

d. Project tasks are separate and distinct, clearly defined and logically presented, with 

appropriate goals, objectives and products. 

 The Project tasks, goals, objectives and products are described below. 

Technical 

Task 
Goals & Objectives Deliverables/Products 

2. 
Benchmarking 
Leadership 
Consortium 
(BLC) 

 Develop solutions to current and future 
challenges to implementing benchmarking 
policies.  

 Enable a fast-tracked channel of 
communication directly to the Energy 
Commission with recommendations for the 
statewide benchmarking program. 

 Align local and state benchmarking policies 
and programming across of range of issues 
pertinent to successful implementation. 

 Quarterly meetings of the 
Benchmarking Leadership 
Consortium; meeting notes 

 BLC Guiding Principles 
 BLC Work Plan 

3. Stakeholder 
Outreach and 
Engagement 

 Develop outreach and education methods 
and materials to drive awareness of and 
compliance with the statewide and local 
benchmarking programs among city staff and 
departments, as well as commercial and 
multifamily real estate communities in 
partnering cities. 

 Six city-specific stakeholder 
engagement plans 

 Outreach materials, including 
webinars, fliers, fact sheets, 
email blasts, web copy, etc. 

4. Technical 
Assistance 

 Develop technical resources that assist 
partnering local governments, the Energy 
Commission, and building owners and 

 Benchmarking implementation 
gap analysis 

 Data infrastructure gap 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 17 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

operators effectively implement and comply 
with benchmarking policies and programs.  

 Provide technical assistance to partnering 
local governments, the Energy Commission, 
and building owners and operators as they 
navigate the challenges of implementing and 
complying with local and statewide 
benchmarking policies and programs 
concurrently. 

analysis Benchmarking to 
action gap analysis 

 Technical resources, likely to 
include webinars, fact sheets, 
technical specifications, 
guidance documents, case 
studies, etc. 

 Technical assistance, likely to 
include webinars, virtual 
meetings, in-person meetings, 
etc. 

5. Public 
Outreach / 
Broadcast 
Results  

 Develop a plan for broadcasting/showcasing 
the project results and to make the knowledge 
gained, results and lessons learned from 
Agreement tasks available to other local 
governments. 

 Draft Public Outreach Plan 
 

 Final Public Outreach Plan 

 

e. Project Narrative describes quantifiable/measurable technical, administrative, and 

economic performance goals and objectives for the project, including what criteria 

and metrics will be used to determine project successes and failures. 

The project team proposes to continually measure success of the Energy Data Leadership 
Project as part of a comprehensive quality assurance and quality control (QC/QC) plan. Our 
success in achieving objectives will be measured using the following evaluation criteria and 
tactics. 

Performance Goal Measurable Objective Evaluation Methodology 

Establish the BLC to provide a 
single point of contact between 
the participating cities and the 
Energy Commission. 

Quarterly coordination meetings 
with project partners and Energy 
Commission staff are held 
consistently. 

Minutes of each meeting are 
distributed, with agendas 
available in advance of each 
meeting. 

Cities have achieved high levels 
of compliance for reporting of 
benchmarking results by building 
owners. 

Minimum 85% annual 
compliance rate is achieved for 
the buildings within each partner 
city, regardless of whether they 
have a local policy or are 
enforcing requirements of AB 
802. 

Measure number of buildings that 
have successfully submitted a 
benchmarking report for the June 
2019 reporting deadline as a 
percentage of those required to 
report. 

Benchmarking results for 
buildings subject to local polices 
are reported to the Energy 
Commission. 

Required data for buildings in 
cities whose programs have 
been approved by the Energy 
Commission is reported to the 
Commission. 

Measure number of buildings 
whose completed benchmarking 
reports have been received by 
the Energy Commission from 
partner cities by June 1, 2018, as 
a percentage of those required to 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 18 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

report. 

Building owners are motivated to 
act upon the knowledge gained 
through benchmarking and invest 
in energy efficiency 
improvements. 

Develop strategies to drive 
action.  

Each city has developed a plan 
to target poor performing 
buildings, and has identified 
resources that will be shared with 
those owners to encourage them 
to take action. 

Lessons learned and best 
practices are made widely 
available. 

Resources are disseminated to 
parties outside of the project 
participants. 

Minimum of three case studies 
are produced, and shared with 
Energy Commission and other 
cities through at least four 
webinars. 

 

5. Team Qualifications 

a. Describes the organizational structure of the applicant and the project team.  

Prime Organization Structure: ABAG will be the project lead and responsible for all 
deliverables and project outcomes, budgeting and reporting to the Energy Commission. ABAG 
will implement subcontractor agreements with our proposal partners, CSE, IMT, Berkeley, Los 
Angeles, San Diego, San Francisco, San Jose and Oakland for their portions of the overall 
scope of work. The proposed organizational structure supports ABAG’s project management 
best practices allowing for clear and streamlined client communications as well as delineation of 
project responsibilities by support staff and subcontracting partners. 

Team Organization Structure: The team proposed herein is composed of five contractors, 
including the Prime consultant. All firms and contractors (depicted in Figure 1) have been 
carefully selected to provide the breadth of expertise required to meet the work requirements 
under this GFO.  

Figure 1: Project Team Organization Chart 

 

b. Identifies key team members, including the project manager and principal 

investigator.  

Jennifer Berg, Project Principal, ABAG 

CSE 
Local Governments 

IMT 

City of  
Los Angeles 

City of  
San Diego 

City of  
San Francisco 

City of  
San Jose 

City of 
Oakland 

City of 
Berkeley 

Gerald Lahr, Project Manager, ABAG 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 19 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

Key team members, including the project manager and principal investigator are identified in 
Attachment D. Project Team. Qualifications, experience, capabilities and credentials for each of 
the key team members above provided in Attachment 5. Organizational qualifications are 
provided below. 

Project Manager’s Technical Expertise: Jerry Lahr is the Energy Programs Manager at ABAG 
and has management oversight over all energy programs. Since 2000, he has served as the 
manager of the ABAG POWER Joint Powers Agency, the principle goal of which is to conduct 
pooled purchasing of electricity and natural gas on behalf of local governments and special 
districts.  As the Department Manager, Mr. Lahr will have oversight over this program team. 

Project Principal’s Technical Expertise: Jennifer Berg has been the Program Administrator of 
BayREN since it was approved to launch in January 2013. Ms. Berg oversaw all aspects of the 
launch of BayREN from contracts, decision-making structures, responding to and helping to 
develop CPUC reports, stakeholder engagement, and other elements of overall program 
management. Ms. Berg manages all consultants and BayREN members (county agencies) and 
has developed effective systems for gathering data from multiple contractors for inclusion in 
regulatory reporting. She has effectively developed and implemented an organizational structure 
of regular meetings, invoicing and reporting schedules, and clear assignment of responsibilities 
among the large team to allow for the smooth BayREN operations. Ms. Berg is the Co-Chair of 
the statewide Energy Upgrade California™, Home Upgrade Working Group, is a member of the 
California Energy Efficiency Coordinating Committee (CAEECC) and serves as co-chair of the 
CAEECC Residential Subcommittee.  

c. Includes resumes for key team members.  

Resumes for all key team members are provide in Attachment D. Project Team.  

d. Explains how the various tasks will be managed and coordinated, and how the project 

manager’s technical expertise will support the effective management and 

coordination of all projects in the application.  

Our project management teams follow established professional project management principles, 
including dedicated and accountable staff, tracking of goals and metrics, strict budget control 
and ongoing client reporting. Each project is assigned a dedicated project manager and at least 
one dedicated project associate. Project teams meet weekly to measure progress on contract 
deliverables and engage funding sources, partners and other stakeholders to ensure work 
products and deliverables are high quality and on time. Issues and concerns are flagged for 
immediate resolution and/or escalation as needed. Monthly project status reports are distributed 
by ABAG’s finance department to assist project managers with budget tracking. 

e. Describes the team’s history of successfully completing projects and deploying 

results.  

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 
 

ATTACHMENT 7 
Project Narrative Form 

 
 

March 2017 Page 20 of 20 GFO-16-404 
Attachment 7  Local Government Challenge 
 

 

ABAG has both the experience and capacity to serve in this role. ABAG administers many 
programs with multiple partners, including the BayREN, and has the experience and staff to 
ensure that program goals are met, reporting is done accurately, and that the program is 
administered efficiently and effectively.  

6. Budget and Cost Effectiveness  

a. Overall project cost is consistent with the proposed work and products to be 

provided. 

ABAG has deep experience in the administrative requirements for successful project 
management and execution. The total project costs associated with the proposed scope of work 
include project administration, creation of the Benchmarking Leadership Consortium, 
stakeholder outreach and engagement, technical assistance and public outreach. A project of 
the magnitude and complexity of the proposed project requires dedicated project management 
staff as well as full support from technical and administrative personnel. ABAG has the 
necessary personnel and structure in place. 

b. Personnel rates/costs, operating expenses, and overhead rates/costs are reasonable 

for the proposed work and consistent with the experience of the project team. 

ABAG’s subcontractors are similarly utilizing vetted indirect rates for project labor costs. 

Furthermore, ABAG has worked diligently throughout the proposal development and preparation 
period in order to ensure that the hours and costs for services in support of the project goals 
provided by subcontractors are reasonable and justifiable. 

7. Disadvantaged Communities 

a. Projects will receive additional points if part or all of the project benefits 

disadvantaged communities (disadvantaged communities as defined by 

CalEnviroScreen).  

The Project will benefit disadvantaged communities. Each partnering city has commercial 
and multifamily buildings located in disadvantaged communities of 71 percent or higher as 
defined by CalEnviroScreen. Working with partners and with the Energy Commission to 
develop straightforward reporting requirements for both the statewide and local 
benchmarking programs will place less burden on building owners and operators in 
disadvantage communities to comply with new requirements. Helping these building owners 
and operators move from benchmarking to energy efficiency improvements will increase 
community resiliency against energy price spikes and heat-related disasters. 

Item 6.C., Project Narrative



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: March 2, 2017 
 
To: ABAG Executive Board 
 
From: Darcie Luce 

Environmental Planner, San Francisco Estuary Partnership 
 
Subject: Authorization to Enter into New Contract with Canopy for the Healthy 

Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
In September 2016 SFEP/ABAG was awarded a grant from U.S. EPA for the Healthy 
Watersheds, Resilient Baylands project in the amount of $1,667,683. This grant application was 
completed in close partnership with SFEI, which will be leading multiple components of the 
project.  
 
Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands: Multi-Benefit Urban Greening and Tidal Wetlands 
Restoration in Silicon Valley is an effort to catalyze and demonstrate how resilience to climate 
change can be enhanced through implementation of multi-benefit projects. Outcomes will 
include 10 multi-benefit urban greening projects in Sunnyvale, Mountain View, and East Palo 
Alto, reducing stormwater runoff and creating 13 acres of wetland, riparian, and native plant 
habitat; two creeks realigned to deliver sediment to a restored tidal marsh; 10 acres of tidal 
transition zone and seasonal wetlands; reduced risk of flooding and associated contamination to 
the community of Alviso; reduced PCB and mercury delivery to the Bay; reduced methylmercury 
production in the baylands; and reduced risk of landfill contamination to the Bay.  
 
Through this grant, Canopy, a nonprofit organization, will work with San Francisco Estuary 
Partnership (SFEP), San Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI), Grassroots Ecology, Peninsula 
Open Space Trust (POST), and other partners to plan and install urban greening projects in 
East Palo Alto schools, parks, and neighborhoods. These activities will be informed by the 
development of the Multi-Benefit Urban Greening Strategy and are intended to produce three 
acres of native riparian trees (live oak, valley oak, sycamore, willow, or other similar native 
trees) in urban greening projects;  riparian functions and habitat connectivity over three acres 
provided for native birds, bats, and insects; reduced runoff by over 400,000 gallons per year 
from increased tree canopy; and decreased stormwater runoff to the Bay through canopy 
interception. 
 
  

Item 6.D.



Authorization to Enter into New Contract with Canopy for the Healthy Watersheds, 
Resilient Baylands Project 
March 2, 2017 
Page 2 
 
The total project cost is $3,335,366. The total amount of federal funding expected under this 
grant is $1,667,683. Match funds of approximately 50% of the project total will be provided by 
project partners. ABAG and SFEP are not contributing match to this project. When executed, 
the contract term will be 1/1/17-7/31/20.  
  
Recommended Action 
 
The Executive Board is requested to authorize the Acting Executive Director or designee to 
enter into a new Subrecipient Agreement with Canopy for the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient 
Baylands Project in the amount not to exceed $38,000. 
 
Attachment 
 
Canopy Draft Subrecipient Agreement 
 

Item 6.D.



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands–Base Document–Canopy–102304      

1 of 30 

SF Bay Area Water Quality Improvement Fund - Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands 

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 [CFDA # 66.126] 

Subrecipient Agreement 

- Base Document - 

 

 

This Subrecipient Agreement is made and entered into as of the Effective Date by and 

between the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), a joint powers agency acting on 

behalf of the San Francisco Estuary Partnership, a program of ABAG and Canopy, a 

nonprofit corporation. 

 

Recitals 

 

A. Whereas, the U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and ABAG entered into 

Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 (Grant Agreement) for One Million, Six Hundred Sixty-

Seven Thousand, Six Hundred Eighty-Three Dollars ($1,667,683) of federal funding for the 

implementation of the Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands project for multi-benefit 

urban greening and tidal wetlands restoration in Silicon Valley, including completing the 

Methane Monitoring for Blue Carbon Project (Grant Project). 

 

B. ABAG and SFEP and Canopy desire to establish and/or acknowledge the governing 

rules, regulations, terms and conditions for Canopy’s participation in the Grant Project. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, based upon the foregoing recitals, ABAG and Canopy further agree as 

follows: 

 

1.0 Applicable Documents 

The following are attached and incorporated by this reference:  

 

1.1.1 Exhibit 1 Canopy Scope of Work 

 

1.1.2 Exhibit 2 Invoicing Procedure 

Exhibit 2a Insurance Requirements 

 

1.1.3 Exhibit 3 Grant Agreement   

 

1.1.4 Exhibit 4 Special Conditions to Grant Agreement 

 

1.1.5 Exhibit 5 Standard Form LLL - Disclosure of Lobbying Activities 

 

1.2  The Subrecipient Agreement is comprised of this Base Document and Exhibits 1 

through 5, inclusive, and is the complete and exclusive statement of understanding between 

ABAG and Canopy, and supersedes any and all previous understandings or agreements, 

whether written or oral, and all communications between the parties relating to the subject 

matter of this Subrecipient Agreement.   

 

2.0 Term of Agreement 

The Subrecipient Agreement shall commence as of January 1, 2017 (Effective 

Date) and continue until July 31, 2020, or until terminated by the EPA pursuant to the 

terms of the Grant Agreement or by ABAG pursuant to the terms of this Subrecipient 

Agreement.  

 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands–Base Document–Canopy–102304      

2 of 30 

3.0 Subaward Amount 

ABAG will disburse a portion of the Grant to Canopy for carrying its responsibilities as part 

of the Grant Project as described in Exhibit 1. The maximum amount to be funded by 

the EPA and disbursed through ABAG to Canopy shall be Thirty-eight Thousand 

Dollars and Zero Cents ($38,000.00) (Subaward Amount).  

 

4.0 ABAG Obligations 

4.1 ABAG shall be the program lead and fiscal agent for the Grant Project. ABAG shall 

disburse Grant funds as required or permitted by the Grant Agreement. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, ABAG is not obligated to disburse any funds to Canopy unless and until such are 

authorized and disbursed from EPA to ABAG. 

 

4.2 ABAG shall coordinate the activities of all subrecipients, including Canopy, so as to 

implement the Grant Project in accordance with the terms of the Grant Agreement.  

 

4.2.1 ABAG shall promptly notify Canopy of any notices given or actions taken by the EPA 

if such notices or actions are likely to affect Canopy’s performance, duties, obligations or 

funding under this Subrecipient Agreement. To the extent practicable, ABAG shall consult 

with Canopy in carrying out ABAG’s responsibilities. 

 

5.0 Canopy Obligations 

5.1 Canopy is, and at all times will continue to be, in full compliance with the terms and 

conditions of the Grant Agreement that are applicable to it.  Canopy understands and 

agrees that for purposes of the foregoing, any requirements imposed upon ABAG as 

Recipient in the Grant Agreement are hereby passed-through and adopted by Canopy as 

obligations of Canopy, excepting only ABAG’s obligations as described in section 4. 

 

5.1.1  Without limiting subsection 5.1, Canopy shall comply with the scope of any and all 

authorizations, limitations, exclusions, and/or exceptions for use of the Subaward Amount, 

including without limitation, the Grant Agreement, the Administrative Conditions and 

Programmatic Conditions of the Grant Agreement, the General Conditions of the Grant 

Agreement and all applicable statutes, regulations and regulatory guidance referenced in 

any of the foregoing.   

 

5.2 Canopy shall carry out all the tasks set forth in Exhibit 1 as it may be amended or 

modified. Canopy shall carry out all tasks in accordance with the Grant Agreement, the 

Administrative Conditions and Programmatic Conditions of the Grant Agreement, the 

General Conditions of the Grant Agreement, and the Special Conditions in Exhibit 4.  

 

5.3 Canopy shall not cause ABAG to be in violation of the Grant Agreement or any of its 

requirements whether by act or omission.    

 

5.4 Canopy shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws, rules, 

regulations, ordinances, and directives, now existing and as such may change from time-to-

time. 

   

6.0  Indemnification and Ineligible Claims 

6.1 To the fullest extent allowed by law, Canopy shall defend, indemnify, save harmless 

and waive subrogation against ABAG and its members, officers, employees, and agents 

(excluding agents who are design professionals), if any, (collectively, Indemnitees), from 

any and all claims, demands, causes of action, damages, costs, expenses, actual attorneys' 

fees, losses or liabilities, in law or in equity arising out of or in connection with its 

performance of this Contract (collectively, Claims) for bodily injury, personal injury, 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands–Base Document–Canopy–102304      

3 of 30 

property damage or any violation of Federal, State or local laws, with the exception that this 

section shall in no event be construed to require indemnification by Canopy to a greater 

extent than permitted under the public policy or laws of the State of California.  

 

6.2 These defense and indemnification obligations are undertaken in addition to, and 

shall not in any way be limited by, the insurance obligations set forth in Exhibit 2. Any 

inspection of the work by an Indemnitee is not a waiver of full compliance with these 

obligations. These defense and indemnification obligations shall survive the termination or 

expiration of the Contract for the full period of time permitted by law.    

 

7.0 Insurance 

7.1 Canopy shall comply with the Insurance Requirements set forth in Exhibit 2. 

 

8.0 Termination  

8.1 Upon termination of the Grant Agreement, this Subrecipient Agreement shall 

terminate effective the same date as the Grant Agreement and in accordance with the terms 

and conditions for the termination of the Grant Agreement, unless this Subrecipient 

Agreement is terminated sooner in accordance with its terms.   

 

8.2 ABAG may terminate this Subrecipient Agreement upon written approval for same 

from EPA in accordance with the terms and conditions of such approval. 

 

8.3  If, through any cause, Canopy fails to fulfill in timely and proper manner its 

obligations under the Agreement, or if Canopy shall violate any covenants, conditions, or 

stipulations of the Agreement, and should such failure or violation continue unremedied for 

a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of ABAG’s written notice to Canopy specifying the 

details of such failure or violation, then ABAG may terminate the Agreement by giving not 

less than five (5) days prior written notice of such termination which specifies the effective 

date thereof.  Upon termination under this paragraph, all unfinished or finished documents, 

data, studies, surveys, drawings, models, photographs, reports, and other materials 

prepared by Canopy under the Agreement, shall, at the option of ABAG, become ABAG’s 

property and Canopy shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for 

satisfactory work completed to the date of termination.  Notwithstanding the above, Canopy 

shall not be relieved of liability to ABAG for damages sustained by ABAG by virtue of any 

breach of the agreement by Canopy, and ABAG may withhold any payment to Canopy for 

the purpose of set-off until such time as the exact amount of damage due ABAG from 

Canopy is determined. 

 

8.4 ABAG may terminate the Agreement at any time by giving not less than thirty (30) 

days prior written notice of termination to Canopy which shall specify the effective date 

thereof.  Upon termination under this paragraph, all finished or unfinished documents and 

other materials described in paragraph 8.3 shall at the option of ABAG become its property.  

If the contract is terminated by ABAG as provided in this paragraph, Canopy shall be paid 

for services actually performed at the rate set forth in Exhibit A; provided that, if the 

Agreement is terminated due to the fault of Canopy, only the paragraph relative to 

termination for cause shall apply. 

 

9.0 Notices and Administrative Contacts  

9.1 All notices or notifications under this Subrecipient Agreement shall be in writing 

addressed to the persons set forth in this section. 

 

 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands–Base Document–Canopy–102304      

4 of 30 

9.2 All notices or notifications to ABAG shall be sent to: 

 

 Darcie Luce 

 San Francisco Estuary Partnership 

 1515 Clay Street, Suite 1400 

 Oakland, California 94612 

 510-622-2448 

 darcie.luce@sfestuary.org 

 

9.3 All notices or notifications to Canopy shall be sent to: 

 

Catherine Martineau 

 Canopy 

3921 East Bayshore Road 

Palo Alto, CA 94303 

650-964-6110 

catherine@canopy.org 

 

10.0 Amendments and Changes 

This Subrecipient Agreement may be changed only by a written amendment duly signed by 

ABAG and Canopy.     

 

11.0 Assignment and Delegation  

Canopy shall not assign its rights or delegate its duties under this Subrecipient Agreement.  

Any attempted assignment or delegation shall be null and void, and constitute a material 

breach of this Subrecipient Agreement.   

 

12.0 Governing Law and Venue 

This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the substantive 

and procedural laws of the State of California.  Canopy further agrees and consents that the 

venue of any action brought between Canopy and ABAG shall be exclusively in the County 

of Alameda. 

 

13.0 Validity and Severability 

If any provision of this Subrecipient Agreement or the application thereof to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this Subrecipient Agreement and the 

application of such provision to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected 

thereby. 

 

14.0 No Waiver 

No waiver by either party of any event of breach and/or breach of any provision of this 

Subrecipient Agreement shall constitute a waiver of any other event of breach and/or 

breach.  Either party’s non-enforcement at any time, or from time to time, of any provision 

of this Subrecipient Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver thereof.   

 

15.0 Record Retention and Inspection/Audit Settlement 

15.1 Canopy shall maintain accurate and complete financial records of its activities and 

operations relating to this Subrecipient Agreement in accordance with the RFIP and Grant 

Agreement and generally accepted accounting principles.   

 

15.2 Canopy agrees that ABAG, or its authorized representatives, shall have access to and 

the right to examine, audit, excerpt, copy, or transcribe any pertinent transaction, activity, 

or record relating to this Subrecipient Agreement.  All such material, including, but not 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands–Base Document–Canopy–102304      

5 of 30 

limited to, all financial records, bank statements, cancelled checks or other proof of 

payment, timecards, sign-in/sign-out sheets and other time and employment records, and 

proprietary data and information, shall be kept and maintained by Canopy and shall be 

made available to ABAG during the term of this Subrecipient Agreement and for a period of 

five (5) years thereafter unless ABAG’s written permission is given to dispose of any such 

material prior to such time.   

 

15.3 Canopy shall deliver all materials described in subsection 15.2 and specified by ABAG 

to a location to be determined by ABAG. Canopy shall bear its own costs and expenses in 

this regard. However, Canopy shall not be responsible for the costs or expenses incurred by 

ABAG to examine, audit, excerpt, copy, or transcribe any pertinent transaction, activity, or 

record relating to this Subrecipient Agreement. 

 

15.4 If an audit of Canopy is conducted specifically regarding this Subrecipient Agreement 

by any Federal auditor, or by any auditor or accountant employed by Canopy or otherwise, 

then Canopy shall file a copy of such audit report with ABAG within thirty (30) days, unless 

otherwise provided by applicable Federal or State law or under this Subrecipient Agreement.   

 

16.0 Lobbying and Litigation Prohibition 

16.1 Canopy shall ensure that no grant funds awarded under this assistance agreement 

are used to engage in lobbying of the Federal Government or in litigation against the United 

States unless authorized under existing law. Canopy shall abide by 2 CFR 225 (OMB Circular 

A-87), which prohibits the use of federal grant funds for litigation against the United States 

or for lobbying or other political activities. 

 

16.2 Canopy agrees to comply with Title 40 CFR Part 34, New Restrictions on Lobbying. 

Canopy shall include the language of this provision in award documents for all subawards 

exceeding $100,000, and require that sub-subrecipients submit certification and disclosure 

forms accordingly. In accordance with the Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, any subrecipient 

who makes a prohibited expenditure under Title 40 CFR Part 34 or fails to file the required 

certification or lobbying forms shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 

and not more than $100,000 for each such expenditure.  

 

16.3 If applicable, Canopy shall complete and submit Exhibit 5, Standard Form LLL - 

Disclosure of Lobbying Activities. 

 

17.0 Authorization Warranty 

Canopy represents and warrants that the person executing this Subrecipient Agreement on 

its behalf is an authorized agent who has actual authority to bind Canopy to each and every 

term, condition, and obligation herein.  

 

END OF BASE DOCUMENT 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands–Base Document–Canopy–102304      

6 of 30 

National Estuary Program-San Francisco Estuary Program  

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 [CFDA # 66.126] 

Subrecipient Agreement 

- Base Document - 

 

* * * * * 

Authorized Signatures 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Canopy has duly executed this Agreement, or caused it to be duly 

executed, and ABAG has duly executed this Agreement, or caused it to be duly executed. 

 

DUNS No.  961376738  Canopy 

 

       

 

      _______________________________________ 

      Catherine Martineau, Executive Director 

         

 

 

 

      Association of Bay Area Governments 

 

 

 

      _______________________________________      

      Brad Paul, Acting Executive Director 

       

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

 

____________________________ 

Kenneth K. Moy, Legal Counsel 

      

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 1 – Canopy–102304     7 of 30 

Exhibit 1 

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 

Canopy 

Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands Project for Multi-Benefit Urban Greening and Tidal 

Wetlands Restoration in Silicon Valley 

Scope of Work 

 

 

Canopy will work with San Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI), San Francisco Estuary 

Partnership (SFEP), Grassroots Ecology, Peninsula Open Space Trust (POST), and other 

partners to plan and install urban greening projects in East Palo Alto schools, parks, and 

neighborhoods. These activities will be informed by the development of the Multi-Benefit 

Urban Greening Strategy and are intended to cumulatively produce approximately three 

acres of native riparian trees (live oak, valley oak, sycamore, willow, or other similar native 

trees) in urban greening projects;  riparian functions and habitat connectivity over 

approximately three acres provided for native birds, bats, and insects; reduced runoff by 

over 400,000 gallons per year from increased tree canopy; and decreased stormwater 

runoff to the Bay through canopy interception. 

 

Task 1: Urban Greening Implementation – East Palo Alto 

 

Task 1.1: Working with the City of East Palo Alto, San Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI), 

and Grassroots Ecology, Canopy will assist with planning and installation of urban greening 

projects in East Palo Alto schools, parks, and neighborhoods. Site and species selection will 

be planned to achieve, to the extent possible given local constraints, three types of 

wetland/riparian habitat and water quality benefits: (1) using native riparian trees to 

expand functional riparian habitat in neighborhoods along San Francisquito Creek; (2) 

creating willow groves, which provide high habitat value for wetland and riparian species; 

and (3) emphasizing trees and understory with maximum hydrological benefits. As part of 

these installations, soil conditions and understory habitat will be improved to maximize 

water retention, pollution capture, rainfall infiltration, and ecological value of the existing 

streetscape and parkways. These projects will be designed to achieve ecological and water 

quality objectives as guided by the Urban Greening Strategy, input from SFEI, and expertise 

from the Design Advisory Team members.  

 

As part of the Urban Greening Implementation, Canopy staff will meet with SFEI staff a 

minimum of two times to review projects and development of the Urban Greening Strategy 

as part of the iterative process of informing both scientific/technical research and project 

implementation. These meetings will identify opportunities for achieving multi-benefit 

ecological objectives in the projects and will inform the Urban Greening Strategy. Canopy 

staff will participate in one or more meetings of the Design Advisory Team, or a subset of 

the Team, to take advantage of Design Advisory Team expertise in improving project 

outcomes of the project. Canopy staff will also provide review comments on the draft Urban 

Greening Strategy.  

 

Deliverables: 

1.1a: Summary of urban greening scientific/design guidance meetings  July 31, 2018 

1.1b: Summary of review comments for Urban Greening Strategy    July 31, 2018 

1.1c: Final designs for 2-3 projects (adding up to a total of five, when combined with 

similar implementation projects carried out in collaboration with Grassroots Ecology) 

June 30, 2018 

1.1d: 5 East Palo Alto tree planting/tree care volunteer workdays    July 31, 2020  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 1 – Canopy–102304     8 of 30 

1.1e: Before-and-after photo documentation of 2-3 constructed projects (adding up to a 

total of 5 when combined with implementation projects carried out in collaboration with 

Grassroots Ecology)          July 31, 2020 

 

Task 1.2: Canopy staff will attend at least one meeting each year of project partners and 

grant sub-recipients during the grant period. 

 

Task 1.3: Canopy will also assist San Francisco Estuary Institute with completion of a 

Quality Assurance Plan or Sampling and Analysis Plan (QAPP), by providing documentation 

on monitoring and other information required to complete the QAPP.  

 

Task 1.4: Canopy staff will provide general project administration including project 

workflow, contract management, invoicing, and project coordination. Canopy will submit 

progress reports to the SFEP Project Manager as described in Exhibit 2.  

 

Canopy staff will also produce a brief summary report, documenting the incorporation of 

ecological and water quality benefits into the implementation of the project, as described in 

the Urban Greening Strategy or with guidance from SFEI. The report will also include 

expected achievement of short-term outcomes, and any expected long-term multi-benefit 

outcomes.  

 

Deliverables:  
1.4a: Invoices and Progress Reports      10

th
 of month following end of month or quarter 

1.4b: Final report          July 31, 2020 

 

 

Budget: $38,000 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 1 – Canopy–102304     9 of 30 

Subaward Deliverables Table 

 

Task # Sub-Task # Deliverable # Deliverable Deadline 

Task 1 

1.1  

1.1a Summary of urban greening scientific/design guidance meetings 7/31/2018 

1.1b Summary of review comments for Urban Greening Strategy 7/31/2018 

1.1c Final designs for 2-3 projects 6/30/2018 

1.1d 5 East Palo Alto tree planting/tree care volunteer workdays 7/31/2020 

1.1e Before-and-after photo documentation of 2-3 constructed projects 7/31/2020 

1.2 N/A N/A N/A 

1.3 N/A N/A N/A 

1.4 
1.4a Invoices and progress reports,  submitted monthly or quarterly 

10th of month 
following end of 

month or quarter 
1.4b Final Report 7/31/2020 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 2 – Canopy – 102304    10 of 30 

Subaward Budget Table 

 

Canopy 

Task Description Grant Amount Match Total 

1   Urban Greening Implementation – East Palo Alto $38,000.00 $0.00 $38,000.00 
 TOTAL  $38,000.00 $0.00 $38,000.00 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 2 – Canopy – 102304    11 of 30 

EXHIBIT 2 

Invoicing Procedure 

 

A. Subrecipient Responsibilities: 

 

1. Subrecipient will prepare and submit to ABAG/SFEP an invoice for approval, no more 

frequently than one per month, to cover the services provided during the prior service 

period.  Invoice must include a brief progress report, providing a detailed summary of work 

performed under the tasks described in the Scope of Work that are being invoiced for that 

period. Progress reports should include a discussion of the activities conducted during the 

service period and progress towards milestones, problems encountered and their resolution, 

and activities planned for the next service period. In addition, progress reports should 

provide a financial accounting of costs incurred during the service period and cumulative 

project costs by subtask. 

 

2.  Direct labor: Invoice must itemize names of staff, number of hours worked, and hourly 

billing rates for each task showing individual calculations and total for each task. 

 

3. Subrecipient can only bill for actual expenses incurred at the subrecipient’s actual direct 

labor rates, fringe benefit rates, and indirect cost rates, not to exceed the task budgets 

specified in the budget included in Exhibit 1. 

 

3. Consultant or Vendor costs: Invoice must include consultant or vendor labor costs, fringe 

benefit cost, and indirect costs described for the monthly service period in the same manner 

as the subrecipient costs described above. The actual consultant or vendor invoice must be 

submitted to document the charges included on the subrecipient invoice. 

 

4. Other Direct Costs (direct project expenses) are to be invoiced at cost with supporting 

documentation. Backup documentation must include copies of all receipts necessary to 

document the charges.  No costs should exceed the budgeted limits delineated in the task 

budget without a contract amendment.   No ineligible costs (such as entertainment, etc.) 

are allowed. Mileage will be paid at the current federal reimbursement rate (for example, 

the 2017 rate is 53.5 cents/mile).  

 

5. Subrecipient invoices must summarize total contract budget, amount expended in the 

invoice period, and contract balance. 

 

6. Management fees or similar charges (mark-ups) in excess of the direct costs and 

approved indirect rates are not allowable. This refers to any mark-up added to any direct 

project costs including consultant or vendor costs or other direct costs. 

 

7. Match Costs:  Subrecipient is responsible for the match share cost identified in budget 

included in Exhibit 1.  Match funds should be reported in the monthly invoices in the same 

manner as the direct project costs described above including backup documentation 

detailing the source of the match (actual cash and/or in-kind services). Subrecipient 

invoices should detail match budget, match expended in the invoice period and amount 

remaining.  

 

8. Electronic copies of complete invoices signed by the subrecipient contract manager 

including all backup documentation may be submitted in lieu of hard copy to Darcie Luce, 

Project Manager at darcie.luce@sfestuary.org. 

 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 2 – Canopy – 102304    12 of 30 

ABAG/SFEP Responsibilities: 

 

1. The ABAG/SFEP Project Manager or designee will review the submitted invoice for 

completeness, verify math figures, ensure the task budget is not exceeded and prepare a  

check requisition for approval by the SFEP Executive Director for submittal to ABAG 

accounts receivable. 

 

2.  ABAG accounts receivable will enter the invoice into the ABAG financial accounting 

system and bill the funding agency U.S. EPA monthly following completion of the prior 

month financial statements. 

 

3.  ABAG will pay invoices within 14 days of receipt of funds from the U.S. EPA. 

 

4.  Budget Reallocations 

 

a. All task budget reallocations and/or increases must be approved in advance by the SFEP 

Project Manager, ABAG and the U.S. EPA Program Manager. 

 

b. The budget reallocation, if any, cannot substantially change the scope of work without 

approval from the SFEP Project Manager, ABAG and the U.S. EPA Program Manager. 

 

c. A budget reallocation, if any, may only involve moving funds between tasks, line items, 

or categories not to exceed the total contract amount.  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 2 – Canopy – 102304    13 of 30 

Exhibit 2a 

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 

Subrecipient Agreement 

  

Insurance Requirements 

  

Canopy shall maintain insurance as required by this contract to the fullest amount allowed 

by law and shall maintain insurance for a period of 5 years following the completion of this 

project. In the event Canopy fails to obtain or maintain completed operations coverage as 

required by this agreement, ABAG, at its sole discretion, may purchase the coverage 

required and the cost will be paid by Canopy. The limits of Insurance required in hereunder 

may be satisfied by a combination of primary and umbrella or excess insurance. Any 

umbrella or excess insurance shall contain or be endorsed to contain a provision that such 

coverage shall also apply on a primary and non-contributory basis for the benefit of the 

Indemnitees (if agreed to in a written contract or agreement) before the any Indemnitee’s 

own Insurance or self-insurance shall be called upon to protect it as a named insured. 

  

(a) Minimum Scope of Insurance. Coverage shall be at least as broad as:  

  

Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability coverage (occurrence Form CG 

0001). 

  

Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering Automobile Liability, Code 1 (any 

auto). 

  

Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California and Employer’s 

Liability Insurance. 

  

Errors and Omissions Liability insurance appropriate to Canopy’s profession.  Architects’ and 

engineers’ coverage is to be endorsed to include contractual liability. 

  

(b) Minimum Limits of Insurance.  Canopy shall maintain limits no less than: 

  

General Liability:   $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property 

damage.  If Commercial General Liability Insurance or other form with a general aggregate 

limit is used, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location 

or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit. 

  

Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. 

  

Employer’s Liability:  $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease. 

  

Errors and Omissions Liability:  $1,000,000 per claim/aggregate. 

  

(c) Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured retentions 

must be declared to and approved by ABAG. The insurer shall reduce or eliminate such 

deductibles or self-insured retentions as respects ABAG, its members, officers or employees 

(Indemnitees); or Canopy shall satisfy any such deductibles or self-insured retentions. In 

addition, policies containing any self-insured retention (SIR) provision shall provide or be 

endorsed to provide that the SIR may be satisfied by either the named Insured or any of 

the Indemnitees. 

  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 2 – Canopy – 102304    14 of 30 

(d) Other Insurance Provisions.  The commercial general liability and automobile liability 

policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

  

(i) The Indemnitees are to be covered as additional insureds as respects:  liability arising 

out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of Canopy; completed operations; or 

automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by Canopy. 

(ii) For any claims related to this project, Canopy’s insurance coverage shall be primary 

insurance as respects the Indemnitees.     

(iii) Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the Indemnitees shall be excess of 

Canopy’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

(iv) Except for General Liability and Automobile Liability, each insurance policy required by 

this clause shall be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be canceled by either party, 

except after thirty(30) days’ prior written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, 

has been given to ABAG. For General Liability and Automobile Liability, Canopy shall provide 

ABAG with thirty (30) day’s prior notice of cancellation by either the insurer or Canopy. 

(v) Coverage shall not extend to any defense or indemnity coverage for the active 

negligence of the Indemnitees in any case where an agreement to defend and indemnify the 

Indemnitees would be invalid under Subdivision (b) of Section 2782 of the Civil Code. 

  

(e)  Other Insurance Provisions – Workers Compensation.  The Workers Compensation 

insurance shall be endorsed to waive subrogation against the Indemnitees. 

  

(f) Acceptability of Insurers.  Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. 

Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to ABAG. 

  

(g) Verification of Coverage.  Canopy shall furnish the ABAG with original certificates and 

amendatory endorsements effecting coverage required by this clause. All certificates and 

endorsements are to be received and approved by ABAG before work commences. ABAG 

reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, 

including endorsements effecting the coverage required by these specifications at any time. 

  

Contractors and Lower Tier Subcontractors 

  

Canopy shall include the same requirements and provisions of this Attachment, including 

the section, with any contractor to the extent they apply to the scope of the contractor's 

work. Any contractor further agrees to include the same requirements and provisions of this 

Attachment, including the section, with any lower tier subcontractor to the extent they apply 

to the scope of the lower tier subcontractor's work. Canopy will give a copy of this 

Attachment to any contractor, or lower tier subcontractor upon request. 

  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    15 of 30 

Exhibit 3 

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 

Subrecipient Agreement 

  
Grant Agreement 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    16 of 30 

 
 

 

 
  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    17 of 30 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    18 of 30 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    19 of 30 

 
  

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    20 of 30 

 

 
 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    21 of 30 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    22 of 30 
 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    23 of 30 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 3 – Canopy – 102304    24 of 30 

 

 

 
 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 4 – Canopy – 102304    25 of 30 

 

Exhibit 4 

  

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 

Subrecipient Agreement 

  

Special Conditions 

  

  
A.    Nondiscrimination. Canopy shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national 

origin or sex in the performance of this contract. Canopy shall carry out applicable 

requirements of 40 CFR Part 33 in the award and administration of contracts awarded under 

EPA financial assistance agreements. Failure by Canopy to carry out these requirements is a 

material breach of the Agreement which may result in the termination of the Agreement or 

other legally available remedies. 
  
B.    Prompt Payment. Canopy must pay any contractors or subcontractor for satisfactory 

performance no more than 30 days from Canopy's receipt of payment from ABAG. 
  
C.    DBE Contractor/Subcontractor. ABAG must be notified in writing by Canopy prior to any 

termination of a DBE subcontractor for convenience by Canopy. 
  
If a DBE contractor or subcontractor to Canopy fails to complete work under the subcontract 

for any reason, Canopy must employ the six good faith efforts described in 40 CFR §33.301 

if soliciting a replacement subcontractor even if Canopy has achieved its fair share 

objectives under 40 CFR Part 33, subpart D. 
  
If applicable, Canopy must provide EPA Form 6100-2—DBE Program Subcontractor 

Participation Form to all of its DBE subcontractors and have its DBE subcontractors complete 

EPA Form 6100-3—DBE Program Subcontractor Performance Form. Canopy must then 

require its prime contractor to include all completed forms as part of the prime contractor's 

bid or proposal package. Canopy must require its prime contractor to complete and submit 

EPA Form 6100-4—DBE Program Subcontractor Utilization Form as part of the prime 

contractor's bid or proposal package. Copies of EPA Form 6100-2—DBE Program 

Subcontractor Participation Form, EPA Form 6100-3—DBE Program Subcontractor 

Performance Form and EPA Form 6100-4—DBE Program Subcontractor Utilization Form may 

be obtained from EPA OSDBU's Home Page on the Internet or directly from EPA OSDBU. 
  
Canopy must maintain all records documenting its compliance with the requirements of 40 

CFR Part 33, including documentation of its, and its prime contractors', good faith efforts 

and data relied upon in formulating its fair share objectives. Such records must be retained 

in accordance with applicable record retention requirements for the Grant Agreement. 
  
D.   Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act. Canopy shall comply with all 

applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 

7401-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended (33 U.S.C. 1251-

1387). Violations must be reported to the Regional Office of EPA. 
 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 5 – Canopy – 102304    26 of 30 

Exhibit 5 
  

U.S. EPA Grant Agreement #W9-99T53101-0 

Subrecipient Agreement 
  

Standard Form LLL-Disclosure of Lobbying Activities 
 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 5 – Canopy – 102304    27 of 30 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 5 – Canopy – 102304    28 of 30 

 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 5 – Canopy – 102304    29 of 30 
Item 6.D., Attachment



 

EPA – Healthy Watersheds, Resilient Baylands – Exhibit 5 – Canopy – 102304    30 of 30 

 

Item 6.D., Attachment



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: March 2, 2017 
 
To: ABAG Executive Board 
 
From: Athena Honore 

Contract Manager, San Francisco Estuary Partnership 
 
Subject: Ratification of Web Support Contract Modification No. 7 with San Francisco 

Estuary Institute 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
San Francisco Estuary Institute (SFEI) began providing support in 2011 for www.sfestuary.org, 
San Francisco Estuary Partnership (SFEP)’s website. Services in the agreement include 
website hosting, backups, partial content updating, updates, and refreshes to the test site. The 
initial agreement provided $8000.00 for one year of support, and it has been renewed each year 
under funding from EPA grant agreement CE-00T47801, the NEP base funds. With the latest 
modification, the agreement total amount exceeded $50,000.00, and this memo serves to 
request retroactive approval from the Executive Board. The contract was executed prior to 
securing approval because of the business need to keep the SFEP website up and running. The 
contract term is now 3/1/11-9/30/17 and the contract total is $57,000.00, funded entirely by the 
EPA grant mentioned above. There is no match from SFEP or ABAG for this agreement. 
 
Recommended Action 
 
The Executive Board is requested to ratify Contract Modification No. 7 to the agreement with 
San Francisco Estuary Institute to provide web support to San Francisco Estuary Partnership in 
the amount of $57,000 for the contract term from March 1, 2011 through September 30, 2017. 
 
Attachment 
 

Contract Modification No. 7 
 

Item 6.E.



Blank Page 



Association of Bay Area Governments 
EPA CE-00T47801                                                                                                                                  
SFEI Contract Modification No. 7 
Page 1 of 2 

 
                                        
  

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 
EPA Agreement CE-00T47801 

 
CONTRACT MODIFICATION NO. 7 

 
DATE:  December 29, 2016 

 
 
CONTRACTOR: San Francisco Estuary Institute 
 
 
This contract modification serves to add additional funds to and extend the San Francisco 
Estuary Institute’s contract with ABAG to cover services through September 30, 2017 for 
website support services for the San Francisco Estuary Partnership website. 
 
 
TIME OF PERFORMANCE: 
The term of the contract is extended through September 30, 2017 (hereafter, the period 
between January 1, 2017 and September 30, 2017 is the “Extension Period”). SFEI’s final 
billing must be received by ABAG by October 6, 2017 or it cannot be paid, as the grant 
funds will liquidate.  
 
 
SCOPE OF WORK 
Services will include providing the following: 

o Host site (bandwidth costs) 
o Backups 
o Content updates for areas that are not readily admin-accessible 
o Refresh parallel site for testing 
o Updates to plug-ins and WordPress core 

 
 
COMPENSATION 
The contract task budget for completion of the work described above is $10,000 (ten thousand 
dollars) bringing the total contract budget for SFEI website support to $57,000 (fifty-seven 
thousand dollars). 
 
  
OTHER CONTRACT PROVISIONS: 
All other provisions of the original contract remain in force. 
 

Item 6.E., Attachment



Association of Bay Area Governments 
EPA CE-OOT47801 
SFEI Contract Modification No. 7 
Page 2 of2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Contractor by signature indicates acceptance of this Contract 
.Modification and agrees to comply with all terms set forth in the subcontract and the 
modification. 

I 

oated: I .. f o -rz CONTRACTOR: San Francisco Estuary Institute 

By: Warner Chabot, Executive Director 

_94-2931373 __ _ 510-746-7396 - --
Tax ID No. Telephone 

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 

E ra Rapport, Executive Director 

Approved as to legal form and content: 

Ke Moy al Counsel 
Associ ton of Bay Area-Governments .,..,...... 

Item 6.E., Attachment



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: March 8, 2017 
 
To: ABAG Executive Board 
 
From: Marti Paschal, 

Interim Assistant Director of Administrative Services 
 
Subject: Approval of ABAG Management Pay Schedule and Monthly Salary 

Schedule of Represented Staff 
 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Pursuant to the California Public Employees Retirement Law (PERL), 2 CCR §570.5, 
Requirement for a Publicly Available Pay Schedule, ABAG must have a publicly available pay 
schedule for every employee position. The pay schedule is used by the Board of Administration 
of the Public Employees’ Retirement System to determine “compensation earnable,” i.e., the 
payrate and special compensation of each member. The pay schedule should identify the 
position title for every employee position, the payrate for each identified position, and the time 
base (e.g., daily, monthly, annually). The pay schedule must be approved and adopted by the 
Executive Board in accordance with the applicable public meetings laws and must be retained 
and available for public inspection for at least five years, either accessible and available for 
public review in ABAG’s offices or posted on the ABAG website. We will do both. 
 
The purpose of this item is to effect compliance with PERL and to avoid potential problems 
validating salaries reported by ABAG retirees. 
 
Recommended Action 
 
The Executive Board is requested to approve the attached ABAG Management Pay Schedule 
listing existing management salaries and ABAG Monthly Salary Schedule listing existing 
represented staff salaries. 
 
Attachment 
 
ABAG Management Pay Schedule, as of January 1, 2017 
ABAG Monthly Salary Schedule Effective January 1, 2017 (represented staff) 
 

Item 6.F.



Blank Page 



ABAG PAY SCHEDULE FOR MANAGEMENT 
EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2017 

 

CLASS/POSITION RATE PAY TYPES 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

$16,542.00 Monthly 

$198,504.00 Annual 

 

LEGAL COUNSEL 

$15,471.98 Monthly 

$185,663.76 Annual 

 

DIRECTOR OF FINANCE & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

$13,968.54 Monthly 

$167,622.53 Annual 

 

DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & RESEARCH 

$13,968.53 Monthly 

$167,622.36 Annual 

   

DIRECTOR OF SFEP 

$11,587.50 Monthly 

$139,050.00 Annual 

 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & RESEARCH 

$11,352.50 Monthly 

$136,230.00 Annual 

 

FINANCIAL SERVICES MANAGER 

$11,250.00 Monthly 

$135,000.00 Annual 

 

ENERGY PROGRAMS MANAGER 

$10,833.33 Monthly 

$129,999.96 Annual 

 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

$10,000.00 Monthly 

$120,000.00 Annual 

 

 

Item 6.F., Management Pay Schedule



Blank Page 



ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS

MONTHLY SALARY SCHEDULE EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2017

CLASS EXAMPLE TITLES STEP A STEP B STEP C STEP D STEP E STEPS F&G

P5* Principal 8,645 9,077 9,530 10,006 10,507  

P4 Senior Administrative Officer 6,832 7,174 7,533 7,909 8,305 8,720 (F)*

Senior Environmental Specialist 9,156 (G)*

Senior Communications Officer

Senior Regional Planner

Senior Regional Analyst

P3 Administrative Officer III 6,218 6,529 6,856 7,198 7,558

Environmental Specialist III

Programmer III

Communications Officer III

Regional Planner III

P2 Administrative Officer II 5,174 5,433 5,704 5,990 6,288

Environmental Specialist II

Programmer II

Communications Officer II

Regional Planner II

P1 Administrative Officer I 4,508 4,735 4,971 5,220 5,480

Environmental Specialist I

Programmer I

Communications Officer I

Regional Planner I

S4 Accounting Technician 4,083 4,300 4,514 4,741 4,977

Administrative Secretary

S3 Accounting Clerk 3,547 3,725 3,911 4,108 4,312

Secretary

Supply Clerk III

S2 Supply Clerk II 3,215 3,376 3,547 3,725 3,911

S1 Supply Clerk I 2,765 2,908 3,061 3,215 3,376

* At discretion of Executive Director

Salaries for all represented classifications were increased by 3.0% on January 1, 2017.

Item 6.F., Monthly Salary Schedule



Blank Page 



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

A G E N D A  

LEGISLATION AND GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION COMMITTEE 

Thursday, March 16, 2017, 3:30 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

Location: 

Bay Area Metro Center 
Board Room 
375 Beale Street 
San Francisco, California 

 

The ABAG Legislation and Governmental Organization Committee may act on any item on this 
agenda. 

Agenda and attachments available at abag.ca.gov 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (415) 820 7913. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / CONFIRM QUORUM 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT 

INFORMATION 

3. COMMITTEE ANNOUNCEMENTS 

INFORMATION 

4. APPROVAL OF ABAG LEGISLATION AND GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATION 
COMMITTEE SUMMARY MINUTES OF MEETING ON JANUARY 19, 2017 

ACTION 

Attachment:  Summary Minutes of January 19, 2017 

5. REPORT ON HOUSING BILLS 

INFORMATION/ACTION 

Duane Bay, ABAG Assistant Planning and Research Director 

AB 71 (Chiu), Taxes: Credits: Low-income housing: allocation increase 

AB 73 (Chiu), Planning and Zoning: Housing sustainability districts 

AB 74 (Chiu), Housing for a Healthy California Program 

AB 1423 (Chiu), Housing data 

Item 7

http://abag.ca.gov/
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB71
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB73
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB74
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1423


ABAG Legislation and Governmental Organization Committee 
March 16, 2017 
2 
 

SB 2 (Atkins), Building Homes and Jobs Act 

SB 3 (Beall), Affordable Housing Bond Act of 2018 

SB 540 (Roth), Workforce Housing Opportunity Zone 

SB 35 (Wiener), Planning and Zoning: Affordable housing: Streamlined approval process 

Attachment:  Legislation Summary 

6. REPORT ON WATER BILLS SAVINGS ACT 

INFORMATION/ACTION 

Jerry Lahr, ABAG Energy Programs Manager 

SB 564 (McGuire), Joint powers authorities: Water Bill Savings Act 

7. REPORT ON LEGISLATION 

INFORMATION/ACTION 

Brad Paul, Acting Executive Director 

The following legislation will be discussed: 

AB 18 (Garcia), California Clean Water, Climate, and Coastal Protection and Outdoor 
Access for All Act of 2018 

AB 30 (Caballero), Planning and Zoning: Specific plan: Housing 

AB 59 (Thurmond), Local Housing Trust Fund Matching Grant Program 

AB 184 (Berman), Sea level rise planning: Databases 

AB 358 (Grayson), Regional economic development areas 

AB 890 (Medina), Local land use initiatives: Environmental review 

AB 915 (Ting), Planning and zoning: Housing 

AB 932 (Ting), Housing: Affordable housing 

AB 1086 (Daly), Local government: Housing 

AB 1397 (Low), Local planning: Housing element: Inventory for land for residential 
development 

AB 1404 (Berman), California Environmental Quality Act: Categorical exemption: Infill 
development 

AB 1433 (Wood), Climate Adaptation and Resilience Based on Nature Act 

AB 1585 (Bloom), Planning and zoning: Affordable housing: Single application 

SB 5 (De Leon), California Drought, Water, Parks, Climate, Coastal Protection, and Outdoor 
Access for All Act of 2018 

SB 435 (Dodd) Williamson Act: payments to local governments. 

Attachment: Legislation Summary 

  

Item 7

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB2
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB3
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB540
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB35
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB564
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB18
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB30
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB59
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB184
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB358
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB890
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB915
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB932
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1086
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1397
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1404
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1433
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB1585
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB5
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB435


ABAG Legislation and Governmental Organization Committee 
March 16, 2017 
3 
 
8. REPORT ON DEVELOPMENT OF JOINT ABAG AND MTC STATEMENT OF HOUSING 

PRINCIPLES 

INFORMATION/ACTION 

Rebecca Long, MTC Government Relations Manager, and Georgia Gann Dohrmann, MTC 
Assistant Government Relations Manager 

9. REPORT ON LEGISLATIVE WORKSHOP AND RECEPTION ON MARCH 22, 2017 

INFORMATION/ACTION 

Attachment:  Draft Legislative Workshop Agenda 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

The next meeting of the ABAG Legislation and Governmental Organization Committee will 
be on May 18, 2017. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Brad Paul, Acting Executive Director 

 

 

Date Submitted:  March 10, 2017 

Date Posted:  March 10, 2017 

 

Item 7



Blank Page 



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

A G E N D A  

FINANCE AND PERSONNEL COMMITTEE 

Thursday, March 16, 2017, 5:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. 

Location: 

Bay Area Metro Center 
Board Room 
375 Beale Street 
San Francisco, California 

 

The ABAG Finance and Personnel Committee may act on any item on this agenda. 

Agenda and attachments available at abag.ca.gov 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (415) 820 7913. 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER / ROLL CALL / CONFIRM QUORUM 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT 

INFORMATION 

3. COMMITTEE ANNOUNCEMENTS 

INFORMATION 

4. APPROVAL OF ABAG FINANCE AND PERSONNEL COMMITTEE SUMMARY MINUTES 
OF MEETING ON JANUARY 19, 2017 

ACTION 

Attachment:  Summary Minutes of January 19, 2017 

5. REPORT ON FINANCIAL REPORTS FOR JANUARY 2017 

ACTION 

Attachments:  Memo Financial Reports; Indices 

6. REPORT ON PAYMENT OF MEMBERSHIP DUES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 

ACTION 

Attachment:  Memo Membership Dues 

  

Item 8

http://abag.ca.gov/


ABAG Finance and Personnel Committee 
March 16, 2017 
Page 2 
 
7. REPORT ON AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016 

ACTION 

Attachments:  Memo Audit Reports; Basic Financial Statements; Memorandum Internal 
Control; Single Audit Report 

8. REPORT ON PROPOSED NEW JOINT POWERS AUTHORITY—ABAG FINANCE 
AUTHORITY 

INFORMATION 

Staff will report on a proposed new joint powers authority to be created by ABAG FAN and 
ABAG to serve as conduit issuer.  

Attachment:  (Memo on Proposed ABAG FAN to be sent under Separate Cover) 

9. CLOSED SESSION 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency designated representatives:  Brad Paul, Acting Executive Director; Kenneth Moy, 
Legal Counsel; Courtney Ruby, Finance and Administrative Services Director; Marti 
Paschal, Assistant Director of Administrative Services 

Employee organization:  SEIU Local 1021 

10. CLOSED SESSION 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 

Title:  Post Consolidation Legal Counsel 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

The next regular meeting of the ABAG Finance and Personnel Committee is on May 18, 
2017. 

 

Submitted: 

 

 

/s/ Courtney Ruby, Finance and Administrative Services Director 

 

 

Date Submitted:  March 10, 2017 

Date Posted:  March 10, 2017 

 

Item 8



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: March 10, 2017 
 
To: ABAG Executive Board 
 
From: Miriam Chion 

Director, Planning and Research 
 
Subject: Planning and Research Department Overview 
 
 
Similar to other ABAG Departments’ presentations, this is an overview of the Planning and 
Research Department to describe how we fulfill our legal mandates, serve our cities and bring 
new knowledge and innovation.   Different from the other programs presented in fall and winter 
2016-2017, the ABAG Planning and Research Department will be fully integrated with the MTC 
Planning Department as part of the staff consolidation of the two agencies.  Transportation 
expertise and funding combined with solid housing, infrastructure and land use strategies, and 
thoughtful local engagement can strengthen our regional planning efforts.  The MTC Integrated 
Planning Department will serve both the MTC Commission and the ABAG Executive Board.  
The ABAG Board will maintain its land use, housing, open space, and other legal 
responsibilities as the Council of Governments. In an effort to commit to a successful 
integration, we are looking for your input: 
 

 What actions are needed to ensure continuity for current planning work that serves 
your community, and to ensure that ABAG effectively meets its legal mandates as 
the Council of Governments (i.e. RHNA and SCS growth distribution)? 

 What are the greatest opportunities for the Council of Governments in this staff 
consolidation? 

 
Assets and Challenges 
 
As the Council of Governments for the San Francisco Bay Area, ABAG’s efforts have focused 
on creating a collaborative regional land use and housing planning process that supports our 
valuable assets: cultural diversity, technological innovation and natural resources.  Moving 
forward, our programs should continue to support these valuable assets while addressing the 
region’s most pressing challenges. 
 
Today, concerted efforts are essential to begin resolving our critical housing needs.  While the 
region has experienced high job growth for more than seven years, most workers have 
experienced lower wages along with limited and unaffordable housing, which in turn is triggering 
historic congestion and longer commutes.  These challenges are compounded by an aging 
infrastructure, climate change, and the probability of a major earthquake.   Housing our 
population requires a comprehensive local and regional approach to creating complete 

Item 9



Planning and Research Department Overview 
March 10, 2017 
Page 2 
 
communities where new homes are affordable to all income groups and provide access to 
transit, schools, services, and open space.   
 
Five Programs, Two Teams 
 
Based on an understanding of these assets and challenges and in response to our legal 
mandates, the work program for the Planning and Research Department is organized into five 
interconnected programs and two teams.  This provides a comprehensive institutional platform 
of knowledge and innovation to serve our towns, cities and counties.  The five programs include: 
Housing, Jobs and Workforce, Complete Communities, Resilience, and Open Space and Trails.  
These five programs are supported by the two cross-cutting teams, Local Engagement and 
Research; this allows ABAG staff to be responsive to the needs of our cities and to bring 
substantial knowledge and innovation to projects and programs.  Local Engagement gathers 
and synthesizes input on local priorities such as housing investment needs, support for middle-
wage jobs, technical assistance on soft-story buildings, completion of trails, design of public 
space, and earthquake resilience.  Our Research Team brings a solid foundation of data on 
economic, demographic and land use trends as well as state of the art analytical tools. 
 
The two attached documents describe these five programs and two teams.  Attachment 1 
provides a summary of key tasks, resources, and tools for each program and team.  Attachment 
2 provides a list of major outcomes and proposed future targets. 
 
Moving forward, these five existing programs will be incorporated into the new Integrated 
Regional Planning Program in ways that build on the strengths of ABAG’s existing programs 
and initiatives and capture synergies with related programs in MTC’s current Planning Section. 
 
Regional Mainstays 
 
The mainstays of our planning work are the locally-designated Priority Development Areas 
(PDAs) and Priority Conservation Areas (PCAs).  These areas, which cut across the work 
program and Plan Bay Area, integrate local input into regional planning.  The PDAs are places 
of focused growth that make good use of existing public infrastructure, offer more mobility 
choices and strengthen local history and culture. The PCAs recognize jurisdictions’ high priority 
for preserving the natural environment and creating healthy communities.  These two 
designations will soon be complemented by Priority Production Areas, a third program being 
developed in response to local requests.  The current Plan Bay Area update will be completed 
by fall 2017.   The next Plan Bay Area will be developed in conjunction with the Regional 
Housing Need Allocation (RHNA) by 2021.   
 
Your input and leadership in shaping the regional planning and research projects and processes 
for our COG are essential in ensuring a successful ABAG/MTC staff consolidation over the next 
few months.   
 
Recommended Action 
 
Information 
 
  

Item 9



Planning and Research Department Overview 
March 10, 2017 
Page 3 
 
Attachments 
 

1. Challenges Cross City Boundaries 
2. Summary of Key Tasks, Resources, and Tools 

 

Item 9



Blank Page 



HOUSING  COSTS

EARTHQUAKES
SEA LEVEL RISE

WATER

That’s why Bay Area cities and counties formed ABAG in 1961, creating California’s fi rst Council of 
Governments (COG). We plan regionally to provide solutions to shared challenges identifi ed by member 
cities and to meet ABAG’s legal mandates as the region’s COG. 

ABAG’s planning services are delivered by two cross-cutting teams, Research and Local Engagement, that 
work collaboratively on fi ve programs to provide innovative, locally-tailored strategies.  

1. Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA)*
2. Plan Bay Area land use pattern*
3. Best practices, & funding strategies
4. Housing needs and production analysis

1. Natural disaster preparation and recovery
2. Safe housing & communities 
3. Resilient regional infrastructure and water 

1. Priority Development Area (PDAs) 
2. Placemaking
3. Planning grants & local technical support
4. Corridors & Centers

* ABAG legal mandate 
   Others planning services created through Executive Board Action

1. Bay Trail & Water Trail*
2. Plan Bay Area open space* 
3. Priority Conservation Areas (PCAs)
4. SF Bay Restoration Authority*

Housing

Resilience

Trails & Open Space

Complete Communities

Jobs & Workforce
1. Regional growth forecast*
2. Regional Economic Development District
3. Priority Production Areas

Association of Bay Area Governments

Challenges Cross
City Boundaries

Re
se

ar
ch

Local Engagement

ATTACHMENT 1

Item 9, Attachment 1



Housing
The ABAG Housing Program applies a blended 
skillset of convening, research, tool-building 
and resource development to help cities and 
counties realize their local visions in ways that, 
taken together, yield a regional housing supply 
that is simply big enough to accommodate 
our population, and is aff ordable, sustainable, 
hazard resilient, accessible, and located in 
stable, full-service neighborhoods near jobs 
and transit, where residents are secure against 
involuntary displacement 

Additional Resources and Tools

• Regional Housing Need Allocation (RHNA) Progress      
Reports

•  Housing Opportunity Sites Inventories 
 (where housing is planned)

•  Housing Units Permitted by Location 
 (where housing is being built)

•  Bay Area Housing Policy Database 
 (database of housing  policies in the region)

•  Maintaining Housing Aff ordability (a distillation of 
 13 housing solution implementation toolkits)

•  Accessory Dwelling Unit Guidance

Impact Information
We develop compelling information 
to promote awareness about housing 
challenges and solutions; promote 
housing consensus; and provide policy 
implementation tools for city/county staff  
and elected offi  cials

Consensus for Action
ABAG’s Housing Committee brings 
housing advocates from diverse and 
sometimes confl icting perspectives 
together to shape and advance a regional 
housing action agenda to produce more 
homes at all income levels, preserve more 
aff ordable homes, and protect residents 
from displacement

Technical Assistance
We support local and subregional eff orts  
to adopt and implement endorsed best 
practices, such as the Grand Boulevard 
Initiative’s housing policy toolkit, the East 
Bay Corridor Initiative’s soft-story safe 
housing ordinance upgrade project, and 
the regional housing trust fund project.

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

Item 9, Attachment 1



Oakland
Chamber, Port
and WDB

N. Waterfront Initiative
Contra Costa Co.

Oakland

Peralta CC
District

Sonoma Co.
Econ. Dev.
Board

East Bay Community
Foundation

Joint Venture
Silicon Valley

Newark

NOVA WDB

North Bay
Leadership Council

S. San
Francisco

CCSCE
Center for
Emerging
Technology
Fund

Partners

San
Francisco
Co.

JVS

SAGE

Solano Co.

MEDA

Milpitas

San Jose

San
Mateo
Co.

Santa Clara Co.

Alameda Co.

SPUR

San Jose / SV
Chamber

Solano Econ.
Dev. Corp.

Fremont

East Bay EDA San Ramon
BACEI

Antioch

SAMCEDA

US EDA

Mountain
View Chamber

SAMCUCA

Silicon Valley
Leadership Group

Sonoma
Mendocino CEDS

Marin CEDS

Regional Economic 
Development District 

• A program of US Economic 
Development Administration 
to provide funding support and 
technical assistance 

• Economic Strategy Technical 
Advisory Committee oversees the 
development of Comprehensive 
Economic Development Strategy 

• Region strategic action plan as a 
framework for local actions

Priority Production 
Area Framework
• UC Berkeley Industrial Land and Jobs 

Study

• Recognizing the need for conserving 
industrial land where critical to 
production, goods movement, and 
repair activities.

• PPA--future implementation tool for 
Plan Bay Area implementation 

Regional Collaboration
• Providing a forum to work with regional 

and local business and economic 
support organizations, workforce 
development organizations, educational 
institutions, foundations, community 
based organization and private 
businesses. 

• Developing tools to share regional best 
practices in economic and workforce 
development

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

Jobs & Workforce
ABAG’s Jobs and Workforce Program aims 
to increase opportunities for collaboration 
among economic and workforce development 
organizations in the Bay Area. We engage broadly 
with stakeholders at the regional and local level, 
and provide a regional platform to support local 
actions. The program provides also a forum for 
addressing problems and pursuing regionwide 
goals of maintaining competitiveness of the region 
while expanding access  to opportunities for all Bay 
Area residents and workers.

Highest and Lowest Levels of Per Capita Income, County Census Tract, 2015

Item 9, Attachment 1



Resilience
The ABAG Resilience Program is a unique eff ort 
to continually improve the Bay Area’s capacity 
to recover from natural disasters. Resilience 
Program staff  collaborate closely with Bay Area 
cities and counties to reduce the impacts of 
climate change and natural hazards, including: 
drought, earthquake, extreme heat, fl ooding, 
landslides, sea level rise, and wildfi res.
The program is dedicated to supporting and 
engaging local decision makers, off ering 
technical assistance around local resilience 
implementation, and serving as a regional 
convener for life-saving resilience planning. 

Additional Resources and Tools

•  Mitigation & Adaptation Plan Workshops 
•  Best Practices Policy Database
•  Regional Resilience Support Directory
•  Hazard Viewer and Open Data
•  Stronger Housing, Safer Communities Study
•  Cascading Failures, Infrastructure Interdependencies
•  Loma Prieta 25 Symposium
•  Bay Area Water Confl uence

80+ 
city and county administrators 

participated in Hazard Mitigation 
Plan workshops 

15 
cities have received support 

for soft story inventories, 
policies and model ordinances

1.68 million 

visits to the ABAG Resilience 
Program website since 2011

Safe Housing
Keeping Bay Area residents in their 
communities is critical to a strong 
recovery. We lead eff orts at both the local 
and regional level to ensure all Bay Area 
residents—including those who live in 
vulnerable or fragile housing—can stay 
in their homes and communities even 
after a disaster.  

Infrastructure
In the wake of a major disaster, bringing 
major infrastructure systems back on 
line will be key to overall recovery. 
We assist cities in understanding the 
interconnectedness among infrastructure 
systems and planning to address their 
impending, connected failures as a 
result of an earthquake or other natural 
disaster. 

Mitigation
We focus on the connections between 
mitigation and recovery, supporting 
investments pre-disaster to reduce the 
long term impacts post-disaster. We 
also off er organizational guidance and 
policy direction to support local cities in 
developing tangible recovery plans.

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

Item 9, Attachment 1



Trails & Open Space
ABAG’s Trails and Open Space programs  
are regional projects coordinated 
by ABAG and implemented by local 
agencies and organizations to advance 
the protection and stewardship of 
natural resources and expand the system 
of urban trails, parks, bikeways and bay 
access to increase the quality of life, 
health and economic prosperity of the 
region. 

Bay Trail
We are working with communities 
in all 9 Bay Area counties to create 
a 500 mile walking and cycling 
path around the shoreline of 
the San Francisco Bay. The trail 
connects bustling places such as 
the San Francisco Embarcadero to 
sanctuaries like the Tubbs Island 
Trail in Sonoma County.

Water Trail
We are expanding a network 
of launch and landing sites to 
inspire people in human-powered 
boats to enjoy the historic, scenic, 
cultural and environmental 
richness of the Bay Area. 

Priority Conservation 

Areas (PCAs)
We work with local entities to 
designate open spaces that 
provide agricultural, natural 
resource, recreational,  and health 
benefi ts  while supporting the 
region’s PDA focused growth 
strategy. OBAG grant funding will 
preserve and enhance PCAs.

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

350
Miles of Bay Trail completed

31
Water Trail sites designated

165
Priority Conservation Areas adopted 
by Bay Area cities, counties and park 

districts

$19.5 Million
Grand funds acquired by ABAG to 

build the Bay & Water Trails

Item 9, Attachment 1



PDA Planning Grants 
We support grants that allow Bay Area 
cities and counties to deliver locally 
adopted plans for PDAs that address 
a full range of issues and set the stage 
for a transparent development process 
consistent with the community’s 
vision. To date, adopted plans with 
programmatic EIRs have created capacity 
for 72,000 new homes and 115,000 jobs. 

Placemaking 

We work with a cross-section of local 
staff , design professionals, developers, 
schools, and community organizations 
to develop placemaking strategies 
including urban greening, best practices 
and forums for regional dialogue about 
community assets and aspirations for 
PDAs.

Corridors and Centers
We facilitate collaboration between 
cities connected by transit corridors, 
and between the region’s three largest 
cities, to identify common challenges 
and pursue shared opportunities. The 
program coordinates the East Bay 
Corridor Initiative and supports the Grant 
Boulevard Initiative.

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

Complete Communities are the key to sustainable, 
equitable regional growth. ABAG and Bay Area 
communities pursue complete communities 
through Priority Development Areas that are 
places identifi ed by jurisdictions for investment, 
new homes, and job growth. Together with Priority 
Conservation Areas (PCAs), PDAs are the foundation 
for sustainable regional growth and Plan Bay Area. 
A partnership between MTC and ABAG, the Priority 
Development Area program supports community-
based PDA plans across the region and provides 
focused implementation initiatives to achieve 
shared goals for Bay Area PDAs.

Complete Communities

SOLANO

SONOMA
NAPA

SANTA CLARA

SAN 
MATEO

ALAMEDA

SAN FRANCISCO

MARIN

CONTRA 
COSTA

¯ 0 10 205 Miles

Priority Development Areas

Urbanized Areas

110,000
New jobs within walking distance of 
transit zoned through PDA planning 

grants

70,000
New housing units within walking 

distance of transit zoned 
through  PDA planning grants

Item 9, Attachment 1



Research
ABAG’s Research Team provides the analytic 
tools and data to support Bay Area regional and 
local planning. The research team provides a 
unique understanding of conditions and trends. 
We put local conditions in a regional context, 
address a comprehensive set of economic and 
demographic factors at a regional level, and 
are sensitive to their interactions with land use, 
housing, transportation, environmental, and 
economic policy.

Regional Forecasts
The program develops methods 
and projections of 

• Employment

• Population

• Households

• Income

Regional Analysis
The team tracks Bay Area trends 
and produces:

• State of the Region report

• Housing market analysis

• Comprehensive Economic 
Development Strategy profi le 
report

• Economic impact analysis

Data Services
We gather , organize and analyze 
data from a variety of sources, and 
make them widely  available:

• Employment, prices

• Population size and movement

• Maps  & GIS services

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

How the Bay Area Commutes: 
Origins and Destinations by County

ABAG from US Census Bureau, CTP 2006-10 release

Item 9, Attachment 1



Local Engagement
ABAG’s Local Engagement  Team collaborates 
directly with elected offi  cials, staff  and 
residents of the region’s 101 cities and 9 
counties to understand local needs and shape 
responsive regional planning policy. Each ABAG 
planner is assigned to the cities of a county 
to provide day-to-day support, convene local 
planning staff  to address shared challenges, 
and gather input from elected offi  cials through 
ABAG delegate meetings. Our engagement also 
involves regional events that bring local staff  
and elected offi  cials together with experts in a 
key policy area.  

Additional Resources and Tools

•  PDA Showcase website
•  Bay Area Planning Innovations forums 
and website

•  Places of the Bay Area website 
•  Bay Area Planning Directors Association

9 
County planning director and Del-

egate organizations

180 
Priority Development Areas

101 
Cities and towns with ABAG local 

staff  liaison

Local Planning Liaisons
Each ABAG planner works directly with 
staff  and elected offi  cials from the cities 
of a Bay Area county to understand 
unique local issues, engage staff  in 
regional policy such as Plan Bay Area 
and RHNA, and support PDA planning 
grants. This approach helps build the 
relationships necessary for meaningful 
local input. 

Regional Convenings
Through the General Assembly, Regional 
Planning Committee, Bay Area Planning 
Directors Association and Executive 
Board, we provide a forum for the diffi  cult 
conversations necessary to address our 
region’s most complex challenges. The 
Executive Board provides oversight of 
regional planning activities and helps 
shape our approach to local engagement. 

County and community 
outreach
ABAG hosts delegate meetings in all nine 
counties to gather the perspectives of 
elected offi  cials that serve on the ABAG 
Executive Board or attend the ABAG 
General Assembly as delegates.

PROGRAM SPOTLIGHT

Item 9, Attachment 1



Attachment 2 

1 

1. Housing  

 Milestones and Accomplishments Proposed Work Plan and Next Steps 

Regional 
Housing Data  

 Report: 2007- 2014 RHNA Progress Report 

 Report: Annual Building Permit data collected from the 
109 jurisdictions 

 Database: Geocoded and mapped permit data from 
2013, 2014 and 2015 

 Report: Annual Development permits categorized by 
housing in PDA/Non-PDA, RHNA/non RHNA Sites, as 
well as housing type single family, multi-family, and 
affordability 

 

 Survey local jurisdictions to shape and revise collection of permit 
data by location and affordability. 

 Revise building data collection process for ease and accuracy  

 Identify strategies to fill data gaps 

 Develop uniform region wide database of building permits 

 Engagement: Work with HCD to improve data collection from 
jurisdictions 

 Engagement: Pursue legislative changes to improve data collection 
processes, accuracy and scope 

 Design platform for regional housing production data base 

Housing 
policies and 
practices 

 Housing Policy Database: Developed regional housing 
policy database  

 Resource: Housing policy database accessible through 
website for practitioners, advocates, and policy makers 
to use 

 

 Update Database: Survey to jurisdictions with expanded set of 
policies, and request for links to local ordinances 

 Upgrade Database: Expand the display/search functionality of 
database: make information more visual, and provide more 
information through search function 

 Resource: Housing Policy Toolkit identifying best practices, model 
ordinances etc. and analysis/content to make available through 
website. 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

2 

Technical 
Assistance 

 Resource: Provide consultative services to 
planning/housing staff and policy leaders in cities, 
counties and institutions who are working to advance 
specific ABAG endorsed land use policies and practices 

 Advise: OBAG Planning Grant Program – provided input 
for housing related requirements for PDA planning 
grant program 

 Advise: As Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) 
member for PDA’s and BART 

 Resource: Expand consultative services to planning/housing staff and 
policy leaders in cities, counties and institutions who are working to 
advance specific ABAG endorsed land use policies and practices 

 Support State mandated plans: SCS, Housing elements, Climate Action 
Plan, Local Hazard Mitigation Plan etc. 

 Engagement: Pro-actively engage jurisdictions' elected officials and 
staff, practitioners and advocates to advance conversations that 
promote housing production, preservation, affordability and 
neighborhood stabilization. 

Housing 
Resources 

 Engagement: State coordination on housing grants for 
East Bay Corridors 

 Engagement: Formed Housing Committee to build 
consensus on housing strategies 

 Engagement: Develop funding infrastructure Regional Housing Trust 
Fund, Infrastructure Fund, etc. 

 Engagement: Develop CASA Initiative in collaboration with 
stakeholders 

 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

3 

2. Jobs and Workforce 

 Milestones and Accomplishments Work Plan and Next Steps 

Regional 
Collaboration 

 Reports:  Worked with regional stakeholders in a 
number of studies and reports, such as Economic 
Prosperity Plan, and Industrial Land and Job Study. 

 Engagement: ABAG regional economic development 
district work started with ABAG's engagement with 
EBEDA, and has enabled ABAG to engage and establish 
partnerships with diverse organizations in the region 
on economic and workforce development issues 

 Web Tool: Developing website tools to share regional best practices in 
economic and workforce development 

 Continue providing a forum to increase opportunities for collaboration 
among economic and workforce development organizations in the Bay 
Area 

Regional 
Economic 
Development 
District (EDD) 

 Engagement: Initial meeting and planning with USEDA 
and EBEDA to understand and undertake the work of 
establishing of regional Economic Development District 
(EDD) for the nine-County Bay Area 

 Advise: Formed Economic Strategy Technical Advisory 
Committee that oversees the development of 
Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) 

 Report: Completed draft of CEDS profile, SWOT 
analysis and strategies, and Regional Economic 
Strategy  

 Engagement: Presented to business and economic 
groups, academic institutions, and workforce 
development organizations, community based 
organizations and jurisdictions and other stakeholders 
across the region 

 White Paper: Industry clusters, business dynamics, 
transportation, jobs/housing balance,  

 

 Report: Develop performance metrics and action plan, and complete 
official draft of CEDS report for public comment 

o Present final report to county boards of supervisors for 
adoption 

o Continue collaboration with Bay Area Council/Bay Area Council 
Economic Institute and other stakeholders to create a proposed 
governance structure for the regional EDD 

o Submit Regional EDD application to USEDA 

 Ongoing Engagement 

o Megaregion meetings with adjacent counties 

o Subregional Economic and business support organizations 

o 11 workforce development boards 

o 20 cities 

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

4 

Priority 
Production 
Areas (PPA) 

 Report: Industrial Land and Job Study with Karen 
Chapple, UC Berkeley 

o Supply and demand study of industrial land in 
the region 

o Supply and demand study of industrial 
building space in the region 

o Evaluation of potential VMT impacts from 
industry relocating to outside the region 

 Engagement: Presentation to Regional Planning 
Committee, Executive Board, and discussions with MTC, 
the Economic Strategy Committee and sub-regional 
advanced manufacturing and manufacturing 
associations and jurisdictions 

 Program Development: 

o Develop criteria for PPA designation at local level  

o Develop and prepare proposal for descriptions of place 
types of PPA 

o Develop support programs and incentives 

 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

5 

3. Resilience  

 Milestones and Accomplishments Work Plan and Next Steps 

Safe, Smart 
Growth 
Framework 
and Pilot 

 Guidance handbook:  Risk Assessment and Strategy 
Evaluation Handbook 

 Five white papers:  short issue papers describing the five phases of 
the Safe, Smart Growth Framework 

 Guidance handbooks:  revised, more detailed guidebooks for cities 
and regions to guide them through a resilience-building process 

 Pilot process:  partnership with EPA and FEMA to pilot and test the 
process and tools throughout the western US 

Resilient 
Housing  

 Guidance document:  soft story retrofit program 
development 

 Workshop:  soft story workshop to build local capacity 
and identify policy priorities 

 Model ordinance:  soft story retrofit model ordinance; 
support to local jurisdictions for implementation   

 New housing loss numbers:  update housing loss numbers from 2003 
for 16 earthquake and 2 flood scenarios 

 Online housing quiz:  update 2003 housing quiz to help users identify 
if their house is fragile 

 Housing field guide:  develop easy-to-use online and print tool to help 
users easily identify fragile housing types 

 Policy tools:  model ordinances, guidance, and other policy tools to 
implement soft-story and other safer housing policies 

Resilient 
Infrastructure 

 Technical Advisory Committee: Convened ABAG RPC 
TAC to discuss obstacles to providing adequate water 
for PDAs and resilience following disasters 

 PDA Infrastructure Policies: identify and propose for joint adoption 
policies by cities and water and energy providers to overcome 
infrastructure-related obstacles to PDA implementation 

 Pilot projects and partnerships:  through TAC, develop partnerships 
with utilities and cities to pilot projects that develop, test, and expand 
the capacity of utilities to serve cities after major disasters 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

6 

Mitigation 
and 
Adaptation 
Plan 
Assistance 

 Workshops:  convened nine workshops throughout 
the Bay Area to assist jurisdictions with Local Hazard 
Mitigation Plan development 

 One-on-one technical assistance:  provided ad-hoc 
assistance  

 Workshops:  five workshops focused on implementation of resilience-
building strategies developed in previous phase of project 

 One-on-one technical assistance:  assist jurisdictions one-on-one or 
in cohorts (like EBCI) to develop tailored policy and planning tools 

Regional 
Resilience 
Assessment 

 Analysis:  researched resilience actions for 10 Bay Area 
cities and documented findings 

 Analysis:  Identify and research resilience actions in 10 additional 
cities 

 Online dashboard:  develop online dashboard to display assessment 
outcomes, coordinated with other existing databases and dashboards 
created by ABAG and other partners 

Rockefeller 
100 Resilient 
Cities (RC) 

Partnership 

 CRO convening:  established partnerships and 
common goals with 100RC Chief Resilience Officers 

 Workshops: leverage the 100RC model and local investments to 
catalyze resilience implementation in all Bay Area jurisdictions  

Statewide 
Policy 
Partnerships 

  Policy white paper:  develop statewide resilience policy platform 
aligned with key partners 

 Strengthened partnerships:  work with existing partners, and build 
new partnerships, to advance state policy adoption 

USGS 
Partnership 
 

  Regional briefings and workshops:  six regional briefings and/or 
workshops to tell the story of a major Hayward earthquake and its 
impacts on several sectors, plus how cities can respond 

Wildland Fire 
Study 

  Report:  identify the region’s vulnerability to wildland fire and its 
capacity to reduce this vulnerability  

 Strategies for reducing risk:  targeted actions for reducing wildland 
fire risk 

 

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

7 

4. Trails and Open Space 

 Milestones and Accomplishments Work Plan and Next Steps 

Bay Trail 

 

 Bay Trail Construction and Development: 

o 7 miles constructed, reaching the milestone of 
350 miles and 70% complete  

o Bay Trail Design Guidelines & Toolkit released to 
shoreline partners outlining the principles for 
designing and developing the remaining sections 
of Bay Trail 

o Created 6 new Bay Trail smart audio phone tours  

o $15,000 grant secured from Google to complete 
a tour at the Google campus in Mountain View 

 Collaboration and Partnership:  

o Managed active planning and construction grants 
and worked with the Coastal Conservancy to 
award contracts under block grant 

o Advocated and supported with regional partners 
the passage of Measure AA 

o Partnered with PG&E, Facebook and Cargill 

o Participated in sea level rise working groups 
around the region and provide input on climate 
action plans 

 Seek and provide funding to implementing agencies to significantly 
advance the development of the Bay Trail, including but not limiting to 
adding more trail mileage, installing signs along all sections, creating 
new mobile phone audio tours 

 Expand awareness of the Bay Trail through new smart phone audio 
tours, Migrations regional art program and other outreach tools 

 Develop a strategy to analyze the condition of existing segments of 
Bay Trail in coordination with shoreline partners 

 Expand partnerships with private corporations for specific gap 
closures, and explore new partnerships with public health, recreation, 
tourism and alternative transportation partners 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

8 

Water Trail  Designated the 30th Water Trail site 

 Allocated over $490,000 for water access 
improvements 

 Completed East Bay Regional Park District Water Trail 
Implementation Plan 

 Designate up to 50 Water Trail sites 

 Complete a set of Water Trail maps and update the Water Trail 
website 

 Develop a detailed list of projects and assist partners with applying 
for available funds 

 Explore new partnerships with public health, recreation, tourism and 
alternative transportation partners 

Priority 
Conservation 
Area (PCA) 

 165 designated PCAs  Solicit applications and manage a competitive grant program under 
the One Bay Area Grant (OBAG) program in partnership with MTC 
and the State Coastal Conservancy to fund eligible projects within PCA 
boundaries 

 Update and maintain a comprehensive and informative PCA website 
with county-specific PCA maps as a public and local agency resource 

 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

9 

5. Complete Communities & PDAs 

 Milestones and Accomplishments Work Plan and Next Steps 

PDA Planning 
Grants & 
Technical 
Assistance 

 Completed Grants:  18  

 New grants: 11 

 Development: Adopted plans create capacity for 
28,000 dwelling units 

 Survey local jurisdictions to shape revised guidelines 

 Update planning and technical assistance guidelines retaining 
successful elements of program and addressing emerging 
implementation issues and opportunities 

 Complete 15+ grants  

 Award 10+ new grants  

PDA 
Guidelines & 
Designations 

 Guidelines: adopted revised PDA standards (e.g. size, 
density) 

 Updates PDAs: 29 PDAs updated to include new areas 
and/or reflect recently adopted plan 

 New PDAs: 3 new PDAs adopted  

 Place Types: review and prepare proposal for revision to place types 
(based on consultation with local staff)  

 Guidelines: prepare proposal for new guidelines consistent with 
updated place types  

Planning 
Innovations 

 Forums: 3 forums focusing on Infrastructure, 
Placemaking, and Housing 

 Website: Established Planning Innovations website  

 10 forums on themes identified by local PDA planners  

 Expanded Planning Innovations website providing a compendium of 
best practices, model plans and codes, reports and videos, and 
discussion forums 

Regional 
Studies 

 Report: Annual development permits, categorized by 
PDA/Non-PDA locations  

 Report: PDA feasibility study 

 Report: Enhanced infrastructure finance districts 

 Reports: Studies addressing emerging challenges and opportunities 
for region’s PDAs 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

10 

Entitlement 
Efficiency/ 
CEQA 
Streamlining 

 Database: Electronic inventory and map of PDAs by 
“development readiness” (completed planning and 
environmental review)  

 Guidance document: Entitlement Efficiency Advisory 
for Infill Development  

 Report: local use of infill streamlining provisions in 
PDAs 

 Local SB743 implementation: Partner with state, cities and CMAs to 
support adoption SB743 VMT-based standards of significance in at 
least 10 jurisdictions, provide data and direct technical assistance 

 Website: Launch infill streamlining website to increase development 
in PDAs 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

11 

Corridors and 
Centers 

 East Bay Corridors Initiative 

 MOU establishing Initiative adopted by city 
councils of 14 member jurisdictions 

 2015-16 Priorities document & website 

 $600K in grants to ABAG and cities to overcome 
obstacles to infill and shared opportunities, 
including brownfields and urban greening 

 $90M in successful Affordable Housing & 
sustainable transportation grant applications 
(supported) 

 Catalyst project pipeline list and website; 
partnership with CDFIs to build out pipeline 

 Soft-story building standards for East Bay cities 
along Hayward fault. 

 Regional Centers (SF, Oakland, SJ) 

 Established forum between planning directors and 
regional staff  

 Developed shared PDA priorities 

 Partner Initiatives 

 Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) member for 
adopted BART Affordable Housing & TOD Policy 

 TAC member for Grand Boulevard Initiative 

 East Bay Corridors Initiative 

 Complete EPA Brownfields Grant, leading to at least 5 entitled 
projects previously held up by contamination issues 

 Complete EPA Urban Greening Grant, leading to corridor-level 
priority projects included in local plans and CIPs (partners: cities, 
CMAs) 

 Obtain new grants to support priorities identified by corridor 
cities, including urban greening projects, housing studies and other 
needs 

 Adopt soft-story ordinances based on model code in 5 corridor 
cities 

 Expand Partnerships: directly involve regional agencies and 
economic development agencies  

 Regional Centers 

 Identify and advance 2-3 implementation partnerships between 
Regional Centers and the regional agencies 

 Collaborative Initiatives 

 TOD at Transit: Provide support to BART and VTA to advance 
major mixed-use projects at transit stations 

 Grand Boulevard Initiative: Identify opportunities to support 
expanded GBI issues such as housing 

 Great Communities Collaborative: Partner on cross-sector 
Initiatives identified by Bay Area TOD Implementation group 

  

Item 9, Attachment 2



Attachment 2 

12 

Placemaking  Report: Placemaking in the Bay Area 

 Place-based outreach: Established Places of the Bay 
Area website and outreach program to gather resident 
input on PDAs; gathered input at Plan Bay Area 
workshops and engagement with high schools 

 Report: Contributed to Air District’s Planning for 
Healthy Places document 

 Places of the Bay Area: Expand web-based platform for residents of 
PDAs to contribute unique perspectives and express aspirations for 
their communities 

 Urban greening projects in high-need PDAs to create public space, 
improve air quality, community health, safety, energy efficiency, and 
pedestrian and bicycle mobility  

 Implementation of Planning for Healthy Places standards in PDAs 
through outreach to local staff and partnership with the Air District  

Infrastructure  Technical Advisory Committee: Convened ABAG RPC 
TAC to discuss obstacles to providing adequate water 
for PDAs and resilience following disasters (with 
resilience program) 

 PDA Infrastructure Policies: identify and propose for joint adoption 
policies by cities and water and energy providers to overcome 
obstacles to PDA implementation (with resilience program) 

 

Item 9, Attachment 2



 

TO: Joint MTC Planning Committee and ABAG Administrative 
Committee 

DATE: March 17, 2017 

CC: ABAG Executive Board 

Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

 

FR: Brad Paul, ABAG Acting Executive Director 

Steve Heminger, MTC Executive Director 

  

RE: Approval of the Contract for Services for the MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation  and 
Memorandum of Understanding Related to Future Governance  

 
Summary and Requested Action 
 
The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC) jointly retained Management Partners (MP) to conduct a study on the 
potential merger of the two agencies. MP presented the Options Analysis and Recommendation 
Report dated April 18, 2016 with seven options. The agencies joined in expressing policy 
support for Option 7 that proposes ABAG and MTC enter into (1) a contract to consolidate staff 
functions under the MTC executive director (CS) and (2) a memorandum of understanding 
regarding new governance options (MOU).  
 
Further, the agencies adopted an Implementation Action Plan (IAP) designed by Management 
Partners to guide the staff consolidation. The ABAG and MTC senior staffs have been working 
on the IAP under the policy direction provided by our respective policy bodies. At the February 
24th meeting of the Joint MTC Planning and ABAG Administrative Committee, staff presented a 
draft contract for services (CS) for your review and input.  We have made a number of revisions 
to the CS as recommended at your meeting and as summarized below.  In addition, we are now 
returning with a few key attachments to the CS as well as a draft Memorandum of Understanding 
related to future governance for action – we are requesting that you refer the CS and the MOU to 
the ABAG Executive Board and Commission for approval.  
 
Background and Discussion 
 
A. Revisions to the Contract for Services based on your input 
 
We appreciate the input and comments at the ABAG Executive Board and Joint MTC Planning 
and ABAG Administrative Committees in February.  Based on the comments received and to 
correct a few errors, we have made changes as attached with track changes and summarized 
below: 

Item 10



Contract for Services and Memorandum of Understanding for MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation  
March 17, 2017 
Page 2 
 

• Revisions to section 13 Dispute Resolution:  The dispute resolution section was revised 
to clarify that policy issues will not go to binding arbitration. 

• Addition in section 6.1 of language related to CalPERS: As discussed later in the memo, 
to address some continued ambiguity as it relates to how CalPERS treats common law 
employees, we have added language to protect both MTC and ABAG and the employees 
should CalPERS make a determination in the future contrary to our current 
understanding.  To that end, MTC and ABAG agree to make each other whole such that 
the final financial consequences to each party of the CalPERS determination shall reflect 
the financial assumptions made at the time the contract was executed.  

• Addition to section 2 to acknowledge that cities and counties are important partners in 
regional planning and that regional land use planning must be coordinated with local land 
use planning in order to succeed in building high quality neighborhoods.   

• Addition of social equity, open space, and energy efficiency to the list of key issue areas 
and identifying stakeholder engagement in section 2.2 as one of the key responsibilities 
and duties. 

• Addition in section 4.1 Development and Approval (Operating Budgets and Work Plans) 
to clarify the process for potential refinancing of the current Financing Authority for 
Non-Profits debt portfolio. 

• Minor technical corrections to the start date of the budget process, addition of the 
definition of MTC, and the zip code for the Bay Area MetroCenter. 

 
B. Key Exhibits – Organization Chart and Transition Plan  
 
We noted at the joint committee meeting that the draft contract was missing some attachments, 
the two most important being (1) an organization chart reflecting the consolidated staff 
operation, and (2) a “Transition Plan” laying out the salary and benefit package for those ABAG 
staff members transitioning to MTC employment.  These items are now attached to the Contract 
for Services as Exhibits B and C.  Each exhibit requires a few words of explanation. 
 
Organization Chart 
The proposed organization chart relies on the legal nomenclature that all members of the 
consolidated staff will be MTC employees.  As shown on the organization chart, the existing 
MTC employees are depicted in blue and the soon-to-be-former ABAG employees are depicted 
in green.  This is the first and last time that we will draw any distinction between existing and 
transitioning MTC employees, and we do so here only to illustrate how the consolidation will 
occur.  After the transition takes place this summer, we will be one staff working for the 
betterment of the San Francisco Bay Area as a whole. 
 
The organization chart rests on a few assumptions.  First, as we have stated repeatedly to both 
staffs, every represented ABAG employee will be offered a comparable position in the new 
consolidated organization.  The attached chart assumes that all of those offers will be accepted, 
which may or may not prove true.  For those offers that are not accepted, the MTC Executive 
Director will consider at a later date how and whether to fill those positions at the new 
organization.  For the non-represented (management-level) ABAG positions, there is obviously 
some redundancy between that management structure and the comparable positions at 

Item 10



Contract for Services and Memorandum of Understanding for MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation  
March 17, 2017 
Page 3 
 
MTC.  The proposed organization chart reflects some of the efficiencies we will gain by 
addressing that redundancy in an appropriate manner.  
 
Brad Paul will be the third MTC Deputy Executive Director in the consolidated staff 
operation.  Brad will oversee the diverse local government services and programs that ABAG 
has provided to its members for many decades.  The other large swath of green on the attached 
chart are the ABAG planners who will join the MTC planners in a new integrated regional 
planning department overseen by Director Ken Kirkey and Deputy Executive Director for Policy 
Alix Bockelman.  A proposed organization structure for the integrated planning department is 
being finalized and will be provided for information to the Boards. There are some other 
important changes to the organization structure to address the larger agency and evolving work 
in the Administration and Facilities and Finance Sections.   
 
Transition Pan 
As noted above, the Transition Plan outlines the salary and benefit package for the incoming 
ABAG employees.  You will note that on page 1 of the plan, there is an amount (7%) for the 
minimum salary increase that will be offered to the transitioning employees to compensate for 
any definable differences in the ABAG and MTC benefit packages.  We are committed to 
ensuring that no transitioning employee will experience a net reduction in salary and 
benefits.  Some of the benefit differences are difficult to monetize, but we have done our best to 
address some concerns that have emerged – such as the legal requirement to pay employees for 
vacation balances – by providing three additional days of personal leave in the first six months as 
well as starting the tenure for vacation accrual consistent with the ABAG tenure.  We have also 
agreed to transfer sick leave balances so these balances can be used if needed for sick leave once 
the employees transition to MTC.   
 
C. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on Governance 
Another important piece of the staff consolidation approval package that is being provided this 
month is the proposed MOU related to future governance.  The governing boards’ approval of 
Option 7 called for a MOU to set a date certain by which the ABAG Executive Board and the 
Commission would consider future governance options. 
 
ABAG’s Resolution No. 07-16 contains certain language regarding the selection of the successor 
to the current MTC Executive Director.  The ABAG President and MTC Chair have negotiated 
and agreed on an alternative approach that is summarized in the key points below, and in the 
proposed language for the MOU in Attachment A: 
 
• Deadline to Initiate Discussions on Governance: ABAG Executive Board and Commission 

begin discussion of future governance options no later than July 1, 2019. 
• Commencement of Information Gathering and Staff Support for Discussion on Governance: Staff to 

begin gathering information to support the governance discussion no later than July 1, 2018. 
• Termination of Employment of the Incumbent Executive Director: If the current executive 

director terminates his employment before July 1, 2018, the information gathering and staff 
support related to it is triggered immediately. 
 

Item 10



Contract for Services and Memorandum of Understanding for MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation  
March 17, 2017 
Page 4 
 
D. CalPERS Discussion Update 
Staff continues to work with CalPERS staff to provide the detail needed for CalPERS to 
understand the unique staff consolidation that is being proposed.  To date, the conversations have 
focused on the issue of common law employees and ensuring that the consolidated staff is 
reporting to and getting daily direction from the MTC Executive Director.  We have a meeting 
set up with the executive director of CalPERS early next week and will provide a status report on 
the discussion at your meeting on March 24th. 
 
Next Steps 
 
As a reminder, we are getting to the home stretch of the implementation steps with the following 
key dates between now and achieving the staff consolidation at the beginning of the next fiscal 
year: 
March 24: Joint ABAG Administration/MTC Planning Committee – referral of the CS and 

MOU for approval 
April 20: ABAG Executive Board approval of the CS and MOU 
April 26: MTC Commission approval of the CS and MOU 
May-June: Offers and acceptances of employment 
July 1:  Transition of employees 
 
Recommendation 
 
We recommend that the Joint MTC Planning and ABAG Administrative Committee refer the 
Contract for Services for the MTC/ABAG staff consolidation and Memorandum of 
Understanding related to future governance, as described in the memo above, to the Commission 
and Executive Board for approval. 
 
 
 
Brad Paul  Steve Heminger 

 
 
BP / SH: ab / bp 
J:\COMMITTE\Planning Committee\Special Joint Meeting\2017\03_Joint_Mar 24 2017\7ai_Staff Consolidation CS and MOU Approval 
Memo.docx 

Item 10



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

between 
 

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 
 

and 
 
 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 
  

Item 10



 2 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

THIS MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) is made and entered into as of the __ 
day of _______, 2017, by and between the Association of Bay Area Governments, (ABAG), a 
Council of Governments established by agreement among its members pursuant to the Joint 
Exercise of Powers Act, California Government Code §§ 6500, et seq. and the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission (MTC), a regional transportation planning agency established 
pursuant to California Government Code § 66500.  
 
 

RECITALS 
A. ABAG was created in 1961 and serves as the Council of Governments for the 101 

cities/towns and nine counties that make up the region with powers and responsibilities 
granted to it under the laws of the State of California. 

 
B. MTC is the federally designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (“MPO”), pursuant to 

Section 134(d) of Title 23 of the United States Code (USC) for the nine-county San 
Francisco Bay Area region (the “Bay Area” or “region”). 

 
C. In November 2015 MTC and ABAG agreed to a jointly retain Management Partners to 

conduct a merger study and to propose a merger implementation plan.  
 

D. At the June 2016 meeting of the ABAG Executive Board, it adopted Resolution 07-16 
stating its support for merger options 4 and 7 and their respective implementation action 
plans as presented by Management Partners with the ABAG Executive Board 
acknowledging moving forward with merger option 7.  

 
E. On May 25, 2016 MTC adopted Resolution No. 4245 approving an implementation plan 

dated May 17, 2016 for merger option 7. 
 

F. ABAG and MTC have concluded that this MOU and the concurrent Contract for Services is 
the preferred means for ABAG and MTC to jointly pursue their respective missions and to 
carry out their respective responsibilities for the benefit of the San Francisco Bay region. 

  

Item 10



 3 

STATEMENT OF MUTUAL UNDERSTANDING 
 
 

1. Option 7 
ABAG and MTC have agreed to pursue the implementation of Option 7 through a mutually 

agreed upon Contract for Services that governs how ABAG and MTC will share the use of a 
consolidated staff to carry out their respective missions and statutory powers and responsibilities 
and a mutually agreed upon memorandum of understanding  to pursue with MTC new 
governance options. 

 
2. This Memorandum of Understanding 

This MOU is the memorandum of understanding required by Option 7. 
 

3. Concurrent Contract for Services 
ABAG and MTC have agreed upon the Contract for Services required by Option 7 which is 

attached as _______ 
 

4. Deadline to Initiate Discussions on Governance 
No later than July 1, 2019, ABAG and MTC will begin discussions on whether the two 

agencies can restructure their governing boards to better serve the region and to better utilize the 
consolidated staff. These discussions may be conducted directly through the Executive Board of 
ABAG and the Commission of MTC, or their respective designated policymakers or designated 
policy bodies. 

 
5. Commencement of Information Gathering and Staff Support for Discussion on 

Governance 
No later than July 1, 2018, ABAG and MTC will direct the consolidated staff to begin 

collecting information on the governance structures of regional planning agencies with a focus 
on those with both land use and transportation planning powers and responsibilities, including 
transportation funding and investment. 

 
6. Termination of Employment of the Incumbent Executive Director 

If MTC receives notice prior to July 1, 2018 from its incumbent Executive Director that he 
will be terminating his employment with MTC, the consolidated staff will promptly begin 
implementation of section 5. 

 
 
 

End of Document 
Signature Page to Follow 

  

Item 10



 4 

 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

BETWEEN 
ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 

AND 
METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

* * * * * 
AUTHORIZED SIGNATURES 

  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ABAG and MTC have caused this MOU to be duly executed on its 
behalf. 
 
      Association of Bay Area Governments 
 
 
 

 ________________________________________ 
      Julie Pierce, President     

 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kenneth K. Moy, Legal Counsel 

 
 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

 
 
 

_________________________________________ 
Jake Mackenzie, Chair 

 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Adrienne Weil, General Counsel 

Item 10



 

 
 

Draft March 15, 2017 

CONTRACT FOR SERVICES 

between 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION 

and 

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 

Item 10



 

i 
 

1. DEFINITIONS ...................................................................................................... 3 

2. PRESERVATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND MISSIONS OF ABAG 
AND THE LCPS .................................................................................................. 4 

3. SERVICES .......................................................................................................... 5 

4. OPERATING BUDGETS AND WORK PLANS; STAFFING ................................ 7 

5. COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT .............................................. 8 

6. EMPLOYMENT OF ABAG LEGACY PERSONNEL ............................................ 9 

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF MTC PERSONNEL .................................................... 10 

8. GOVERNANCE STUDY .................................................................................... 10 

9. RELEASE OF CLAIMS ...................................................................................... 11 

10. INSURANCE AND RISK ALLOCATION ............................................................ 11 

11. NOTICES .......................................................................................................... 12 

12. DURATION OF AGREEMENT .......................................................................... 12 

13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ................................................................................... 12 

14. TERMINATION .................................................................................................. 13 

15. CHOICE OF LAW .............................................................................................. 14 

16. PARTIAL INVALIDITY ....................................................................................... 14 

17. BENEFIT OF AGREEMENT .............................................................................. 14 

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION .......................................................... 14 

EXHIBIT A:  ABAG STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES ................................................. 1 

EXHIBIT B:  EMPLOYEE TRANSITION PLAN ............................................................ 20 

EXHIBIT B1:  MTC POSITIONS OFFERED TO ABAG LEGACY EMPLOYEES ......... 31 

EXHIBIT B2:  MTC VACATION ACCRUAL CHART..................................................... 32 

EXHIBIT C: MTC ORGANIZATION CHART ................................................................ 33 

 
 

Item 10



 

2 
 

CONTRACT FOR SERVICES 

THIS CONTRACT FOR SERVICES (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the __ 
day of Month, 20___, by and between the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (herein called 
“MTC”), a regional transportation planning agency established pursuant to California Government Code 
§ 66500 and the Association of Bay Area Governments, (herein called “ABAG”), a Council of 
Governments established by agreement among its members pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers 
Act, California Government Code Sections 6500, et seq. 

RECITALS 

MTC is the federally designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (“MPO”), pursuant to 
Section 134(d) of Title 23 of the United States Code (USC) for the nine-county San Francisco Bay Area 
region (the “Bay Area” or “region”). 

ABAG was created in 1961 and serves as the Council of Governments for the 101 cities/towns 
and nine counties that make up the region with powers and responsibilities granted to it under the laws 
of the State of California. 

In November 2015 MTC and ABAG agreed to jointly retain Management Partners to conduct a 
merger study and to propose a merger implementation plan.  

At the June 2016 meeting of the ABAG Executive Board, it adopted Resolution 07-16 stating its 
support for merger options 4 and 7 and their respective implementation action plans as presented by 
Management Partners, with the ABAG Executive Board acknowledging moving forward with merger 
option 7.  

On May 25, 2016 MTC adopted Resolution No. 4245 approving an implementation plan dated 
May 17, 2016 for merger option 7. 

ABAG and MTC have concluded that this Agreement is the preferred means for ABAG and MTC 
to jointly pursue their respective missions and to carry out their respective responsibilities for the benefit 
of the San Francisco Bay region.  

Item 10



 

3 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. DEFINITIONS 

ABAG is a joint powers agency that serves as the region’s Council of Governments with the 
statutory responsibilities and powers granted by the California Legislature including, but not limited to, 
(a) responsibility for preparation of portions of the region’s sustainable communities strategy and (b) 
authority to adopt the regional housing need allocation (RHNA) plan. The ABAG Executive Board 
and/or its standing committees and Local Collaboration Program governing boards are referenced 
from time to time in this Agreement in order to represent the interests of ABAG. 

ABAG Legacy Employees means the individuals identified in Section [5] of this Agreement, 
each of whom, as of the Effective Date, is currently an employee of  ABAG and is expected, in 
accordance with the Employee Transition Plan, to accept an offer of employment at MTC. 

Effective Date means the effective date of this Agreement as set forth above. 

Employee Transition Plan means the plan for transitioning ABAG Legacy Employees to 
 employment at MTC as described in Exhibit [B] to this Agreement. 

Enterprise Board means the governing board of a LCP. 

Local Collaboration Program (LCP) means, individually or collectively as the context may 
require, each of the following entities created by ABAG in collaboration with local governments to 
implement a regional program: 

Bay Area Regional Energy Network (BayREN); 

San Francisco Estuary Partnership (SFEP);  

San Francisco Bay Trail (BayTrail) and Water Trail (Water Trail); 

ABAG Finance Authority for Nonprofit Corporations (FAN); 

ABAG Finance Authority (ABAG FA); 

ABAG PLAN Corporation (PLAN); 

ABAG Publicly Owned Energy Resources (POWER); 

Shared Agency Risk Pool (SHARP); and 

San Francisco Bay Restoration Authority (SFBRA). 

MTC is a regional transportation planning agency established pursuant to California Government 
Code § 66500 and is the federally designated Metropolitan Planning Organization (“MPO”), pursuant 
to Section 134(d) of Title 23 of the United States Code (USC) for the nine-county San Francisco Bay 
Area region. 

MTC ICAP Rate means the indirect cost allocation plan, as approved by the appropriate MTC 
oversight agency.  

Item 10



 

4 
 

Operating Budget and Work Plan means each annual operating budget and work plan for ABAG 
prepared and submitted by MTC in accordance with Section  [4] of this Agreement and approved by 
the ABAG Executive Board and, to the extent applicable, each LCP governing body. Each operating 
budget and work plan will describe, in detail, the scope of work to be performed by MTC and the 
compensation to be paid to MTC for services rendered. 

Transitioned Employee means each ABAG Legacy Employee who, after cessation of his or her 
employment at ABAG, voluntarily accepts an offer of  employment at MTC and becomes an employee 
of MTC. 

 
2. PRESERVATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND MISSIONS OF ABAG AND THE LCPs 

The parties agree to use their best efforts to preserve, serve and secure the statutory powers 
and responsibilities of ABAG and the mission of ABAG as the region’s Council of Governments 
following the Effective Date, and similarly to preserve, serve and secure the respective goals and 
missions of the LCPs. The activities and responsibilities described in this section should be approached 
in a manner that acknowledges that cities and counties are important partners in regional planning and 
that regional land use planning must be coordinated with local land use planning in order to succeed in 
building high quality neighborhoods.  

A list of ABAG’s statutory responsibilities is attached as Exhibit [A] and may be revised to reflect 
changes to those responsibilities and powers made by the California Legislature without formal 
amendment of this contract. To ensure that the services provided under this Agreement serve the goals 
and missions of ABAG and the LCPs, the parties agree as follows: 

2.1 The Executive Director of MTC will perform the following duties and functions with respect to 
ABAG and the LCPs: 

(a) attend all regular meetings of the ABAG Executive Board and key committees 
 (Administrative Committee, Finance and Personnel Committee, Legislation and Government 
 Operations Committee, Regional Planning Committee) unless excused in advance by the 
 President of such board or chair of the committee, or the attendance of another MTC senior 
 manager is mutually agreed upon; 

(b) attend meetings of the LCP governing boards at which Operating Budgets and Work 
 Plans are adopted by and for the LCPs; and 

(c) ensure that the approved Operating Budgets and Work Plans for ABAG and for each 
 LCP will be implemented as approved, or as modified by ABAG or the LCP, as applicable; 

 (d) attend the ABAG General Assembly(ies). 

2.2 The Executive Director, the Deputy Executive Director for Local Government Services, the 
Deputy Executive Director of Policy, and other members of the MTC senior executive team will perform 
the following duties and functions on behalf of ABAG and the LCPs with the help of other appropriate 
MTC staff as needed: 

 (a) keep local elected officials, government officials and stakeholders informed on key issues of 
concern to the Council of Governments including land use, housing, economic development, social 

Item 10



 

5 
 

equity, resilience, transportation, open space, energy efficiency, RHNA, Plan Bay Area, and ABAG’s 
Local Collaboration Programs  in part, by: 
 
    (i)  meeting regularly with City Managers and Planning Directors at the county level; 
    (ii) meeting with elected officials at regular countywide meetings of mayors and city     
                   council members; 
    (iii) meeting with ABAG delegates at the county level on a regular basis.; and  
             (iv) conducting a robust stakeholder engagement process. 
  
 (b) serve as the primary links between ABAG’s Executive Board, Committees and Local 
Collaboration Programs (LCP) and the MTC executive team and staff regarding issues such as Plan 
Bay Area, RHNA, housing, land use and LCP programs. 
 
 (c) work with appropriate MTC staff to help coordinate the work of MTC staff and ABAG 
Executive Board related to creating the Annual Budget & Work Plan for ABAG and its Local 
Collaboration Programs. 
 
2.3  The members of ABAG and LCP’s and the members of the policy bodies of ABAG and of the 
LCPs will continue to have access to, and ability to interact with, the MTC staff who provide services to 
them, that is commensurate with their respective roles as policymakers and staff.  
 
 
2.4  ABAG shall provide written reports to the Commission regarding the quality and manner in which 
ABAG services, programs and work products are delivered, observations on the potential reasons for 
any deficiencies and suggestions for improvements. The Commission will respond to such reports 
within 60 calendar days and take them into account when reviewing MTC’s satisfactory execution of its 
duties under the contract. 

3. SERVICES 

3.1 Standard of Professional Care   

In the performance of services under this Agreement, MTC will exercise professional care, skill, 
efficiency, and judgment commensurate with that of consultants with expertise in providing such 
services. 

3.2 Operating Budgets and Work Plans 

Except as otherwise identified in this Agreement or the applicable Operating Budget and Work 
Plan, MTC will assume responsibility for and perform all services and functions necessary to perform 
ABAG’s annual Work Plan. MTC and ABAG will develop, present, seek approval for, and implement 
Operating Budgets and Work Plans as provided in Section [4]. 

3.3 Financial Services 

All ABAG finance and accounting functions, including the treasury function, will be assigned to 
MTC to be completed within the period from the execution date to a year thereafter, in such fashion to 
close out the transition of all legacy systems in an orderly manner for MTC finance. 

Item 10



 

6 
 

ABAG and MTC will develop a transition plan for all ABAG financial systems, including but not 
limited to: (1) treasury; (2) general ledger, including accounts payable and receivable; (3) budget; and 
(4) payroll. The transition will occur and MTC will be responsible for all financial systems on or about 
July 1, 2017. 

MTC rules for administration, personnel, payroll, employee relations, purchasing, contracting 
and other business operations shall apply to the services provided here under, to the extent to which 
they are compatible with ABAG policies.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, ABAG contracts exceeding 
$50,000 or such other amount dictated by the ABAG Executive Board, shall be approved by the ABAG 
Executive Board. 

 

MTC will provide necessary financial reports prior to each ABAG Finance and Personnel 
Committee meeting, provided, however that such reports shall not be required more often than on a 
monthly basis. 

3.4 Legal Services 

The MTC Legal Department will provide general legal support services to ABAG and the LCPs. 

(a) Potential Legal Conflicts of Interest. If ABAG, a LCP, or MTC determines in good faith 
that an actual or potential conflict of interest would exist if the MTC Legal Department 
were to provide legal services on a specific matter, then, unless the actual or potential 
conflict of interest is waived by the affected entities, then the affected entity whose matter 
gave rise to the actual or potential conflict of interest will obtain separate legal counsel. 
MTC shall not withhold consent or resources to hire outside counsel for ABAG in the 
event a legal conflict of interest; provided that ABAG independently obtains such separate 
outside counsel. 

(b) Obtaining Outside Specialized Legal Services. ABAG or a LCP may request that the MTC 
Legal Department retain outside legal counsel to provide specialized legal services. The 
MTC Legal Department shall promptly respond to any such request in writing by either (i) 
agreeing to engage outside legal counsel and commencing to work with ABAG or the 
LCP, as applicable, to retain such counsel on terms and conditions acceptable to MTC, 
the MTC Legal Department, and the requesting party or (ii) declining to engage outside 
legal counsel and providing a brief explanation of the reason(s) such request is being 
denied. 

(c) Nothing in this Agreement prevents or impairs the ability of ABAG or the LCP to directly 
retain outside legal counsel, at its own respective expense. 

 
 
3.5 Progress Reports 

MTC will provide to the ABAG Executive Board and to the governing bodies of the LCPs quarterly 
progress reports in form and substance reasonably acceptable to those bodies, detailing the services 
provided by MTC in the preceding fiscal quarter as well as major activities anticipated in the coming 
quarter. 

Item 10



 

7 
 

4. OPERATING BUDGETS AND WORK PLANS; STAFFING 

4.1 Development and Approval 

No later than February January 1 of each year, the program managers of each program that is 
implemented, in whole or in part, for ABAG and of each program implemented for the LCPs will develop 
a schedule for the development of the Budget and Work Program for their respective program for the 
next fiscal year. Each schedule will take into account the processes and timelines for the applicable 
MTC, ABAG and LCP policy bodies to approve a Budget and Work Plan.  

Each Budget and Work Program will include all of the following that is applicable to that program for 
that year: 

(a) description of programmatic activities for that fiscal year; 

(b) proposals for expansion of a current programmatic activity; 

(c) proposals for a new program (see section 4.2 regarding funding new programs); 

(d) description of programmatic activities that will be discontinued in that fiscal year; 

(e) a budget showing the revenue(s) needed to support the proposed Work Plan for that budget 
year; 

(f) identification of the source of the revenue(s) described in subsection (e) and 

(g) any contingency plan(s) needed to address programmatic uncertainties or budgetary 
shortfalls. 

Each Budget and Work Plan that is approved by all the applicable MTC, ABAG and LCP policy 
bodies will be implemented in accordance with section 4.2. The Deputy Executive Director for Local 
Government Services will be responsible for securing the approval of the LCP policy bodies. 

If a Budget and Work Plan is not approved by all the applicable MTC, ABAG and LCP policy 
bodies, the prior year’s Budget and Work Plan will remain in effect until the new Budget and Work Plan 
is approved.  The parties may at their discretion use the dispute resolution procedures contained in 
Section 13 to resolve any differences on proposed new Budget and Work Plans. 

Following consultation with ABAG and the FAN Executive Committee, MTC will administer the 
current FAN portfolio in runout mode such that there will be no new debt issuance under the FAN name. 
During the FAN runout mode, MTC will evaluate the current FAN debt portfolio for refinancing 
opportunities and make recommendations to the FAN Executive Committee to authorize refinancing of 
debt issues that meet credit and economic conditions developed and approved by the FAN Executive 
Committee. The consolidated staff working for MTC will, no later than ______,  create a successor 
ABAG-affiliated conduit financing authority, which shall be a new legal entity with a new name and a 
new governing body (the ABAG Executive Board or its designee), to continue to meet the conduit 
financing needs of the region and of ABAG’s member jurisdictions. 

4.2 Revenues 

Item 10



 

8 
 

The ABAG Executive Board and the LCP governing bodies will collaborate and agree on annual work 
plans and budgets that identify existing revenues needed to support the current work plans and 
obligations set forth in Section 4.1. As part of this annual process, the ABAG Executive Board and the 
LCP governing bodies will make best efforts and adopt strategies to identify and secure any additional 
revenues that may be needed to support the anticipated work plans and obligations set forth in Section 
4.1 for that fiscal year. With regard to any new programs proposed by ABAG, if that program is one that 
solely supports ABAG’s services, programs and mission, ABAG will be responsible for securing the 
funding for that program. If a new program is one that is jointly proposed by ABAG and MTC, the two 
agencies will agree on how to jointly fund the program. 

4.3 MTC Staffing 

The MTC employees identified as part of the Budget approval process (which shall contain an 
organization chart) will be responsible, commencing as of the Effective Date, for providing the services 
under this Agreement, both to ABAG and to the LCPs.  Except as provided in section 6, MTC may 
remove, replace or add to the list of MTC employees below at any time as needed in the judgment of 
MTC. 

5. COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 

5.1 Compensation 

For the first fiscal year in which services under this Agreement commence, ABAG will pay to 
MTC compensation equal to the amounts scheduled to be paid under pre-existing adopted work plans 
and budgets for ABAG in that fiscal year. 

For all subsequent fiscal years, ABAG will compensate MTC based upon amounts specified in 
each of the approved Operating Budget and Work Plan for such fiscal year. 

Compensation structures may include, subject to budget discussions between MTC and ABAG: 

(a) total or partial cost recovery by MTC, based upon a breakdown of personnel costs, direct 
costs, and indirect costs; 

(b) total funding by MTC of select entities or programs; 

(c) subsidy of select entities and programs by MTC; 

(d) subsidy of select entities and programs by ABAG; and/or 

(e) subsidy of programs by one or more LCP. 

 
 
5.2 Overhead and Administrative Costs 

The overhead and administrative rate applied to work performed by MTC staff will be the MTC 
ICAP Rate except for the San Francisco Estuary Partnership (SFEP) and as the parties may otherwise 
agree in the applicable Budget and Work Plan or under section 5.1. 

5.3 Payment Procedure and Method 

Item 10



 

9 
 

ABAG will compensate MTC promptly in accordance with the payment schedule set forth in each 
Operating Budget and Work Plan, without netting or set-off except as agreed to in writing, in advance, 
by MTC in its sole discretion.   

Payment to MTC will be made by wire transfer. 

 

6. EMPLOYMENT OF ABAG LEGACY PERSONNEL 

ABAG Legacy Employees are expected to become employees of MTC in accordance with the 
Employee Transition Plan.  Each Transitioned Employee’s general duties and responsibilities will be 
equivalent to his or her prior duties and responsibilities as an ABAG employee. 

ABAG represents and warrants that: (a) there are no current open disciplinary actions related to 
employees proposed to transition to MTC and (b) the information regarding employee benefits, 
including its CalPERS account, retiree medical benefits, and sick account accruals provided by ABAG 
and inserted in the Transition Plan is complete and accurate. 

The following individuals are hereby identifiedExhibit B1 identifies as ABAG Legacy Employees.: 

[Insert List or attach schedule – include name, current ABAG title and program affiliation] 

6.1 Pension Obligations and Other Employee Benefits 

ABAG Legacy Employees are currently represented by the Service Employees’ International 
Union (SEIU), Local 1021, and are part of the California Public Employees’ Retirement System 
(CalPERS).  ABAG and MTC will cooperate and coordinate their discussions with SEIU Local 1021 and 
CalPERS to facilitate the transition of ABAG Legacy Employees from ABAG employment to MTC 
employment. 

The parties hereby agree with respect to any and all Transitioned Employees that ABAG shall 
have no direct control over any such Transitioned Employees.  Such Transitioned Employees shall be 
treated for all purposes as common law employees of MTC. 

ABAG agrees that it will not at any time during the term of this Agreement take any action to 
terminate its existing contractual relationship with CalPERS and will take all steps necessary to maintain 
its existing contractual relationship with CalPERS, including but not limited to making annual payments 
to CalPERS as required by under such contractual arrangements. 

In the event CalPERS should make a determination contrary to the intent of this Agreement in 
respect to the common law status of the Transferred Employees, MTC and ABAG agree to make each 
other whole such that the final financial consequences to each party of the CalPERS determination 
shall reflect the financial assumptions made at the time the contract was executed. 

 

6.2 Changes in Employment Status 

During the first fiscal year after the Effective Date, prior to making any employment change 
(including but not limited to termination, reassignment, or promotion) with respect to any Transitioned 

Item 10



 

10 
 

Employee, MTC will provide the ABAG Executive Board with 30 days prior written notice of the intended 
change before any action is taken. No Transitioned Employee may be terminated, reassigned, or 
promoted during such period without prior written notice to the ABAG Executive Board and the affected 
LCP, if applicable. 

6.3 Employee Transition Plan  

MTC will follow the terms of the Employee Transition Plan set forth in Exhibit [B], which sets 
forth various one-time provisions applicable to Transitioned Employees. 

6.4 Plan for Staff Consolidation 

Transitioned Employees will transition to MTC by May July 1, 2017. 

6.5 LCP Staffing and Officers 

ABAG agrees to make best efforts to work with the LCPs to formally modify any relevant 
agreements to allow staffing at the LCPs to be contracted to MTC. In those instances in which one or 
more former ABAG staff members serve in “dual capacities,” sitting as officers of LCPs by virtue of their 
former positions within ABAG, all reasonable efforts will be made to formally modify relevant 
agreements or otherwise put legal arrangements in place such that MTC staff, will serve as officers of 
such LCPs. 

6.6 SFEP Staff 

The current existing staff, with the exception of the three staff performing permit work for the 
Regional Water Quality Control Board, will move the location of their employment from 1515 Clay 
Street, Suite 1400, Oakland, CA to 375 Beale Street, San Francisco, CA, at such time as the space at 
375 Beale Street is ready for occupancy. MTC will pay for the costs of moving the SFEP staff to 375 
Beale Street. 

6.7 Pension and Medical Benefits 

ABAG will retain all liability for meeting its annual obligation for outstanding CalPERS pension 
obligations and retiree medical benefits, and will make meeting such obligations a budgetary priority. 

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF MTC PERSONNEL 

7.1 Personnel  

Attached as Exhibit [DC] is the MTC organization chart identifying all of the employees of the 
consolidated staff as of the Effective Date. This organization chart will be updated annually or as 
changes are made so that the ABAG policy bodies and LCP governing boards have up to date 
information on people staffing their programs.  

8. GOVERNANCE STUDY 

MTC and ABAG agree to conduct a governance study on the ABAG LCPs and to present the 
findings to the ABAG Executive Board and appropriate LCP Boards for consideration.  The objective of 
the governance study will be to increase accountability to the ABAG Executive Board and efficiency in 
the operation of the LCPs. 

Item 10



 

11 
 

9. RELEASE OF CLAIMS 

ABAG, the LCPs, and MTC mutually agree to indemnify and hold each other harmless for any 
breach of this Agreement, and agree to release any and all claims between or amongst each other 
arising out of this agreement. 

10. INSURANCE AND RISK ALLOCATION  

10.1 Engagement of Consultant(s) 

MTC and ABAG will jointly engage a professional risk manager and an insurance broker (who 
may be the same party) to develop a proposed allocation of legal risk (claims from third parties) between 
and among MTC, ABAG and the LCPs during the term of the Agreement. The process for selecting 
and engaging such party or parties will be as follows: 

(a) Not more than 60 days after the Effective Date, MTC will initiate, by procurement 
procedures employed by MTC in the ordinary course of business, a request for 
proposals/qualifications (the “Solicitation”) for the services described above and to assist 
and advise MTC in procuring and implementing the policies and practices set forth in 
subsection 10.2. 

(b) MTC staff will review responses to the Solicitation and evaluate them based on factors 
such as responsiveness, qualifications/reputation, and cost, and will select one or more 
preferred providers. 

(c) MTC staff will present the choice of the selected provider(s) to the MTC Administration 
Committee and the ABAG Finance and Personnel Committee for approval. 

10.2 Insurance Policies 

Upon retention of the consultant retained pursuant to subsection 10.1, MTC will work with the 
consultant to undertake the following: 

(a) ABAG, the LCPs, and MTC will be insured under one blanket comprehensive general 
liability policy, professional errors and omissions policy (if applicable) and crime and 
fidelity policy.  ABAG, the LCPs, and MTC will be insured under separate public officials 
and directors and officers errors and omissions policy 

(b) The allocation of the costs of deductibles under the policy described in the immediately 
preceding paragraph will be determined on a case by case bases under criteria and 
processes to be agreed upon by the parties after the Effective Date; 

(c) MTC will be insured under a separate employment practices policy; and 

(d) The costs of any uninsured claims made against either of the parties will be allocated on 
a case by case basis under criteria and processes to be agreed upon by the parties after 
the Effective Date. 

10.3 Business and Programmatic Risks 

Item 10



 

12 
 

The parties agree that existing business and programmatic risks will remain with the entity 
responsible for the relevant business or program. 

11. NOTICES 

All notices or other communications to either party by the other will be deemed given when made 
in writing and delivered, mailed, emailed, or faxed to such party at their respective addresses as follows: 

To MTC: Attention: Alix Bockelman 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
375 Beale Street, Suite 800 
San Francisco, CA  946105 
Email: ABockelman@mtc.ca.gov 

To ABAG: Attention: ABAG President 
                 ABAG Vice President 
                 Chair, ABAG Finance Committee 
                 ABAG Administrative Committee           

members 
address: home address for each person 
Email: email address for each person 
cc: MTC Deputy Dir. for Local Gov’t Services 

  

12. DURATION OF AGREEMENT 

This agreement and the services hereunder will continue unless terminated in accordance with 
the terms herein. 

13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

(a) ABAG and MTC shall use good faith efforts to resolve all disputes informally.  In the event 
such efforts are unsuccessful, either party may request that MTC provide a written 
determination as to the proposed resolution of the dispute.  Within 30 calendar days of 
the request, the MTC Administration Committee shall provide a written determination as 
to the dispute, including the basis for its decision.   

Upon the ABAG Administrative Committee’s written acceptance of the MTC 
Administration Committee’s determination, the Agreement may be modified and the 
determination implemented. 
 
If the MTC Administration Committee’s determination is not accepted by the ABAG 
Administrative Committee, the matter shall promptly be referred to the joint MTC board 
and the ABAG Executive Board for consideration. 
 
If the joint MTC board and ABAG Executive Board cannot agree, they shall retain a 
facilitator to assist them in reaching a joint resolution. 
 

(b) For disputes described in subsection (c), if the joint MTC board and ABAG Executive 
Board cannot agree, said dispute shall be referred to binding arbitration using a JAMS 

Item 10



 

13 
 

binding arbitration panel of three (3) individuals with Governmental/Public Agency 
expertise selected in accordance with JAMS Rule 15 and using JAMS’ Expedited 
Procedures without right of appeal. 

(c) Binding arbitration, as described in subsection (b), may only be used for disputes that 
meet the following criteria: 

(i) limited to the interpretation of this Agreement and 
(i)(ii) do not arise out of, or have potential impacts on, the exercise of policy 

perogatives, statutory powers or responsibilities, of either or both ABAG and/or MTC. 
 

(b) If the joint MTC board and ABAG Executive Board cannot agree, the dispute shall be 
referred to binding arbitration using an arbitration board supplied by JAMS.  Each party 
shall bear the costs and expenses incurred by it in connection with such binding 
arbitration.  The cost shall be shared equally; provided, however, that should the 
arbitrator(s) find specific fault by one party, then that party shall bear the entire cost. The 
arbitration shall determine the final outcome of the dispute, including whether and when 
a termination of this Agreement may occur. 

 
 

14. TERMINATION 

14.1  Termination for Cause 

If (i) MTC does not deliver the work products specified in this Agreement in accordance with the 
mutually agreed upon delivery schedule or fails to perform in the manner called for in the Agreement, 
as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, or (ii) if MTC or ABAG fail to comply with any other material 
provision of the Agreement, then (A) in the first instance under (i) ABAG may terminate this Agreement 
for default and (B) in the second instance under (ii) MTC may respectively terminate for ABAG’s failure 
or ABAG may respectively terminate for MTC’s failure.   

Termination shall be effected by serving a thirty (30) day advance written notice of termination on the 
affected party, setting forth in detail the manner in which the affected party is in default. If the affected 
party does not cure the breach or describe to the complaining party’s satisfaction a plan for curing the 
breach within the thirty (30) day period, commencing on the date of receipt of the notice (“Cure Period”), 
the complaining party may terminate the Agreement for default, subject to the procedures set forth in 
Section 13, which shall first require dispute resolution as set forth in Section 13(a), and if unsuccessful, 
arbitration as set forth in Section 13(b). The final decision in arbitration shall determine whether and 
when termination shall occur.  In the case of (i), if MTC is working diligently to cure the alleged failure 
of performance, the parties will extend the Cure Period by mutual agreement.  The Cure Period may 
be extended a maximum of six (6) thirty day periods. 

If MTC’s failure to perform resulted from unforeseeable causes beyond the control of MTC, such as a 
strike, fire, flood, earthquake or other event that is not the fault of, or is beyond the control of MTC, 
ABAG, after setting up a new delivery or performance schedule, shall allow MTC to continue work. 

14.2   Notice of Termination   

Notice will be given by Certified Mail or Personal Service to the address specified in Section 11. 

Item 10



 

14 
 

14.3  Payment for Services Rendered Following Notice of Termination   

MTC will be compensated for all work performed up to and including the date of termination of 
this Agreement, notwithstanding the delivery of any notice under this Section 14, provided that MTC 
will not be compensated for any work that is under dispute and identified in the notice provided under 
section 14.1. 

 

15. CHOICE OF LAW 

All questions pertaining to the validity and interpretation of the Agreement will be determined in 
accordance with the laws of the State of California applicable to agreements made and to be performed 
within the State. 

 

16. PARTIAL INVALIDITY 

If any term or condition of this Agreement is found to be illegal or unenforceable, such term or 
condition will be deemed stricken and the remaining terms and conditions will remain valid and in full 
force and effect. 

17. BENEFIT OF AGREEMENT 

The Agreement will bind and benefit the parties hereto and their heirs, successors, and permitted 
assigns. 

18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION 

This Agreement, including any attachments, constitutes the complete agreement between the 
parties and supersedes any prior written or oral communications. This Agreement may be modified or 
amended only by written instrument executed by both ABAG and MTC. In the event of a conflict 
between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the attachments, the terms of this Agreement 
will prevail. 

Item 10



 

15 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed by the parties hereto as of the day 
and year first written above. 

METROPOLITAN TRANSPORTATION 
COMMISSION 

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA 
GOVERNMENTS 

 __________________________________   __________________________________  
Jake Mackenzie, Chair Julie Pierce, President 

 

 

Item 10



ABAG Statutory Roles & Responsibilities 
Page 1 

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS1 
Statutory Roles and Responsibilities 

1. Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Government Code (GC) Secs. 6500 – 6539)
- GC Sec. 6502: If authorized by their legislative or other governing bodies, two or more
public agencies by agreement may jointly exercise any power common to the
contracting parties.
- ABAG Joint Powers Agreement (attachment A), Section 1: members join for
purposes articulated in the ABAG Bylaws
- ABAG Bylaws (attachment B), Article IV: enumerates the powers that ABAG’s
members jointly exercise through ABAG

2. Metropolitan Transportation Commission Act (GC Secs. 66500 - 66536.2)
- GC Sec. 66503(c): ABAG appointment to MTC
- GC Sec. 66509(c): MTC shall consider the regional plans prepared and adopted by ABAG
- GC Sec, 66521(D): MTC shall negotiate equitable agreements with, among others, ABAG
for the contribution of funds or services for the general support of the activities of MTC
- GC Sec. 66531(c)(3): county transportation plans may consider projections of economic
and population growth from ABAG

3. San Francisco Bay Conservation And Development Commission Act (GC Secs. 66600 –
66694)
- GC Sec. 66620(i): 4 ABAG appointments to BCDC
- GC Sec. 66631: BCDC shall cooperate with ABAG and make maximum use of its data and
information

4. San Francisco Bay Area Water Trail Act (GC Secs. 66690 – 66694)
- GC Sec. 66694(b): BCDC shall collaborate with ABAG and the State Coastal Conservancy in
developing the Water Trail.

5. SB 375
- GC Sec. 65080(b)(2)(B) – (C)(i):
(B) Each metropolitan planning organization shall prepare a sustainable communities
strategy, subject to the requirements of Part 450 of Title 23 of, and Part 93 of Title 40 of,
the Code of Federal Regulations, including the requirement to utilize the most recent
planning assumptions considering local general plans and other factors. The sustainable
communities strategy shall (i) identify the general location of uses, residential densities, and
building intensities within the region, (ii) identify areas within the region sufficient to house
all the population of the region, including all economic segments of the population, over the
course of the planning period of the regional transportation plan taking into account net
migration into the region, population growth, household formation and employment

1 Created pursuant to Joint Powers Act, GC Sections 6500, et seq. 

EXHIBIT A:  ABAG STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES

Item 10



ABAG Statutory Roles & Responsibilities 
Page 2 

growth, (iii) identify areas within the region sufficient to house an eight-year projection of 
the regional housing need for the region pursuant to Section 65584, (iv) identify a 
transportation network to service the transportation needs of the region, (v) gather and 
consider the best practically available scientific information regarding resource areas and 
farmland in the region as defined in subdivisions (a) and (b) of Section 65080.01, (vi) 
consider the state housing goals specified in Sections 65580 and 65581, (vii) set forth a 
forecasted development pattern for the region, which, when integrated with the 
transportation network, and other transportation measures and policies, will reduce the 
greenhouse gas emissions from automobiles and light trucks to achieve, if there is a feasible 
way to do so, the greenhouse gas emission reduction targets approved by the state board, 
and (viii) allow the regional transportation plan to comply with Section 176 of the federal 
Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 7506). 
 
(C) (i) Within the jurisdiction of the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, as defined by 
Section 66502, the Association of Bay Area Governments shall be responsible for clauses (i), 
(ii), (iii), (v), and (vi) of subparagraph (B), the Metropolitan Transportation Commission shall 
be responsible for clauses (iv) and (viii) of subparagraph (B); and the Association of Bay Area 
Governments and the Metropolitan Transportation Commission shall jointly be responsible 
for clause (vii) of subparagraph (B). 
 

6. Housing Elements [GC 65580 - 65589.8] 
- GC Secs. 65584 – 65584.1: Regional Housing Needs Allocation process 
 

7. Joint Policy Committee (BARC) [GC Sec. 66536 – 66536.2] 
Statute mandating the creation of the Joint Policy Committee, now the Bay Area Regional 
Collaborative  
 

8. San Francisco Bay Area Water Emergency Transportation Response and Disaster Recovery 
Act [GC Secs 66540 - 66540.69] 
- GC Sec. 66540.32: In developing the plans described in subdivisions (a) and (b), the 
authority shall cooperate to the fullest extent possible with the Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission, the Office of Emergency Services, the Association of Bay Area 
Governments, and the San Francisco Bay Conservation and Development Commission. To 
avoid duplication of work, the authority shall make maximum use of data and information 
available from the planning programs of the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, the 
Office of Emergency Services, the Association of Bay Area Governments, the San Francisco 
Bay Conservation and Development Commission, the cities and counties in the San 
Francisco Bay area, and other public and private planning agencies 
 

9. San Francisco Bay Restoration Authority Act [GC Secs. 66700 - 66706] 
- GC Sec. 66703(b): ABAG appoints members of the Governing Board of the Authority. 
- GC Sec. 66704(m): The Authority may use staff provided by ABAG. 
 

10. State Coastal Conservancy [Public Resources Code (PRC) Secs. 31000 - 31410] 

Item 10



ABAG Statutory Roles & Responsibilities 
Page 3 

- PRC Secs. 31163(d)(3): To advance the preparation of the plan, the State Coastal 
Conservancy shall help coordinate a collaborative partnership with [BCDC], the Association 
of Bay Area Governments . . . 
 

11. San Francisco Bay Area Bikeway System [PRC Secs. 5850 - 5851] 
- PRC Secs. 5850: The Association of Bay Area Governments shall develop and adopt a plan 
and implementation program, including a financing plan, for a continuous recreational 
corridor which will extend around the perimeter of San Francisco and San Pablo Bays (now 
known as the Bay Trail). 
 

12. Hazardous Waste Control [Health & Safety Code (H&SC)Secs. 25100 - 25259] 
- H&SC Sec. 25135.3: The Association of Bay Area Governments, the Southern California 
Association of Governments, the Sacramento Area Council of Governments, and the 
Association of Monterey Bay Area Governments may, at the discretion of their governing 
boards, prepare a regional hazardous waste management plan to serve as a resource 
document. 
 

13. Bay Area Air Quality Management District [H&SC Secs. 40200 - 40276] 
- H&SC Sec. 40233(a)(2):  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, [BAAQMD] shall 
adopt, implement, and enforce transportation control measures for the attainment of state 
or federal ambient air quality standards, in accordance with all of the following procedures . 
. . The Metropolitan Transportation Commission, in cooperation with [BAAQMD], the 
Association of Bay Area Governments, local entities, and employers, shall develop and 
adopt a plan to control emissions from transportation sources . . . 

Item 10



ABAG Statutory Roles & Responsibilities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 
A 

Item 10



AGREEMENT 

WITH THE 

AS SOC IA TION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into by and between the ________ of 

_____________ and those county and city governments within the counties of 

Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San Francisco, San Mateo, Santa Clara, Solano, and Sonoma, 

other than the of , who, either before ------------- -------------
or after this date, become signatories hereto: witnesseth: 

WHEREAS, there is a demonstrated need for the establishment of an association of county and 

city governments within the San Francisco Bay Area to provide a forum for discussion and study of 

metropolitan area problems of mutual interest and concern to the counties and cities, and to facilitate 

the development of policy and action recommendations for the solution of such problems; and 

WHEREAS, Title 1, Division 7, Chapter 5 of the Government Code of the State of California 

authorizes the joint exercise by agreement of two or more public agencies of any power common to 

them; and 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto possess in common the power to study, discuss and recommend 

policies for the solution of metropolitan area problems of direct concern to the performance of their 

constitutional and statutory functions and to join associations and expend public funds for these 

purposes. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual terms, covenants and conditions herein 

agreed, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Purpose of Agreement. The purpose of this Agreement shall be to provide for the 

participation by the ________ of ___________ , as a member of the 

Item 10



Page 2 - Agreement 

Association of Bay Area Governments (hereinafter referred to as the Association), jointly with the 

other county and city governments which become parties hereto in accordance with the Bylaws of said 

Association, which are attached hereto, and incorporated herein as part of this Agreement; provided, 

however, that notwithstanding the provisions of Article IX of the Bylaws, the budget for operations 

during the period ending July 1, 1961, shall be prepared and adopted by the Executive Committee in an 

amount not to exceed $55,000; and assessments therefor shall be imposed by the Executive 

Committee, such assessments not to exceed the amounts that would have been paid by each member if 

all eligible jurisdictions had become members of the Association. 

2. Agency to Administer the Agreement. The Association as constituted by this 

Agreement is designated as the agency to administer this Agreement. 

3. Powers of Association. The Association shall have the power, in its own name, to make 

and enter into contracts; to employ agents and employees; to acquire, hold and dispose of property; and 

to incur debts, liabilities or obligations necessary for the accomplishment of the purposes of this 

Agreement. The exercise by the Association of the power to sue or be sued in its own name shall be 

subject to the restrictions on the exercise of such power applicable to the County of Alameda. 

4. Contributions and Payments. Contributions in the form of yearly membership 

assessments shall be made annually by the parties to this Agreement from the treasuries or other 

available public funds of the parties for the purpose of defraying the costs of providing the annual 

benefits accruing directly to each party from this Agreement. All such payments of public funds shall 

be paid to and disbursed by the Association, which shall be strictly accountable for all funds and 

responsible for reporting to the parties hereto concerning all receipts and disbursements. 

5. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended at any time by the written agreement of 

all parties to it, or by amendment of the Bylaws in the manner provided therein. 

Item 10



Page 3 - Agreement 

6. Duration of Agreement. This Agreement shall continue in effect until it is rescinded or 

terminated in the manner provided in the Bylaws; provided that the termination ofthe Agreement or 

withdrawal from membership in the Association by individual counties or cities shall not operate to 

terminate this Agreement. 

7. Disposition of Property upon Termination. Upon termination ofthis Agreement, any 

property acquired by the Association under this Agreement shall be distributed among the parties 

hereto in accordance with the respective contributions of each of said parties to the cost of said 

property. 

8. Disposition of Funds upon Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, any 

money in possession of the Association after the payment of all costs, expenses and charges validly 

incurred under this Agreement shall be returned to the parties in proportion to their contribution 

determined as of the time of termination. 

9. Execution of Agreement. This Agreement shall be effective upon its execution by five 

(5) counties and forty-two (42) cities. 

10. EXECUTED BY THE __________ of ________ _ 

thls __________ dayof _________________ ,l9 ___ 

BY 

ATTEST ------------------

Item 10



ABAG Statutory Roles & Responsibilities 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 
B 

Item 10



-1- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

BYLAWS OF 
THE 

ASSOCIATION OF BAY AREA GOVERNMENTS 
As Amended April 23, 2009 

 
 

ARTICLE I.  PURPOSE 
 
 The Association of Bay Area Governments (hereinafter "Association") is hereby created as a separate 
entity established by agreement among its members pursuant to the Joint Exercise of Powers Act, California 
Government Code Sections 6500, et seq. (hereinafter "Act").  The Association is organized for the purposes of 
establishing a permanent forum for discussion and study of regional and subregional problems of interest and 
concern to the counties and cities of the San Francisco Bay Area, developing policies and actions, and providing 
services and undertaking actions addressing such problems.    
 

ARTICLE II.  DEFINITIONS  
 
 A. "Agreement" means the Agreement with the Association of Bay Area Governments entered into 
under the Act by the Association Members. 
 
 B. "Association" means the Association of Bay Area Governments as established by the Agreement 
and these Bylaws. 
 
 C. "Executive Board" means the Association's President, Vice President and Immediate Past 
President and the body of representatives which meet from time to time as provided in these Bylaws to govern the 
affairs of the Association between meetings of the General Assembly. 
 
 D. "General Assembly" means the body of the delegates of the Members of the Association as set 
forth in these Bylaws. 
 
 E. City, county, or city and county members of the Association may be referred to as "Members." 
 
 F. "Delegate" means a delegate of a Member of the Association to the General Assembly, or the 
alternate acting in the delegate's absence.   
 
 G. "Representative" means a representative to the Executive Board, or the alternate acting in the 
representative's absence.   
 
 H. "Regional Plan" means the comprehensive plan for the San Francisco Bay Region adopted and 
amended from time to time by the Association. 
 
 I. "Regional Problem" means an issue concerning the public health, safety or welfare of 
substantially all of the Association's Members, a solution to which may require intergovernmental cooperation or 
assistance of the Association. 
 
 J. "Subregional Problem" means an issue concerning the public health, safety or welfare of one or 
more of the Association's Members, a solution to which may require intergovernmental cooperation or assistance of 
the Association. 
 

ARTICLE III.  MEMBERSHIP 
 
 A.  MEMBERS 
 
 (1) The counties of Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, Napa, San Mateo, Santa Clara, Solano, and 
Sonoma, the City and County of San Francisco, and within the area of such counties all cities and incorporated 

Item 10



-2- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

towns (hereinafter referred to as "cities") now existing or formed in the future are eligible for membership in the 
Association.   
 
 (2) All eligible cities and counties become Members of the Association upon execution of the 
Agreement and payment of the annual assessment and annual membership fee. 
 
 B.  COOPERATING MEMBERS 
 
 (1) Subject to the approval of the Executive Board or the Executive Director as set forth in Article 
III.B(4), any governmental entity, public agency, or non-profit organization not eligible for membership under 
Article III.A of these Bylaws may elect to join the Association as a Cooperating Member.  
  
 (2) Cooperating Members shall be entitled to attend all meetings of the General Assembly and of the 
Executive Board, but shall not be entitled to vote or participate in debate.  No Cooperating Member shall be 
considered a "contracting party" as that term is used in the Act. 
 
 (3) Cooperating Members shall be entitled to receive data, studies, planning documents, special 
services, and other written materials and services of the Association subject to policies adopted by the Executive 
Board. 
 
 (4) (a) The Executive Director of the Association may approve the admission of any 
governmental entity or public agency electing to join the Association as a Cooperating Member pursuant to this 
Article III.B. 
 
  (b) The Executive Board of the Association may approve the admission of any non-profit 
organization electing to join the Association as a Cooperating Member pursuant to this Article III.B. 
 

ARTICLE IV.  POWERS 
 
 A. GENERAL 
 
 The Association may exercise in its own name the following powers when the exercise of these powers is 
necessary to, in furtherance of, or in support of the Association, the exercise of any other powers provided for in 
these Bylaws or the Agreement, or any other authorized activity undertaken by the Association:  make and enter 
into contracts, memoranda of understanding, and other agreements; employ and appoint employees and agents; 
acquire, hold, protect, dispose of, construct, operate, and maintain real and personal property; incur debts, liabilities, 
obligations, and encumber or hypothecate real or personal property; sue and be sued; and, accept grants, gifts, 
donations, and other monies. 
 
 B. INFORMATION GATHERING 
 
 The Association may request, collect, store, correlate, transfer, and otherwise manage information and data 
in any manner necessary to, in furtherance of, or in support of the exercise of any other power under this Article or 
any other authorized activity undertaken by the Association.   
    
 C. STUDIES 
 
 The Association may perform studies to identify and/or analyze regional or subregional problems, the 
purpose and subject matter of such studies to be determined as provided in these Bylaws. 
    
 D. REGIONAL PLANNING 
 
 The Association shall have the power to perform regional or subregional planning without limitation as to 
subject matter: 
 

Item 10



-3- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

 (1) that it is eligible or authorized to do; or,  
 
 (2) that it is required to do under State or Federal authority; or, 
 
 (3) that is authorized under other provisions of these Bylaws or as a result of the Association's studies 
of regional or subregional problems. 
 
 E.  POLICIES AND ACTIONS 
 
 (1) The Association may develop and adopt policies and/or actions.  
  
 (2) The Association may advocate and otherwise act to advance its positions, studies, plans, and 
policies both within and outside the region and may accept delegations of authority from Federal, State, regional, or 
local bodies to this end. 
 
 F. INTERAGENCY COOPERATION 
 
 (1) The Association may appoint representatives, in its own name, to other agencies, Boards, 
commissions, or official bodies to which it is required or eligible to make appointments. 
 
 (2) The Association may perform and participate in governmental coordination and respond to efforts 
at such coordination. 
 
 (3) In the exercise of its powers under Article IV.F(1) and (2), the Association may request or 
transmit information or studies; exercise any voting or veto power given to it; participate in grant applications, 
administration, and disbursements; and, do any other acts necessary to or in support of the exercise of such powers. 
 
 G.  INFORMATION, SERVICES, AND ASSISTANCE 
 
 (1) The Association may provide information, assistance, services, studies, plans, recommendations, 
and reports or such other information, assistance, and services requested by specific Members or nonmembers.  
Information, services, and assistance may include, without limitation, preparing or making of grant applications on 
behalf of or in conjunction with Members, training programs for local government staff, technical assistance on 
particular projects, or review of particular projects.  The Association may provide information, assistance and 
services in conjunction with other entities and may organize and/or participate in committees, task forces, and 
subsidiary entities necessary to or in support of this or its other powers. 
 
 (2) The Association may charge reasonable fees for information, services, and assistance that it 
provides. 
 
 H. POWER TO FINANCE PROPERTY FOR MEMBERS. 
 
 The Association shall have the power to finance and acquire, by lease purchase, installment sale or other 
financing agreements, both real and personal property necessary or convenient for the operation of the Members and 
Cooperating Members, and to sell or lease such property to such members pursuant to installment sale or lease 
purchase agreements between the Association and the members acquiring such property. 
 
 I. SELF-INSURANCE POOLS 
 
 Pursuant to Government Code Sections 989-991.2 and Labor Code Section 3700, as may be amended from 
time to time, ABAG shall have the power to provide insurance for some or all of its Members through self-
insurance or the purchase of insurance, excess insurance or reinsurance against public liability, errors and 
omissions, inverse condemnation or workers' compensation; and, further, shall have such other reasonable and 
necessary powers, which are necessary or convenient to further, support or implement the self-insurance program, 

Item 10



-4- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

including without limitation, financing self-insurance reserve funds through the issuance of certificates of 
participation, or other instruments of indebtedness. 
 
 J. OTHER POWERS 
 
 The Association may exercise other reasonable and necessary powers in furtherance or support of any 
purpose of the Association or power granted by the Act, the Agreement, or the General Assembly or the Executive 
Board as provided for in these Bylaws. 
 

ARTICLE V.  RESTRICTIONS ON POWERS 
 
 Pursuant to Articles 1 and 5 of the Agreement and to the extent required by Government Code Section 
6509, the Association shall be restricted in the exercise of its powers in the same manner as the City and County of 
San Francisco is restricted in its exercise of similar powers; provided that, if the City and County of San Francisco 
shall cease to be a Member of the Association, then the Association shall be restricted in the exercise of its powers 
in the same manner as the County of Alameda. 
 

ARTICLE VI.  GENERAL ASSEMBLY 
 
 A. MEMBERSHIP 
 
 (1) Each Member city and Member county shall have one seat in the General Assembly.  San 
Francisco shall be counted as both a city and a county for purposes of membership in the General Assembly. 
 
 (2) The mayor or member of the governing body of each Member city and the chairperson of the 
board of supervisors or member of the governing body of each Member county, or their respective alternates, shall 
be delegates to the General Assembly.   
 
 (3) Each city council and board of supervisors may designate an alternate who shall be either a 
member of such body or the chief executive officer of the Member; provided that, the mayor of the City and County 
of San Francisco may designate as an alternate (a) any officer of the City and County of San Francisco who may be 
either an elected or principal appointed official of the City and County of San Francisco or (b) the chief executive 
officer of the City County of San Francisco.  
 

(4) An alternate appointed pursuant to Article VI.A(3) may act in the absence of the delegate. 
 
 
 B. MEETINGS 
 
 (1) The time, date, and location of the annual meeting of the General Assembly shall be determined 
by the Executive Board, provided it is no later than June 30. 
 
 (2) Notice of the annual meeting of the General Assembly shall be given to the delegates of each 
Member city and Member county at least thirty (30) days prior to the meeting.  An agenda for the meeting shall 
accompany the notice. 
 
 (3) Special meetings of the General Assembly may be called by the Executive Board upon its own 
motion.  A special meeting shall be called by the Executive Board upon written request of fifteen (15) Member 
cities and three (3) Member counties. 
 
 (4) Ten-day written notice of special meetings shall be given to the delegates of each Member city 
and Member county.  An agenda specifying the subject of a special meeting shall accompany the notice. 
 
 
  

Item 10



-5- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

C. POWERS AND FUNCTIONS 
 
 The powers and functions of the General Assembly shall include: 
 
 (1) Exercising as appropriate all of the powers of the Association as set forth in these Bylaws or the 
Agreement.  The General Assembly shall have the power to limit the Executive Board's exercise of any power or 
authority set aside to the Executive Board under these Bylaws. 
 
 (2) Any delegate may at any meeting of the General Assembly propose a subject or subjects for study 
by the Association.  The General Assembly may take action upon such proposals and, if requested by any delegate, 
determine whether a study will be made of the subject or subjects so proposed or may refer such subject or subjects 
to the Executive Board. 
 
 (3) Any delegate may at any meeting of the General Assembly request review by the General 
Assembly of any action of the Executive Board which has been taken between meetings of the General Assembly. 
 
 (4) The budgetary duties and responsibilities set forth in Article XI. 
 

ARTICLE VII. EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
 A. EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
 There shall be an Executive Board of the Association which shall be organized and shall be responsible for 
functions as hereinafter set forth:  
 
 (1) Voting Membership.  The voting membership of the Executive Board shall consist of a maximum 
of 38 voting members (representatives and ex officio members). The representative shall be either a councilmember 
of a Member city or a supervisor of a Member county of the Association, or be eligible to be Executive Board 
representative or alternate representative from the City and County of San Francisco under Article VII.A(1)(e), if 
that jurisdiction is an Association member.  Representatives to the Executive Board shall be selected as follows: 
 
  (a) Alameda County.  Two representatives of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; two representatives of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference, and three representatives to be appointed by the City Council of the City of Oakland. 
 
  (b) Contra Costa County.  Two representatives of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; two representatives of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference. 
 
  (c) Marin County.  One representative of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; and one representative of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference. 
 
  (d) Napa County.  One representative of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; and one representative of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference. 
 
  (e) San Francisco City and County.  The Mayor and one other elective officer or member of 
the Mayor’s staff of the City and County appointed by the Mayor; two representatives of the City and County 
appointed by the Board of Supervisors, and a fifth representative to be appointed alternately by the Mayor and the 
Board of Supervisors, with two-year appointments beginning in years evenly divisible by four to be made by the 
Mayor and with two-year appointments made in even-numbered years not evenly divisible by four to be made by 
the Board of Supervisors.  When such fifth representative is selected by the Mayor, the representative may be an 
elective or appointive officer or member of the Mayor’s staff of the City and County.   
 

Item 10



-6- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

  (f) San Mateo County.  Two representatives of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; two representatives of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference. 
 
  (g) Santa Clara County.  Two representatives of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; two representatives of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference, and three representatives to be appointed by the City Council of the City of San Jose. 
 
  (h) Solano County.  One representative of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; and one representative of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference. 
 
  (i) Sonoma County.  One representative of the county to be appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors; and one representative of Member cities within the county to be appointed by the mayors of Member 
cities meeting in conference. 
 
  (j) President, Vice President and Immediate Past President.  The President, Vice President 
and Immediate Past President of the Association shall be ex-officio voting members of the Executive Board, but 
shall not be representatives or alternates.   
 
  (k) Alternates.  Each of the appointing bodies named in Article VII.A(1)(a)-(i) may 
designate an alternate for each of their representatives to act in the representative's absence.  Appointments of 
alternates shall be made in the same manner, with the same qualifications and for the same term as representatives. 
 
 (2) Advisory Membership.  The Association shall maintain effective communication and coordination 
with agencies of the State of California and the United States of America.  To that end, the Executive Board shall 
invite, following nomination by the Association's President, such representatives of state and federal governments 
as it deems appropriate and desirable as advisory, non-voting members of the Executive Board.  Such members 
shall serve at the pleasure of the Executive Board.  No advisory member shall be considered a "contracting party" as 
that term is used in the Act.   
 
 (3) Terms of Office.  Representatives shall serve for terms of two years. Appointments of 
representatives to the Executive Board shall become effective biennially on July 1.   
 
 (4) Staggered Terms.  The terms of the representatives to the Executive Board shall be staggered so 
that the terms of approximately one-half of the representatives expire each year.  The terms of the representatives of 
the cities in the counties of Alameda, Marin, Napa, San Francisco (mayor and representative), and Santa Clara, and 
the representatives of the counties of Contra Costa, San Mateo, Solano, and Sonoma shall expire in the even-
numbered years; the terms of the representatives of the cities in the counties of Contra Costa, San Mateo, Solano, 
and Sonoma, and the representatives of the counties of Alameda, Marin, Napa, San Francisco (representatives of the 
Board of Supervisors), and Santa Clara shall expire in the odd-numbered years. 
 
 (5) Officers.  The President and the Vice President of the Association shall be Chairperson and Vice 
Chairperson, respectively, of the Executive Board. 
 
 (6) Duties.   
 
  (a) The Executive Board shall have the budgetary duties and responsibilities set forth in 
Article XI. 
 
  (b) The Executive Board shall submit a full report of its activities at the General Assembly's 
annual meeting. 
 

Item 10



-7- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

  (c) The Executive Board shall have the authority to appoint, fix the salary of, and remove an 
Executive Director of the Association and shall have the authority to create and discontinue positions in the office 
of the Executive Director and fix salaries. 
 
  (d) Subject to any constraint or limitation imposed by the General Assembly, the Executive 
Board shall exercise all powers of the Association between meetings of the General Assembly; provided that, the 
Executive Board shall not amend these Bylaws, nor shall it exercise the budgetary powers reserved to the General 
Assembly under Article XI of the these Bylaws. 
 
  (e) The Executive Board shall be responsible for carrying out policy decisions made by the 
General Assembly. 
 
  (f) Recommendations from committees for policy actions shall be made to the Executive 
Board.  Unless otherwise directed by the General Assembly, the Executive Board may take action on such 
recommendations. 
 
 (7) Per Diem.  Each voting member of the Executive Board, or of a standing and/or joint committee, 
and where expressly designated by the Executive Board, individuals participating in special committees, task forces 
or other meetings, shall receive a per diem of $150 for each meeting attended.  The per diem shall be paid for a 
maximum of forty-eight (48) meetings per year.  Per diem may also be received by a Board or committee member 
representing the Association before an agency or body of the State or Federal government.   
 
 B. MEETINGS 
 
 The Executive Board shall meet at least four times each year.  Additional meetings shall be held upon the 
call of the Chairperson or upon the call of five voting members of the Executive Board. 
 
 C. ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 
 There shall be an Administrative Committee of the Executive Board of the Association whose composition 
shall be determined by the Executive Board and which shall, subject to any constraint or limitation imposed by the 
Executive Board or the General Assembly, exercise all powers of the Executive Board between meetings of the 
Executive Board; provided that, the Administrative committee shall not: 
 
 (1) Amend the Agreement or Bylaws; 
 
 (2) Exercise the budgetary duties of the Executive Board set forth in Article XII; 
 
 (3) Appoint, fix the salary of, or remove an Executive Director of the Association; 
 
 (4) Exercise the powers of appointment of officers as set forth in Article IX. 
 
 The Administrative Committee shall meet upon the call of the President or Vice President and in 
compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act.  Further, the Administrative Committee shall submit a full report of its 
activities to the Executive Board at the first meeting immediately following the Administrative Committee meeting. 
 

ARTICLE VIII. VOTING 
 
 A. Voting in the General Assembly shall be conducted in the following manner: 
 
 (1) A quorum of the General Assembly shall consist of a majority of the city delegates and a majority 
of the county delegates. 
 
 (2) Each county delegate and each city delegate shall have one vote.  Votes shall be tabulated 
separately for county delegates and for city delegates.  The affirmative votes of a majority of a quorum of county 

Item 10



-8- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

delegates and of a majority of a quorum of city delegates are required for action by the General Assembly, except as 
provided for in Article XIV. 
 
 B. Voting in General Assembly meetings may be either by voice or roll call vote. A roll call vote 
shall be conducted upon the demand of five delegates present, or at the discretion of the presiding officer. 
 
 C. Voting in the Executive Board shall be conducted in the following manner: 
 
 (1) A majority of the voting members of the Executive Board shall constitute a quorum. 
 
 (2) The affirmative votes of a majority of the quorum are required for action by the Executive Board 
with the exceptions set out below. 
 
 (3) In order to recommend the annual budget to the General Assembly, the affirmative vote of not less 
than a majority of the voting members of the Executive Board is required. 
 
 (4) In order to appoint or remove the Executive Director, the affirmative vote of not less than a 
majority of the voting members of the Executive Board is required. 
 
 D. Except as the Executive Board may otherwise provide, all other committees of the Association 
may act upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the committee members present. 
 

ARTICLE IX. OFFICERS, ELECTIONS AND VACANCIES 
 
 A. Officers of the Association shall be: 
 
 (1) The President, who shall serve as Chairperson of the Executive Board and General Assembly. 
 
 (2) The Vice President, who shall serve as Vice Chairperson of the Executive Board and General 
Assembly. 
 
 (3) The Immediate Past President. 
 
 (4) An Executive Director and a Legal Counsel to be appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the 
Executive Board.      
 
 B. The President and Vice President of the Association shall be elected biennially by secret ballot of 
supervisors, mayors and city councilmembers of member jurisdictions. Nominations for the offices of the President 
and Vice President shall be by petition of at least fifteen (15) mayors, councilmembers or supervisors.  A plurality 
vote shall be required for election to any office.  All other election procedures shall be determined by the Executive 
Board, provided that these procedures shall be disseminated to all member jurisdictions at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the date determined and designated for counting of secret ballots.  If, at the close of nominations, only one 
candidate is nominated for President or for Vice President, the election procedures may waive the ballot 
requirement and provide, instead, that the nominee be declared elected to that office. 
 
 C. The President and Vice President shall be either a councilmember of a Member city or a 
supervisor of a Member county of the Association, or a General Assembly delegate or alternate or Executive Board 
representative or alternate representative from the City and County of San Francisco if that jurisdiction is an 
Association member.   
 
 D. The terms of office of the President and Vice President shall be determined as follows: 
 
 (1) Except as otherwise provided in this section, the term of office of the President, Vice President 
and Immediate Past President is two (2) years. 
 

Item 10



-9- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

 (2) If the President vacates his/her office as required by Article IX.C. or any other reason, the Vice 
President shall assume the office of President for the balance of the original term.  If the balance of the original term 
is less than five hundred forty-eight (548) calendar days, then the new President may choose to run for an additional 
one (1) year term as President.  The new President shall notify the Executive Board no later than September 1 of the 
year in which the original term ends whether he/she shall run for an additional one (1) year term.  The President's 
election to run for an additional one (1) year term shall also modify the term of office of the Vice President to 
conform to that of the office of the President. 
 
 (3) Article IX.B. shall govern the special elections for one (1) year terms in all other respects. 
 
 (4) In the event that the President is disabled or for any other reason temporarily unable to act, the 
Vice President shall act in place and perform the duties of President until return or recovery from disability.   
 
 (5) In the event of a vacancy in the office of Vice President due to the Vice President's permanently 
serving as President, vacating the office as required by Article IX.C., or for any other reason, the Executive Board 
shall fill the office of Vice President by appointment for the unexpired portion of the Vice President's term.  In the 
event of a simultaneous vacancy in the offices of President and Vice President due to their vacating the respective 
offices as required by Article IX.C., or any other reason, the Executive Board shall fill both offices by appointment 
for the unexpired portion of the respective terms.  In either event, the procedures of Article IX.I shall govern the 
process of filling said vacant office. 
 
 E. A newly elected President and Vice President shall take office on January 1 of the year following 
certification of the election results. 
 
 F. The President, subject to the advice and consent of the Executive Board, shall appoint committees 
and determine the committees' structure, charge, size and membership.  Committees may be established to consider 
any matter within the jurisdiction of the Association.  Committees shall operate according to the policies adopted by 
the Executive Board, and shall submit their reports and recommendations to the Executive Board.  Committees shall 
meet on the call of their chairpersons, who shall be (1) an elected official or the elective or appointive officer of the 
City and County of San Francisco appointed by the Mayor of the City and County of San Francisco to the Executive 
Board or General Assembly, and (2) a member of such committee; and who shall be elected by the members of each 
committee.  At the initial meeting of each committee, and annually thereafter at the first committee meeting 
following January 1 of each year, the committees shall elect their chairpersons and such other officers as may be 
specified. Committee chairpersons shall be subject to confirmation by the Executive Board.  Unless otherwise 
authorized by the Executive Board, committees of the Association shall be advisory.   
 
 G. Each delegate or alternate to the General Assembly and each representative or alternate to the 
Executive Board shall cease to be such immediately upon ceasing to hold the elective or appointive office which is 
required of a delegate or representative or their alternates under VI.A or VII.A(1). 
 
 H. In the event that any delegate or alternate to the General Assembly or any representative or 
alternate to the Executive Board shall for any reason cease to hold the elective or appointive office which is required 
of a delegate or representative or their alternates under Article VI.A or VII.A(1), the vacancy created thereby shall 
be filled for the unexpired term, in the same manner and with the same qualifications as the original appointment. 
 
 I. The Executive Board shall fill the office of Vice President or President pursuant to Article IX.D., 
at the first meeting of the Executive Board held after the occurrence of the event which causes the office(s) to be 
vacated.  The meeting shall be chaired by the President, or if said office is vacant, by the Immediate Past President.  
Nominations for the vacant office(s) may be made from the floor.  All nominations require a second.  The office(s) 
may be filled only if a nominee receives a majority vote of the members of the Executive Board constituting the 
quorum for that meeting.  If no nominee receives a majority vote on the first ballot, the two nominees receiving the 
highest number of votes shall be voted upon again until one of them receives a majority vote.  If the selection 
process results in a tie, or no nominee receives a majority vote after three rounds of balloting, the acting 
Chairperson of the Executive Board may, at his or her discretion, decide the matter by lot between the two nominees 
then remaining. 

Item 10



-10- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

 
 
 
 

ARTICLE X. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
 
 The Executive Director shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of the Association.  The powers and 
duties of the Executive Director are: 
 
 A. To appoint and remove all employees of the Association. 
 
 B. To perform the budgetary duties and responsibilities of the Executive Director as set forth in 
Article XI. 
 
 C. To serve as Secretary-Treasurer of the Association and of the Executive Board. 
 
 D. To perform such other and additional duties as the Executive Board may require. 
 

ARTICLE XI. FINANCES 
 
 A. FISCAL YEAR   
 
 The fiscal year of the Association shall commence on July 1. 
 
 B. BUDGET 
 
 (1) At least forty-five (45) days prior to the annual meeting of the General Assembly the Executive 
Director shall submit to the Executive Board, for the next fiscal year of the Association, a proposed general budget 
and summary work program.  The proposed general budget shall include annual membership fee and assessment 
schedules and a summary of revenue and expenditures, actual or projected, for the preceding, current, and next 
fiscal years. 
 
 (2) The Executive Board shall review the proposed general budget and summary work program, 
amend them as necessary, and submit them to the General Assembly for review and adoption at the annual meeting 
of the Assembly. 
 
 (3) The General Assembly shall adopt a summary work plan and general budget, including yearly 
membership assessment and annual membership fee.  
 
 (4) The Executive Board shall adopt a detailed budget and work program on or before July 1 of each 
year, and thereafter monitor their execution and amend them as necessary.  The work program shall give effect to 
any priorities set forth in the general budget and summary work program, unless financially infeasible. 
 
 (5) The Executive Director shall manage all expenditures, subject to control of the Executive Board.  
The Executive Board shall have power to transfer funds within the total detailed budget to meet unanticipated needs 
or changed situations.  Such action shall be reported to the General Assembly at its next meeting. 
 
 C. YEARLY MEMBERSHIP ASSESSMENT   
 
 The amount of each Member's assessment shall be determined in accordance with the formula set out in 
Paragraph D following.  Any Member city or county whose annual assessment and annual membership fee has not 
been paid by the time of the annual meeting of the General Assembly shall not be entitled to vote at such meeting. 
 
 D. METHOD OF ASSESSMENT 
 

Item 10



-11- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

 The annual assessment for members of the Association shall be based upon population as determined by 
the State Controller in making the most recent allocations to counties and cities pursuant to California Revenue and 
Taxation Code Section 11005, except that, beginning in 1987-88, in the case of newly incorporated cities, until such 
time as an official census is conducted and population is established therewith, the population as estimated by the 
Executive Director shall be used for assessment purposes. 
 
 (1) The General Assembly shall adopt a per capita rate or rates of assessment for each fiscal year. 
 
 (2) For purposes of assessment San Francisco shall be considered as both a city and a county. 
 
 E. ANNUAL AUDIT 
 
 The Executive Board shall cause an annual audit of the financial affairs of the Association to be made by a 
certified public accountant at the end of each fiscal year. The Executive Board shall employ a certified public 
accountant of its choosing.  The audit report shall be made available to Association member counties and cities. 
 
 F. ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP FEE 
 
 The membership fee shall be uniform for all members of the Association and shall not be less than $10.00 
per month or $120.00 per year. 
 
 G. DATE OF PAYMENT 
 
 Unless a Member has withdrawn as provided in Article XIII of these Bylaws, the Member's annual 
assessment and annual membership fee shall be due and payable to the Association on July 1 of the fiscal year for 
which it is levied.  
 

ARTICLE XII.  STATUTORY AUTHORITY 
 
 The Association is an agency established by a joint powers agreement among the Members pursuant to 
Title 1, Division 7, Chapter 5, of the Government Code of the State of California.  The Association is an entity 
separate and apart from its Members.  The debts, liabilities and obligations of the Association shall not be debts, 
liabilities or obligations of the Association's Members. 
 

ARTICLE XIII.  WITHDRAWAL 
 
 Any member county or city may, at any time up to 30 days prior to the beginning of the Association's fiscal 
year, withdraw from the Association effective the next fiscal year; provided that the intent to withdraw must be 
stated in the form of a resolution executed by the legislative body of the jurisdiction wishing to withdraw.  The 
resolution must be given to the Executive Director at least 30 days prior to the effective date of the withdrawal. 
 

ARTICLE XIV.  AMENDMENTS 
 
 Amendments to these Bylaws may be proposed by a delegate or by the Executive Board.  If proposed by a 
delegate, the amendment shall be submitted to the Executive Board at least 45 days prior to an annual meeting of the 
General Assembly.  Each proposed amendment shall be considered by the Executive Board and a copy thereof, with 
the recommendations of the Executive Board and its reasons therefor, forwarded to the delegate of each Member 
jurisdiction at least 30 days prior to the meeting at which such proposed amendment will be voted upon. 
 
 A majority vote of the county delegates present and a majority vote of the city delegates present are 
required to adopt an amendment to these Bylaws.  If within 60 days after the adoption of any amendment, one-third 
or more of the delegates protest such amendment, it shall automatically be up for reconsideration and vote as in the 
first instance. 
 

ARTICLE XV. EFFECTIVE DATE 

Item 10



-12- 
ABAG Bylaws - April 23, 2009 

 

 
 These Bylaws shall go into effect immediately upon the effective date of the Agreement. 
 

Item 10



 

20 
 

EXHIBIT B:  EMPLOYEE TRANSITION PLAN 

Yellow highlights added detail to MTC MOU language to address ABAG staff transition. 
Employment Offer Specifics for MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation 
 Position Design and Organizational Placement 

Exhibit B1 details the positions transitioning to MTC including the ABAG 
Legacy Employee being offered the position, position title, section, 
classification, and grade level. 

 Employment Offers 
• The specific salary being offered  

o Salaries will be at least equivalent to ABAG salaries plus a 
minimum 7% increase to address any per payroll net 
differences due to MTC benefit cost-share costs 

• Accrued but unused ABAG sick leave benefit hours which will be 
kept as a personal sick leave benefit bank with MTC. This personal 
sick leave balance is not eligible for donation to MTC’s catastrophic 
leave bank.  

• Full time or Part time status 
o Annual salary equivalents determined by annual hours worked 

prorated appropriately for less than Full time employment 
• 9/80 alternate work schedule confirmation 
• ABAG service tenure 

 Other Special Considerations 
• No probationary period 
• Waive background checks 
• Waive submittal of resume or application 
• ABAG service tenure will be considered in addition to MTC tenure 

for purposes of calculating vacation accrual rate, service 
recognition events, and any layoff/reinstatement actions (as 
needed per EDMM 295). 

 Performance Evaluation Program 
To provide continuous performance evaluations and salary merit 
increases acknowledging tenure at ABAG, ABAG and MTC will do the 
following: 

• ABAG will ensure all employees are caught up on performance 
reviews and their salaries are at the correct level before 
transitioning to MTC. 

• MTC will include all Transitioned Employees in the annual 
performance evaluation cycle for 2017.  The first performance 
year being evaluated is September 1, 2016 through August 31, 
2017. 

• Transitioned Employees will have a mid-cycle performance 
evaluation in March of 2018 to confirm the performance rating for 
the 2017 performance evaluation cycle with the merit increase 
level effective on July 1, 2018 for individuals not at the top of their 
salary range. 

Item 10



 

21 
 

Employment Offer Specifics for MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation 
Benefit Program Customization for MTC/ABAG Staff Consolidation 
 Provide MTC vacation accrual based on ABAG service tenure.  Exhibit B2 is 

MTC’s vacation leave accrual table. 
 Three additional paid Personal Leave  days will be available from July 1 

through December 31, 2017.  Along with the regular two Personal Leave 
days granted per standard MTC policy to individuals hired between May 
and August, Transitioned Employees will receive five paid Personal Leave 
days at the point of hire.  These first five Personal Leave days must be 
used by December 31, 2017 or be forfeited, with no exceptions.  
 
In addition, Transitioned Employees may use vacation time benefits 
immediately upon accrual and may take additional time upaid as needed 
within the first year up to two weeks or 80 hours total. 
 
Requests for other additional time off subject to supervisor approval. 

 Recognize and keep on the books actual sick leave accrual from ABAG.  
There would be two accounts, ABAG sick accrual and the new accrual 
once an MTC employee.  The MTC accrual would be subject to the payout 
of up to 240 hours and the ABAG accrual would not. ABAG sick accrual 
would not count toward CalPERS service credit, once an MTC employee. 

 Confirm that CalPERS pension Classic Plan eligible employees go into 
MTC’s classic plan and New Plan eligible employees go into MTC’s new 
plan.   

• Cannot make any custom arrangements with plan enrollment as is 
set by employer contract with CalPERS and regulated by CA Public 
Employees’ Retirement Law 

 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  

Fiscal Years 2014-2015, 2015-2016, 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 
SALARY TABLES 

 
Salary administration is regulated per compensation policy and the MTC 
Employee Handbook.   

Salary 
Adjustments 

Effective July 1, 2014, salary tables shall be adjusted by 2.6%. 
 
Each following July 1 during this MOU period, salary tables shall be 
adjusted as follows:   
 
July 1, 2015 – 2.6% 
July 1, 2016 – 2.6% 
July 1, 2017 – 2.6% 
 

Merit Program Pay step adjustments within range subject to policy guidelines. 
PAID LEAVE 
BENEFITS 

Use of all paid leave benefits is regulated per leave policy and the MTC 
Employee Handbook unless otherwise stated in this document.  

Item 10



 

22 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Holidays Eleven (11) days per year for full time employees.  No minimum service 

required for eligibility.   
Funeral Leave  Up to three 3 days (24 hours), on the basis of need, in the case of the 

death of a defined family member or member of employee’s household.  
No minimum service required for eligibility.  This benefit has no cash value 
and is not payable upon employment separation. 

Personal Leave 
Days 

Up to 3 personal leave days (24 hours) are granted at the beginning of 
each calendar year.  The number of personal leave days granted to new 
employees is prorated as follows:   

 
January through April – 3 days 
May through August – 2 days  
September through November – 1 day 
December – 0 days 

 
In the event that Personal Leave Days are accrued but unused at the end 
of a calendar year, the employee will receive an amount to start the new 
calendar year at a maximum of three days.  Personal Leave Days are not 
payable upon employment separation. 
 
Transitioned Employees will receive three additional Personal Leave Days 
at hire on July 1, 2017.  These additional days will be available for use 
through December 31, 2017 only. 

Item 10



 

23 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Vacation Leave 
Benefits 

Accrual of Vacation Leave Benefits   
o One day (8 hours) per month worked starting with the first day of 

employment.  Prorated for new hires based on first working day of 
employment within the month.    

o Addition of one more day (8 more hours) each additional year worked 
up to a maximum of 13 additional days (104 hours) for a total annual 
benefit of 25 days (200 hours) a year is reached.  

o Transitioned Employees will start accruing based on their service 
tenure with ABAG (example, an eight year ABAG employee starts 
accruing at MTC’s eight year rate). 

o Accrued to a cap of 62.5 days (500 hours).  Once the cap (500 hours) is 
reached, all vacation accrual stops until such time that the vacation 
balance falls below the cap (500 hours).  If the vacation accrual is 
larger than the difference between the vacation balance and the 500 
hour cap, individuals will receive only a fraction of their bi-weekly 
vacation accrual for that pay period bringing their vacation balance to 
500 hours. 

o Employees working an average of 40 hours over a two-week pay 
period, but less than 72 hours over a two-week pay period will receive 
prorated benefits. 

o All vacation leave benefits are accrued and available for use with each 
bi-weekly pay period  

 Annual Vacation Cash Out Option  
Once a twelve month period, employees may cash-out accrued but 
unused vacation leave over 320 hours up to cap of 500 hours. Payment 
will be made at the employee’s current hourly rate and is considered 
taxable earnings.  Payment is subject to any and all applicable deductions. 

 Payment Upon Separation 
Accrued but unused vacation time off benefits up to the maximum accrual 
of 62.50 days or 500 hours are payable upon employment separation at 
the hourly rate earned by the employee at the time of employment 
separation.  Payment will be in one lump sum and is subject to any and all 
applicable deductions. 
 
Use of Benefit 
Transitioned employees may use accrued vacation time off benefits per 
policy immediately upon accrual and may request additional unpaid time 
off for vacations above accrued benefit levels up to two-weeks or 80 
hours of vacation total within the first year of employment.  

Item 10



 

24 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Sick Leave 
Benefits 

Accrual of Sick Time Off Benefits 
o One day (8 hours) per month worked starting with the first day of 

employment.  Prorated for new hires based on first working day of 
employment within the month.    

o Employees working an average of 40 hours over a two-week pay 
period, but less than 72 hours over a two-week pay period will receive 
prorated benefits. 

o Sick time off benefit is accrued without a cap. 
 
Payment Upon Separation 
Accrued but unused sick time off benefits up to a maximum of 30 days or 
240 hours are payable upon employment separation at the hourly rate 
paid the employee at the time of employment separation.  Payment will 
be in one lump sum and is subject to any and all applicable deductions. 
 
Personal Sick Leave Bank 
Transitioned employees will have a personal sick leave benefit bank 
totalling their accrued but unused sick leave hours upon separaton from 
ABAG employment.  This bank is available for use until exhausted.  This 
bank is not eligible for payout upon employment separation from MTC or 
for donation to MTC’s catastrophic leave bank. 
 
Use of Benefit 
Employees may use accrued sick leave benefits per policy as soon as they 
are earned. 

INTRODUCTION 
PERIOD 

The Introduction period is regulated per applicable policy and the MTC 
Employee Handbook. 

 The initial six months of employment is considered to be an introduction 
period during which time a new employee’s work and conduct are 
observed and evaluated, orientation and training provided as necessary, 
and issues with performance addressed directly and promptly in an effort 
to ensure the employee’s success.  

INSURANCE Scope, limitations, and annual insurance premium costs are set forth in 
actual insurance company policies and provided each year during open 
enrollment. 

Group Dental 
Insurance 

Agency pays total premium for employee’s coverage.  The cost to 
Employees for coverage for one dependent is $6.30 per month, and 
$19.13 per month for two or more dependents.  The Agency contributes 
the remainder of the premium.  MTC will deduct employee dependent 
premium payments from earned wages pre-tax as allowable by law. 

Item 10



 

25 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Group Dental 
Insurance 
Cash-in-Lieu 

Employees have the option of receiving the equivalent dollar amount of 
the Employee Only premium in cash upon signing a waiver of coverage 
and providing proof of being covered under a comparable dental plan.   
The amount is subject to federal and state tax withholding.  Dental cash-
in-lieu through December 31, 2017 is $72.63. 

Group Medical 
Insurance  

Employees agree to contribute towards medical premiums by paying five 
percent (5%) of the premium for each coverage line. The employer will 
cover ninety-five (95%) percent of premium for each coverage line. 
  
Total cost per month to the employee is dependent on the coverage line 
they select.   
 
Employee contributions will be capped as follows: 
 
$75.00 for Employee Only 
$125.00 for Employee Plus One 
$175.00 for Employee Plus Family 
 
MTC will deduct employee medical insurance premium payments from 
earned wages pre-tax as allowable by law. 

Group Medical 
Insurance 
Cash-in-Lieu 

 

Employees have the option of receiving cash-in-lieu of enrolling in the 
health insurance plan upon the signing of a waiver of coverage and 
providing proof of being covered under a comparable medical plan. The 
amount of cash-in-lieu will be equal to the second most costly Employee 
Only premium total minus the Employee contribution amount for that 
premium.  Cash-in-lieu payments are subject to federal and state tax 
withholding. Medical cash-in-lieu through December 31, 2017 is $973.61. 

Vision Care 
Insurance 

Agency pays total premium for Employee Only coverage. Employees may 
enroll dependents at their sole cost for $7.51 for one dependent and 
$26.70 for two or more per month.  MTC will deduct dependent premium 
payments from earned wages pre-tax as allowable by law.    

Domestic Partner 
Coverage 

MTC provides group medical insurance, group dental insurance, and 
group vision coverage for an eligible domestic partner and dependents 
subject to CalPERS regulations regarding domestic partner coverage.  The 
maximum amount of the Agency contributions shall be the same as that 
specified under “Group Dental Insurance” and “Group Medical Insurance” 
provisions referenced above.   

Item 10



 

26 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Life and Related 
Insurance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agency pays premiums for Employee life insurance policy; life insurance 
benefit is equal to one times annual salary or a minimum of $55,000, 
whichever is greater.  Agency pays additional premium for employee for 
Accidental Death and Dismemberment policy equal to the group term life 
insurance coverage.  Agency pays 
premium for qualified dependents (as defined in current 
policy) for $2,000 life coverage per dependent.  

Group Voluntary 
Life and Related 
Insurance 

In addition, Employee may elect to purchase, at his/her expense, 
supplemental Group Voluntary Life Insurance. 

Short-Term and  
Long-Term 
Disability  

Agency pays monthly premium for short-term disability coverage for 
qualifying employee medical disabilities to cover loss of wages.  There is a 
14-day waiting period with an additional 11 weeks of paid benefits (total 
12 week benefit program). Coverage level is 66 2/3% of salary up to a 
maximum of $2,500 a week. Benefits paid are taxable. 
 
Agency pays monthly premium for long-term disability coverage for 
qualifying employee medical disabilities to cover loss of wages. There is a 
90-day waiting period (designed to pick up at the end of the 12-weeks of 
short-term disability coverage). Coverage level is 67% of monthly salary 
up to a maximum of $15,000 per month. Benefits paid are taxable. 

Travel Insurance Agency pays annual premium.  Each employee is covered with a policy of 
$100,000 for loss of life while traveling on MTC business. 

RETIREMENT  
1st Tier 
Retirement 
Formula 
(Classic Plan) 

The retirement benefit formula is calculated, pursuant to contract with 
PERS, at 2.5% at age 55.   
 
The Agency and employee agree to equally share any annual employer 
contribution rate change with employees assuming 50% of the annual 
employer rate change up to an employee total contribution rate capped 
at 8%.   

 Effective, June 30, 2014, the Agency total contribution rate is 22.395% 
and the shared contributions are as follows:       

(a) Employee pays 5.210% of salary  
(b) Agency pays 17.185% of salary  

 

Item 10



 

27 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  

 Effective July 1, 2014, the Agency total contribution rate will be 25.185% 
and the shared contributions will be: 
        (a) Employee pays 5.602% 
         (b) Agency pays 19.583% 
 
July 1, 2015, July 1, 2016, and July 1, 2017, the shared contribution rates 
will change based on the change in the Employer contribution rate shown 
in the Annual PERS Actuarial Valuation Report for periods ending June 
2013, June 2014, and June 2015, and per any additional CalPERS 
contribution rate changes announced at the time of the report or 
separately due to valuation methodology changes. 
 
As of July 1, 2016 and though June 30, 2017, the employee contribution 
rate for the Classic plan is 6.38% of salary. 

Other Contracted 
Benefits 

(Classic Plan) 

In accordance with Agency’s PERS contract amendment effective August 
1, 2000, Agency has contracted for the following optional provisions: 

 3% Maximum Cost-of-Living Allowance; Section 21573 – Third Level 1959 
Survivor Benefits; Section 21583 – Second Election 1959 Survivor Benefits; 
Section 21548 – Pre-retirement Optional Settlement 2 Death Benefit; and 
Section 20903 – Two years Additional Service Credit. 

2nd Tier 
Retirement 

Formula 
(New Plan) 

 

The retirement benefit formula is calculated, pursuant to contract with 
PERS, at 2.0% at 62.   
 
As of June 30, 2014, the Agency total contribution rate is 22.395% and the 
shared contributions are as follows: 

(a) Employee pays 6.50% of salary  
(b) Agency pays 15.895% of salary 

 
Effective July 1, 2014, the Agency total contribution rate will be 25.185% 
and the shared contributions will be: 

(c) Employee pays 6.50% of salary  
(d) Agency pays 18.685% of salary 

 
Effective July 1 of each year during this MOU period, the employee rate 
will be 50% of the plan “Normal Costs” per pension regulation.  CalPERS 
will provide documentation of each fiscal year’s plan Normal Costs 
directly to the employer in the annual valuation report each October prior 
to the effective July1 date. 
 
As of July 1, 2016 and through June 30, 2017, the employee contribution 
rate for the PEPRA plan is 6.50% of salary. 

Item 10



 

28 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Other Contracted 

Benefits 
(New Plan) 

Plan provisions are determined by pension reform and California PERL. 
However, this New Plan also includes the same employer selected plan 
provisions as the Agency’s Classic Plan: 

 3% Maximum Cost-of-Living Allowance; Section 21573 – Third Level 1959 
Survivor Benefits; Section 21583 – Second Election 1959 Survivor Benefits; 
Section 21548 – Pre-retirement Optional Settlement 2 Death Benefit; and 
Section 20903 – Two years Additional Service Credit. 

Retiree 
Medical  

Retiree and eligible dependents are entitled to the same medical benefits 
provided to regular MTC employees and at the same co-pay amounts (and 
per CalPERS’ PEMCHA Equal Method Plan).  If eligible, a retired MTC 
employee must apply for Medicare.  His/her PERS health coverage is then 
provided as a supplement.   
 

Retiree 
Dental and 
Vision 

MTC shall provide retiree group insurance plans for dental and vision 
coverage.  The cost of premiums will be the sole responsibility of the 
retiree.  Eligibility for this program will follow CalPERS retiree medical 
eligibility rules and requirements. 
   

TRANSIT 
PARKING 
ROGRAM 

MTC shall provide a Transit/Parking Program providing commuting 
benefits as follows.  Employees may elect to participate in only one option 
at a time. 

 Public Transit Option 
MTC provides a subsidy in accordance with IRS Fringe Benefit regulation 
for employees for legitimate and applicable transit ticket purchases.  
Purchases must be made through authorized MTC provided third-party 
transit administrator(s) only and must be for a monthly amount needed 
and used by each employee each month, per IRS regulation.   

 Effective July 1, 2014, MTC’s monthly subsidy will increase to up to $214 
per month. 
 
MTC will provide this subsidy tax-free per IRS fringe benefit allowances.  
As of January 2014, the allowable tax free level for fare purchase is $130, 
and for eligible parking is $250.  As of January 2016, the allowable tax free 
level for fare purchase and parking is $255 monthly. Any subsidy above 
the IRS limits is taxable income. 
 
Six months after relocation to MTC’s new San Francisco office, MTC 
reviewed the transit subsidy level to determine if it was sufficient to serve 
the majority of employee transit costs.  Based on this review and in 
consultation with employees, the transit subsidy level was increased to 
$255 monthly on December 21, 2016. 
 
 

Item 10



 

29 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  

 Employer Provided Parking Option 
While MTC is still located at 101 8th Street, employees may select to 
contribute $18.50 per month pre-tax for parking in the MTC leased 
employee parking lot in lieu of receiving the monthly transit subsidy. This 
option is based on availability of parking spaces in the lot.   
 
After moving the office to San Francisco, this option will change as 
follows: 

(a) MTC will maintain rental of the Caltrans owned parking lot; 
(b) Parking spaces in this lot will be available to eligible employees to 

park at this lot and purchase transit to commute to San Francisco. 
(c) The cost of monthly parking in this lot will equal the cost of 

monthly parking at the BART Lake Merritt station as of July 1, 2014 
(estimated to be $84.00 per month) and will remain at this level 
for the period of the MOU. 

 Carpool Option 
While MTC is still located at 101 8th Street, employees in a verified carpool 
with two or more persons, at least one passenger working at MTC, will 
receive one free parking space in the MTC leased employee parking lot in 
lieu of the monthly transit/parking subsidy.   This option is based on 
availability of parking spaces in the lot. 
 
After moving the office to San Francisco, parking in this lot will be 
administered as explained above, however, expanding the carpool rules 
for eligible passengers to include someone who works at MTC, ABAG, or 
the Air District.  Carpool participants will be using transit to get to San 
Francisco. 

 Bicycle Commuter Option 
For any employee regularly using a bicycle for a substantial portion of the 
travel between the employee’s residence and place of employment for 
qualifying bicycle commuting months as described in IRS Publication 15-B, 
$20 per month tax-free subsidy paid by MTC. 

 Cash-in-Lieu Option 
Employees may elect to receive $20.00 per month cash-in-lieu if not 
selecting another Transit/Parking Program.  Cash-in-lieu payments are 
subject to federal and state tax withholding. 

OTHER ELECTIVE 
DEDUCTIONS 

 

Dependent Care 
Assistant  
Plan (DCAP) 

 

MTC’s Dependent Care Assistance Plan (DCAP) is a totally employee-
funded program, except for the costs incurred by Agency to administer 
the program.  Employees may elect pre-tax payroll deductions up to the 
limits set by the Internal Revenue Service for the reimbursement of 
eligible childcare and dependent care expenses, in accordance with IRS 
regulations.  See actual plan for details and limitations. 

Item 10



 

30 
 

Summary of Benefits: MTC Full-Time Regular Represented and Confidential Employee 
Positions (Except as otherwise noted and excluding executive employees)  
Health Care 
Flexible Spending 
Account 

 

MTC’s Health Care Flexible Spending Account is a totally employee-funded 
program, except for the costs incurred by the agency to administer the 
program.  Employees may elect pre-tax payroll deductions up to a limit 
equivalent to the Federal Health Care Flexible Spending Account for the 
reimbursement of eligible healthcare costs that are not covered under the 
employee’s health insurance. See actual plan for details and limitations. 

Deferred 
Compensation 
Plan 

Employee may elect to participate in the 457 Deferred compensation 
program(s) and make pre-tax contributions subject to IRS regulations and 
program limitations. The Agency will administer the pre-tax deductions 
and submittal of employee contributions. 

PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

 

Professional 
Development 

Subject to approval by the Section Director and appropriations in the 
annual training and travel budget, employees may participate in Agency 
sponsored Professional Development, defined as any training, materials, 
testing, licensing, membership, conferences, classes, tuition, etc. that are 
determined to be appropriate to the employee’s professional 
development.  

Computer 
Purchase 
Program 

MTC will assist in the purchase of a personal computer and peripheral 
equipment, up to a maximum of $5,000 for regular fulltime employees 
who have completed their probation and are scheduled to work 72 hours 
or more per pay period.  The total cost of each purchase shall be repaid by 
participating employee through bi-weekly payroll deduction, up to a 
maximum of a 2-yr period or 52 pay periods. See actual plan for details 
and limitations. 

MANDATORY 
PROVISIONS 

As required by statute. 

Workers’ 
Compensation 

Standard 

Unemployment 
Insurance 

Standard 

 

Item 10



 

31 

 
EXHIBIT B1:  MTC POSITIONS OFFERED TO ABAG LEGACY EMPLOYEES 

(Names to be added before approval.) 
 

EMPLOYEE NAME POSITION TITLE SECTION 
   
   
   
   
   

 

 

Item 10



 

32 

 
EXHIBIT B2:  MTC VACATION ACCRUAL CHART 

 
 

TENURE ANNUAL DAYS  ANNUAL 
HOURS 
 

PER PAYROLL HOURS  
(26 PAYROLLS PER YEAR)  

Year 1 *  13 104 4.00 

Year 2  14 112 4.31 

Year 3  15 120 4.62 

Year 4  16 128 4.93 

Year 5  17 136 5.24 

Year 6  18 144 5.54 

Year 7  19 152 5.85 

Year 8  20 160 6.16 

Year 9  21 168 6.47 

Year 10  22 176 6.77 

Year 11  23 184 7.08 

Year 12  24 192 7.39 

Year 13 + 25 200 7.70 

 
FJF  

 

Item 10



Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission

Jake Mackenzie, Chair

OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL (5)
 Adrienne Weil* 

Cynthia Segal
Matthew Lavrinets

Leslie Miessner
Ron Ceguera

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (11)
 Steve Heminger 

Rosy Leyva    Beba Jimenez
Kimberly Ward    Maria Leon
Martha Silver    Fred Castro

DEPUTY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
POLICY

Alix Bockelman

DEPUTY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
OPERATIONS

Andrew Fremier

INTEGRATED PLANNING
DEPARTMENT (44)

Ken Kirkey 
Director

PROGRAMMING AND 
ALLOCATIONS (22)

Anne Richman
Director

ADMINISTRATION & 
FACILITIES (28)

Teri Green
Director

LEGISLATION & PUBLIC 
AFFAIRS (22)

Randy Rentschler 
Director

OPERATIONS (35)
Melanie Crotty 

Director

TECHNOLOGY SERVICES (29)
Nick Roethel 

Director

ELECTRONIC PAYMENTS 
(29)

Carol Kuester 
Director

Metropolitan Transportation Commission
Staffing Organization

Proposed – July 1, 2017
AS OF 3.15.17

BARC (2)
Allison Brooks
Vijay Kevasan

Harold Brazil
Tom Buckley
Benjamin Espinosa
Shimon Israel
Douglas Johnson
Stephanie Mak
Matt Maloney
Adam Noelting
Kara Oberg
Michael Reilly
Sarina Seaton
Drennen Shelton
Rupinder Singh
Krute Singa
Kearey Smith
Vikrant Sood
Therese Trivedi
Dave Vautin
Kristen Villanueva
Stella Wotherspoon
Michael Ziyambi
Lisa Zorn
Vacant – 1
Gillian Adams
Duane Bay
Ben Botkin
Dana Brechwald 
JoAnna Bullock
Ada Chan
Wally Charles
Maureen Gaffney 
Michael Germeraad
Lee Huo 
Johnny Jaramillo
Cynthia Kroll
Christy Leffall
Bobby Lu
Aksel Olsen
Mark Shorett
Michael Smith
Laura Thompson
Hing Wong
Vacant – 1

Anthony Albert
Karl Anderson
Marcella Aranda
Mallory Atkinson
William Bacon
Craig Bosman
Cheryl Chi
Melanie Choy
Adam Crenshaw
Megan Espiritu
Kenneth Folan
Theresa Hannon
Shruti Hari
Christina Hohorst
Robert Jaques
Kenneth Kao
Ross McKeown
Theresa Romell
Sui Tan
Glen Tepke
Vacant -1

Catalina Alvarado
Peter Beeler
Karin Betts
David Cooper
Georgia Gann
John Goodwin
Ellen Griffin
Pam Grove
Brenda Kahn
Leslie Lara-Enriquez
Rebecca Long
Chirag Rabari
Jay Stagi
Michele Stone
Julie Teglovic
Julie Tunnell
Ursula Vogler
Khristina Wenzinger
Halimah Anderson
Leah Zippert
Edna Yeh

Jason Agbunag
Luis Barragan
DeNise Blake
Michael Brinton
Luz Campos
Ryan DeCoud
Jerry Finer
Jeremy Gladson
Ashley Gonzalez
Robert Hoffman
Robin James
Paula Johnson
Sandy Kim
Thomas Lacap
Ann Macaulay
Irving Maxwell
Andrew Nguyen
Denise Rodrigues
Valerie Stark
Gary Szeto
Stephen Wolf
Vincent Yee
Vacant - 2
Chris Fong
Deborah Gaines
Michelle Williams

Mohamed Alani
Felicia Alas
Gavin Alavinejad
Nisar Ahmed
Kyle Baker
Janet Banner
Shauna Callow
Valerie Campbell
Corey Dodge
Derek Fesler
Brooke Fotheringham
Queli Go
Stephen Hohorst
Pratul Kant
Yong Lee
Joel Markowitz
Gilbert Mingming
Martin Munoz
Alysha Natchigall
Michelle Tan
Maung Than
Thiru Thiagarajah
Jess Thomas
Vacant – 1
Fred Parkinson
Ravi Selvanayagam
Bruce Samar
Atti Williams

Stephen Abbanat
 Jessica Barraza
Sarah Barz
Sylvia Cox
Eric Davis
Mark Dinh
Manuel Espiritu
Jeff Gerbracht
Michele Gillaspie
Shauna Harper
James Hebert
Ken Hoang
Kelley Jackson
Raymond Jocson
Mike Lee
Jim Macrae
Edward Meng
Mey Phu
Wilfred Poon
Sharon Stokes-Couto
Derek Toups
Noah Tunick
Lynn Valdivia
Jason Weinstein
David Weir
Beth Zelinski
Vacant - 2

DEPUTY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
LOCAL GOVERNMENT SERVICES

Bradford Paul

ESTUARY PARTNERSHIP 
(12)

Caitlin Sweeney 
Director

ENERGY PROGRAM (3)

Jenny Berg
Ryan Jacoby
Jerry Lahr

ABAG EXECUTIVE BOARD
Julie Pierce, President

INSURANCE PROGRAMS (6)

Kim Chase
Gertruda Luermann
Roslyn Morris-Singh
John Saelee
Jill Stallman
Vacant - 1

Contract

* Advises Commission and Executive
Board directly

Debbie Atmaja
Suzanne Bode
Sonia Elsonbaty
Elena Federis
Abbey Haile
Girma Kebede
Betty Lam
Michael Lau
Alan Lee
Jennifer Lee
Suk Li
Jessica Lin
Lilia Lobetos
Gary Louie
Nancy Louie
Winnie Lum
Carolyn McKenzie
Mabel Melkonians
Paul Nijjar
Soyeb Palya
Anna Pan
Seema Prasad
Jackie Suen
Lourdes Tang
Darren Wong
Victor Wong
Raymond Woo
Vacant – 2
Cindy Chen
Celia Imperial
Moti Kumar
Lucy Ng
Courtney Ruby
Vacant - 1

Stephen Baker
Sarah Burnworth
Kevin Chen
Kaki Cheung
Rosalynn Chongchaikit
Winnie Chung
Chelsea Gamulo
Gio DiFabio
Michelle Go
Pierce Gould
Stefanie Hom
Kelly Kent
Michael Kerns
Lisa Klein
Tristan Lall
Barbara Laurensen
Linda Lee
Peter Lee
Christopher Lillie
Angela Louie
Jaime Maldonado
Maria Morse
Megan Nangle
Ashley Nguyen
Raymond Odulanmi
Robert Rich
Toshi Shepard-Ohta
Brenton Smith
Trish Stoops
Stephen Terrin
Emily Van Wagner
Vacant - 3Existing MTC employee (230)

Former ABAG employee (60)

Vince Cabrieto
Catherine Cam
Ya Sin
Russell Yuen

FINANCE  
Chief Financial Officer

Brian Mayhew

BUDGET & REVENUE (36)
Eva Sun
Director

TREASURY (5)
Susan Woo

Director

Adrien Baudrimont
Joshua Bradt
Rebecca Darr
Natasha Dunn
Susan Glendening
Athena Honore
Darcie Luce
Karen McDowell
James Muller
Heidi Nutters
Leslie Perry

Total: 290 employees

_____________________
Steve Heminger
Executive Director

FINANCE AUTHORITY FOR 
NON-PROFITS (1)

Michael Hurtado

EXHIBIT C: MTC ORGANIZATION CHART

33 Item 10



 
 
TO:  ABAG Executive Board       
 
FROM: ABAG Retirees - Stephen Attaway, Eileen Barr, Raymond J. Brady, Brenda Brown,  

Charlene Harrington, Karen Lewis, Gloria Lin, Vina Maharaj, Sharon McCreadie,  
Jeanne Perkins, Victoria Rutherford, Suzan Ryder, Lynn Shea, Bryan Tse 

 
DATE:  March 13, 2017 

 
RE:  ABAG Retiree Medical and Pension Benefits 
  Merger of ABAG/MTC 
 
Dear Hon. President Pierce & Hon. Board Members of the ABAG Executive Board:  
 
We, the retirees of ABAG, have gone through the Draft Contract for Services these past few weeks in an attempt to 
understand the language which guarantees our pension and health benefits in perpetuity. 
 
We find that as far as ABAG is concerned, this Contract seems to only talk about its Legacy staff, their pension and 
benefits.  The Retirees of ABAG are not included in this Contract.  Obviously the language is not clear to us, 
therefore, our first concern is the clarification and accurate interpretation of language regarding the pension and 
health benefits of the Retirees. 
 
We understand that the ABAG/MTC staff are currently in negotiations with CalPERS to determine the division of 
these liabilities among the Legacy Staff and Retirees.  If the Legacy staff pensions were to be placed under MTC’s 
obligations and the Retiree pension liabilities were under ABAG’s, then we need further language clarification in 
the Contract which specifies this even more accurately.  Language Clarification is our First concern. 
 
Our Second and Foremost concern is the insecure finances of ABAG and the lack of MTC’s commitment to backup 
ABAG’s finances in case of budget deficits.  The merger intends to leave our already-earned health and pension 
liabilities separated into an account at ABAG.  It wants us to believe that ABAG will still exist as an ongoing 
independent entity whereas what we see is a broken down ABAG with no staff and assets but only liabilities. While 
MTC is taking all of ABAG’s assets, which is its staff, it is leaving the large pension and health liabilities with ABAG, 
whose funding source is insecure, now and into the future.  This is mentioned in various documents, as follows: 
 

The MTC-ABAG Merger Study Financial Forecast indicates “CalPERS unfunded liability costs increase from 
$1.3M in FY 13-14 to $2.8M in FY 21-22”.  
 
Additionally, the memo dated February 13, 2017 clearly states “the draft CS also recognizes that the cost 
differences for subsequent years need to be addressed.  The draft CS includes a provision where ABAG 
acknowledges the need to identify additional revenues in the future”. 

 
It should be unconscionable on anyone’s part to do this to the most vulnerable group in this merger?  A group who 
has already paid its dues? We seem to be back to Square One where the merger started.  After two years of 
uncertainty and stress of merger negotiations, we the retirees, did not expect to be excluded and placed in this 
very insecure position. We feel abandoned and betrayed.  In fact, we feel that the retirees of ABAG are asked to 
carry a heavy burden of insecurity on their shoulders as they age, whereas all others in this merger are made 
whole.   
 

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



To ABAG Executive Board 
March 13, 2017 
Page 2 
 

The monies which ABAG was putting towards our pensions, is already earned through our many years of dedicated 
service to ABAG.  When we joined ABAG, we were told that as part of our salary and benefits package, ABAG was 
placing a certain percentage of our salaries into our pension accounts.  Our pensions should be regarded as fully 
funded or a firm conviction should be made in the Contract, so that we can be sure our pension checks and health 
benefits will be there for us in perpetuity. 
 
We understand that Mr. Heminger is proposing to dedicate ABAG revenues first to its pension and retiree medical 
obligations, then to other matters.  The fact that Mr. Heminger wants these revenues pledged by ABAG does not 
mean that there are sufficient finances into the future to cover existing ABAG retirement and health costs.  And 
that no one is questioning Mr. Heminger’s proposal, knowing fully well that this is funding which may not be there.  
Even if ABAG does in fact meet its funding deficit this time around, what about the future budgets for e.g. In Yr. 
2021 when circumstances will change such as newer board members, newer staff at ABAG/MTC? 
 
We request that since MTC is taking control of all of ABAG’s assets such as its employees, they should also be 
taking ABAG’s liabilities that were previously being paid by us, the hard working and long-term serving staff of 
ABAG.  If we are to believe that MTC is doing this in good faith and truly wants this merger to work in everyone’s 
favor, then they should not hesitate to make a commitment in the Contract.  We request a firm commitment from 
MTC, in the form of a few clearly worded paragraphs for ABAG’s Retirees indicating that MTC will be responsible 
for all of ABAG’s liabilities relating to its retirees and other obligations.  If there are no other avenues of funding 
then the appropriate amount of money should be charged to the MTC employees, new and old, which is a way we 
can certainly go. 
 
The retirees of ABAG do not accept this Contract for Services in its current form. In fact, we don’t see ourselves 
included in this Contract at all.   We would like to be included in this Contract for Services since we should be 
regarded as a Compulsory component in this merger.  We humbly request that ABAG Executive Board provide us 
with a 100% firm conviction that our earned pensions and health benefits will be paid to us in perpetuity via a 
properly worded Contract for Services.   
 
We thank and Salute you for the very honorable, dedicated and hard work that you do.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Stephen Attaway, retired 2014 after 14 years of service to ABAG 
Eileen Barr, retired 11/30/2008 after 15 years of service to ABAG 
Brenda Brown, retired 12/31/2008 after 15 years of service to ABAG 
Raymond J. Brady, retired 9/26/1996 after 17 years of service to ABAG 
Charlene Harrington, retired 12/13/2013 after 13 years of service to ABAG 
Karen Lewis, retired 12/31/2008 after 16 years of service to ABAG 
Gloria Lin, retired 12/1/2014 after 15 years of service to ABAG 
Vina Maharaj, retired 12/30/2013 after 13 years of service to ABAG 
Sharon McCreadie, retired 2008 after 13 years of service to ABAG 
Jeanne Perkins, retired 2006 after 32 years of service to ABAG 
Victoria Rutherford, retired 5/31/2016 after 15 ½ years of service to ABAG 
Suzan Ryder, retired 2006 after 8.5 years of service to ABAG 
Lynn Shea, retired (due to outsource) 2014 after 5 years, 8 months of service to ABAG 
Bryan Tse, retired 11/30/2016 after 28 years of service to ABAG 

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



Fred Castro - ABAG Retiree Benefits

From: <mtk1@comcast.net>
To: <fredc@abag.ca.gov>
Date: 3/11/2017 5:19 PM
Subject: ABAG Retiree Benefits
Cc: "Vina" <vinam@comcast.net>

Mr Castro - 

We, the retirees of ABAG, have been going through the Draft Contract for Services and the 
attachments these past few weeks in an attempt to understand exactly where in the contract does it 
mention that our (ABAG retirees) pensions and health benefits is guaranteed to us in perpetuity.  We 
feel that the way this merger is going to take place, is to leave ABAG’s most vulnerable group 
(retirees) in a very insecure position.

Our pensions and health benefit liabilities, benefits which we expected to be guaranteed to us in 
perpetuity via this contract, after two years of uncertainty and stress, is going to be left with the entity 
of ABAG, whose funding source is clearly not secure. How can ABAG’s funding be regarded as 
secure that you would consider leaving our pensions and health benefits there?  Why is MTC not 
taking any responisbility for ABAG’s liabilities when they are taking most of ABAG’s assets, such as 
its employees?

When we started the merger process, it was already identified that ABAG needed to bring in additional 
revenues.  We don’t understand what the merger will do for the large unfunded pension obligation 
which is our concern and has been the long-term concern of ABAG’s.  We are back to square one.  It 
seems like the Legacy staff will be made whole, however, nobody seems to ask questions about the 
large pension obligation which will be left with ABAG to cover its retirees’.  In all of this, it seems like 
the retirees of ABAG will be left with the burden of feeling insecure as each year we will be left to 
wonder whether ABAG will have sufficient funds to meet its budget.  We can’t live our lives based on 
this fear especially when many of you board members retire and new board members take 
responsibility for meeting ABAG’s budget over the next few decades.

Since MTC is taking control of most or all of ABAG’s assets such as its employees, they should also 
be taking ABAG’s liabilities that were previously being paid by us, the hard working, long-term serving 
staff of ABAG.  ABAG’s assets include our monies which we paid via our salaries.   It is 
unconscionable on anyone’s part not to consider paying off our pension and health liabilities first, 
before anything else and making sure there is a firm, 100% secure backup plan, in case of funding 
shortage at ABAG.  

Page 1 of 2

3/13/2017file:///C:/Users/FredC.ABAG/AppData/Local/Temp/XPgrpwise/58C431B5D01Metro1001...

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



The retirees of ABAG will not accept this Contract for Service in its current form.   We request a firm 
commitment from MTC, in the form of a clearly worded paragraph indicating that they will backup and 
pay ABAG’s pension and health obligations to CalPERS in case of funding shortage at ABAG. Or that 
they can add these costs to all MTC employees, including ABAG’s legacy staff who are being 
transitioned, here and now. We retirees have paid our dues, we have paid our share over the years.  
We ask that you provide us with a 100% assurance that our pensions and health benefits will be paid 
to us in perpetuity.

All the retirees are seeking is simply what is fair and owed to us. Please see that this is accomplished.

Terrence Hickman

ABAG Retired 11/01/08

Page 2 of 2

3/13/2017file:///C:/Users/FredC.ABAG/AppData/Local/Temp/XPgrpwise/58C431B5D01Metro1001...

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



TO:  Executive Board Members                                               DT:  March 13, 2017 

FM:  Marcia Loss, retired ABAG employee 

RE:   Existing ABAG Retiree Pension and Health Benefits  

 

Dear President Pierce and Board Members of the ABAG Executive Board: 
 

As a retiree of ABAG since 2006, with 34 years of service, I would like to be assured 
that members of the Executive Board are protecting existing Retirees Pensions and 
Health Care benefits. 

The Draft Contract for Services seems to only address ABAG Legacy employees and 
does not appear to mention that existing ABAG Retirees Pension and Health Care 
Benefits are guaranteed.    

When I attended the ABAG/MTC Merger Option meetings and GA, I felt assured that 
every effort would be made to protect the existing Retirees benefits.   

Since MTC is taking control of most or all of ABAG’s employees and other assets, 
shouldn’t they also be responsible for ABAG’s liabilities?   This includes continuing 
to maintain and pay those liabilities which are related to insuring existing Retirees 
Pension and Health Care Benefits, as promised when we retired. 
 
The Contract for Services should clearly state that MTC is responsible for all ABAG 
liabilities even if ABAG cannot meet in the future its financial obligations relating to 
ABAG Retirees.  
 
Thank you for your consideration and assistance in protecting the pensions and 
health care benefits of existing ABAG retirees. 

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



 

 
 
TO:  ABAG Executive Board       
 
FROM: Vina Maharaj 
 
DATE:  March 13, 2017 

 
RE:  ABAG Retiree Medical and Pension Benefits 
  Merger of ABAG/MTC 
 
Dear Hon. President Pierce & Hon. Board Members of the ABAG Executive Board:  
 
Two years ago, when the merger discussions started, we were told that there will be two 
documents guiding the Merger of ABAG/MTC, namely: A Contract and an MOU. 
   
We are shocked after going through two years of waiting, uncertainty and stress, that we, the ABAG 
Retirees are not included in any Merger Contracts.  Instead of having an all-inclusive Contract 
pertaining to all matters related to ABAG, ABAG-MTC have created a “Contract for Services” which 
is only related to the servicing of MTC by ABAG Staff. The Contract mentions ABAG’s need to make 
its contractual obligations to CalPERS, however, I don’t feel these cover the liabilities of ABAG which 
cover my pensions and health benefits.  It seems to be written in the context for the Legacy 
employees of ABAG only. 
 
MTC is dismantling ABAG into pieces, making a Contract with one portion of it, and leaving the rest 
of the entity to fetch for itself.  This is the way we see this merger happening. 
 
ABAG is not going to remain the same entity as before, its biggest asset, its staff is merging with 
MTC.  How does it make sense not having its Retirees be included in any Contract?  If not in a 
“Contract for Services”, than we should be on some Contract which promises us our retiree pension 
and health benefits in perpetuity, after the merger of our agency, ABAG.  We are an important 
component of ABAG, we should not be discarded but included somewhere. 
 
Because this matter involves our entire future, we just want to see something in writing as I am 
sure you can understand.  Verbal promises and supporting documentation will not be a 
reconciliation on this very essential subject in our lives. 
 
We are certain that the dedicated, honorable members of the ABAG Executive Board will do the 
right thing for ABAG’s Retirees.  You won’t fail us, you’ve always done the right thing. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Vina Maharaj 
Retired from ABAG 12/30/2013 after 13 years of Dedicated Service 
 

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



Fred Castro - How Will ABAG Retiree Benefits Be Paid?

Fred,

Please add this to the Executive Board packet if you can or please distribute it to the 
members before the meeting.

Thank you!!!

Patty

From: "Patricia Perry" <prpjam@comcast.net>
To: jpierce@ci.clayton.ca.us
Sent: Sunday, March 12, 2017 10:58:39 PM
Subject: How Will ABAG Retiree Benefits Be Paid?

March 13, 2017

Hon. Julie Pierce
President
Association of Bay Area Governments
375 Beale Street, Suite 700
San Francisco CA 94105

Subject: ABAG Retiree Pension and Medical Benefits

Dear Ms. Pierce:

Many ABAG retirees are deeply concerned about the safety of their 
pensions and medical benefits. 

I am requesting that ABAG give its retirees specific information--in 
writing--about how ABAG intends to pay its future CalPERS pension 
and medical obligations for the existing retirees.

Retirees need to know that ABAG takes this responsibility seriously. 

From: Patricia Perry <prpjam@comcast.net>
To: <fredc@abag.ca.gov>
Date: 3/12/2017 11:01 PM
Subject: How Will ABAG Retiree Benefits Be Paid?

Page 1 of 2

3/13/2017file:///C:/Users/FredC.ABAG/AppData/Local/Temp/XPgrpwise/58C5D347D01Metro1001...

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



Retirees also need to know that this responsibility is a high-order 
agency priority. 

I hope that you and the entirety of the Executive Board will address this 
matter and communicate with retirees before signing the contract for 
services with MTC.

Thank you in advance for addressing the concerns of my fellow retirees. 

Patricia R. Perry
30 Meek Place
Lafayette CA 94549

Page 2 of 2

3/13/2017file:///C:/Users/FredC.ABAG/AppData/Local/Temp/XPgrpwise/58C5D347D01Metro1001...

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



Fred Castro - FOR THE ATTENTION OF ABAG EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

From: Fatmah Radovich <m10_15_dp@hotmail.com>
To: "fredc@abag.ca.gov" <fredc@abag.ca.gov>
Date: 3/11/2017 6:00 PM
Subject: FOR THE ATTENTION OF ABAG EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

Dear Fred Castro:

I am a retired member of CALPERS and I am deeply troubled by information 
received regarding the ABAG/MTC merger that my former employer, ABAG's 
(Association of Bay Area Government) financial pension obligations to it's retired 
staff in perpetuity is in jeopardy. Further troubling as I understand it, the current 
ABAG/MTC Draft Contract for Services seems to leave ABAG's pension and health 
benefits to the already retired staff unprotected. I live a very modest lifestyle in 
an apartment, no longer a car owner, and losing the earned pension benefits 
would cause serious vulnerability.

We the already retired ABAG staff gave our best working years to being loyal 
employees. As retirees and at the most vulnerable time of our lives, need to be 
able to count on our earned and deserved pension and health benefits. It is 
inconceivable, especially this time of our lives when our most productive 
working years are behind us, that we are faced with the threat of possibly losing 
our pension benefits when needed the most!

I request your most serious and thoughtful consideration to do everything you can 
to reach the most workable and inclusive ABAG/MTC contract possible! I have 
confidence that it can be done. Please leave no stone unturned in your decision 
making.

Thank you for your time and efforts in this crucial matter.

Sincerely,

Fatmah Radovich

Page 1 of 1

3/13/2017file:///C:/Users/FredC.ABAG/AppData/Local/Temp/XPgrpwise/58C43B33D01Metro1001...

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



Fred Castro - For the Attention of ABAG Executive Board Members

From: Suzan Ryder <suzan.ryder@yahoo.com>
To: "fredc@abag.ca.gov" <fredc@abag.ca.gov>
Date: 3/11/2017 5:03 PM
Subject: For the Attention of ABAG Executive Board Members

Dear Sir,

Please print this email and/or forward it to the appropriate ABAG board member before 
the next meeting.

Please note:

We retirees have paid our dues, we have paid our share over the years.  We ask that you 
provide us with 100% firm conviction that our pensions and health benefits will be paid to 
us in perpetuity.

The retirees of ABAG will not accept this Contract for Service in its current form.   We 
request a firm commitment from MTC, in the form of a clearly worded paragraph indicating 
that they will backup and pay ABAG’s pension and health obligations to CalPERS in case 
of funding shortage at ABAG. Or that they can add these costs to all MTC employees, 
including ABAG’s legacy staff who are being transitioned, here and now. 

Thank you for your attention to this important matter.

Sincerely,

Suzan L. Ryder (SSN *** ** 0730)

Former Administrative Assistant to the Planning Director Gary Binger, and 3 PDs the 
followed.

Retired from ABAG in June 2006 after 9 years of service.

Page 1 of 1

3/13/2017file:///C:/Users/FredC.ABAG/AppData/Local/Temp/XPgrpwise/58C42DCDD01Metro100...

Item 10.A., Comments ABAG Retirees



Executive Board 

 

Representatives 

 

Julie Pierce, Councilmember, City of Clayton—President 

David Rabbitt, Supervisor, County of Sonoma—Vice President 

David Cortese, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara—Immediate Past President 

 

Candace Andersen, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa 

Len Augustine, Mayor, City of Vacaville 

Annie Campbell Washington, Councilmember, City of Oakland 

David Canepa, Supervisor, County of San Mateo 

Cindy Chavez, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara 

Lan Diep, Councilmember, City of San Jose 

Pat Eklund, Councilmember, City of Novato 

Leon Garcia, Mayor, City of American Canyon 

Liz Gibbons, Mayor, City of Campbell 

Lynette Gibson McElhaney, Councilmember, City of Oakland 

Abel Guillen, Councilmember, City of Oakland 

Pradeep Gupta, Mayor, City of South San Francisco 

Scott Haggerty, Supervisor, County of Alameda 

Barbara Halliday, Mayor, City of Hayward 

Erin Hannigan, Supervisor, County of Solano 

Dave Hudson, Vice Mayor, City of San Ramon 

Sergio Jimenez, Councilmember, City of San Jose 

Edwin Lee, Mayor, City and County of San Francisco 

Wayne Lee, Mayor, City of Millbrae 

Jake Mackenzie, Mayor, City of Rohnert Park 

Nathan Miley, Supervisor, County of Alameda 

Karen Mitchoff, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa 

Raul Peralez, Councilmember, City of San Jose 

Dave Pine, Supervisor, County of San Mateo 

John Rahaim, Planning Director, City and County of San Francisco 

Belia Ramos, Supervisor, County of Napa 

Roster



Dennis Rodoni, Supervisor, County of Marin 

Todd Rufo, Economic and Workforce Development Director, City and County of San Francisco 

Greg Scharff, Mayor, City of Palo Alto 

Trish Spencer, Mayor, City of Alameda 

Norman Yee, Supervisor, City and County of San Francisco 

 

William Kissinger, Board Member, San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board—
Advisory Member 

 

Alternates 

 

Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, City of Berkeley 

Sylvia Arenas, Councilmember, City of San Jose 

Laurel Arvanitidis, Industry Programs, Economic and Workforce Development, City and County 
of San Francisco 

Mary-Lynne Bernald, Councilmember, City of Saratoga 

Elizabeth Brekhus, Councilmember, City of Ross 

Monica Brown, Supervisor, County of Solano 

Diane Burgis, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa 

Tom Butt, Mayor, City of Richmond 

Catherine Carlton, Councilmember, City of Menlo Park 

Keith Carson, Supervisor, County of Alameda 

Chris Clark, Councilmember, City of Mountain View 

Julie Combs, Councilmember, City of Santa Rosa 

Damon Connolly, Supervisor, County of Marin 

Diane Dillon, Supervisor, County of Napa 

John Dunbar, Mayor, Town of Yountville 

Nicole Elliott, Director of Legislative and Governmental Affairs, City and County of San 
Francisco 

John Gioia, Supervisor, County of Contra Costa 

Susan Gorin, Supervisor, County of Sonoma 

Dan Kalb, Councilmember, City of Oakland 

Johnny Khamis, Councilmember, City of San Jose 

Tam Nguyen, Councilmember, City of San Jose 

AnMarie Rodgers, Senior Policy Advisor, Planning, City and County of San Francisco 

Carlos Romero, Councilmember, City of East Palo Alto 

Roster



Pedro (Pete) Sanchez, Mayor, City of Suisun City 

Joseph Simitian, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara 

Roy Swearingen, Mayor, City of Pinole 

Richard Valle, Supervisor, County of Alameda 

Mike Wasserman, Supervisor, County of Santa Clara 

 

Terry Young, Chair, San Francisco Bay Regional Water Quality Control Board—Advisory 
Member 

 

3/9/17 

Roster



Blank Page 



 AS S O C I A T I O N  O F  B A Y  AR E A  GO V E R N M E N T S  
Representing City and County Governments of the San Francisco Bay Area 

M E E T I N G  S C H E D U L E  2 0 1 7  

Approved by the Executive Board:  November 17, 2016 

For meeting date and time and location, see meeting notice, agenda and attachments available 
at http://www.abag.ca.gov/ 

For information, contact Fred Castro, Clerk of the Board, at (415) 820 7913. 

General Assembly 
Date: Monday, January 30 

10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Location: Bay Area Metro Center, 375 Beale Street, Yerba Buena Conference Room, 
San Francisco 

General Assembly and Business Meeting 
Date: Thursday,  May 11 

Time: 10:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Location: Bay Area Metro Center, 375 Beale Street, Yerba Buena Conference Room, 
San Francisco 

Executive Board 
Dates: Thursday, January 19 

Thursday, February 16 
Thursday, March 16 
Thursday, May 18 
Thursday, July 20 
Thursday, September 21 
Thursday, November 16 

Time: 7:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. 

Location: Bay Area Metro Center, 375 Beale Street, Board Room, San Francisco 

  

Schedule

http://www.abag.ca.gov/


Association of Bay Area Governments 
Meeting Schedule 2017 

Page 2 
 

 

Legislation and Governmental Organization Committee 
Dates: See Executive Board Schedule 

Time: 3:30 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

Location: Bay Area Metro Center, 375 Beale Street, Board Room, San Francisco 

Finance and Personnel Committee 
Dates: See Executive Board Schedule 

Time: 5:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. 

Location: Bay Area Metro Center, 375 Beale Street, Board Room, San Francisco 

Administrative Committee 
Dates: Special meetings scheduled as needed. 

Regional Planning Committee 
Dates: Wednesday, February 1 

Wednesday, April 5 
Wednesday, June 7 
Wednesday, August 2 
Wednesday, October 4 
Wednesday, December 6 

Time: 12:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Location: Bay Area Metro Center, 375 Beale Street, Yerba Buena Conference Room, 
San Francisco 

Contact: Wally Charles, Administrative Secretary, Planning, (415) 820 7993, 
wallyc@abag.ca.gov 

 

Schedule


	EB 20170316 Agenda Final v3
	EB 20170316 Item 06A Minutes 20170216 Draft
	Blank Page
	EB 20170316 Item 06C BayRen Memo Local Government Challenge
	Blank Page
	EB 20170316 Item 06C BayRen Attach Project Narrative Local Government Challenge
	EB 20170316 Item 06D SFEP Memo Canopy Health Watersheds Resilient Baylands
	EB 20170316 Item 06D SFEP Attach Canopy Final Draft Subrecipient Agreement
	EB 20170316 Item 06E SFEP SFEI Memo Website Support Contract Modification 7
	Blank Page
	EB 20170316 Item 06E SFEP SFEI Attach Website Support Agreement Modification 7
	EB 20170316 Item 06F Management Pay and Monthly Salary Schedules
	Blank Page 2
	EB 20170316 Item 06F Attach Management Pay Schedule
	Blank Page 3
	EB 20170316 Item 06F Attach Monthly Salary Schedule Represented Staff
	Blank Page
	EB 20170316 Item 07 LGO 20170316 Agenda Final
	Blank Page 4
	EB 20170316 Item 08 FP 20170316 Agenda Final
	EB 21070316 Item 09 Memo Planning and Research Overview
	Blank Page 6
	EB 20170316 Item 09 Attach 1 Planning Research Challenges
	EB 20170316 Item 09 Attach 2 Planning and Research Chart
	EB 20170316 Item 10 Joint ABAG MTC Memo Approval Contract for Services and Memorandum of Understanding
	7ai_Staff Consolidation CS and MOU Approval Memo
	7aii_MOU
	7aiii_CS
	1. DEFINITIONS
	2. PRESERVATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES AND MISSIONS OF ABAG AND THE LCPs
	3. SERVICES
	3.1 Standard of Professional Care
	3.2 Operating Budgets and Work Plans
	3.3 Financial Services
	3.4 Legal Services
	(a) Potential Legal Conflicts of Interest. If ABAG, a LCP, or MTC determines in good faith that an actual or potential conflict of interest would exist if the MTC Legal Department were to provide legal services on a specific matter, then, unless the a...
	(b) Obtaining Outside Specialized Legal Services. ABAG or a LCP may request that the MTC Legal Department retain outside legal counsel to provide specialized legal services. The MTC Legal Department shall promptly respond to any such request in writin...
	(c) Nothing in this Agreement prevents or impairs the ability of ABAG or the LCP to directly retain outside legal counsel, at its own respective expense.

	3.5 Progress Reports

	4. OPERATING BUDGETS AND WORK PLANS; STAFFING
	4.1 Development and Approval
	(a) description of programmatic activities for that fiscal year;
	(b) proposals for expansion of a current programmatic activity;
	(c) proposals for a new program (see section 4.2 regarding funding new programs);
	(d) description of programmatic activities that will be discontinued in that fiscal year;
	(e) a budget showing the revenue(s) needed to support the proposed Work Plan for that budget year;
	(f) identification of the source of the revenue(s) described in subsection (e) and
	(g) any contingency plan(s) needed to address programmatic uncertainties or budgetary shortfalls.

	4.3 MTC Staffing

	5. COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT
	5.1 Compensation
	(a) total or partial cost recovery by MTC, based upon a breakdown of personnel costs, direct costs, and indirect costs;
	(b) total funding by MTC of select entities or programs;
	(c) subsidy of select entities and programs by MTC;
	(d) subsidy of select entities and programs by ABAG; and/or
	(e) subsidy of programs by one or more LCP.

	5.2 Overhead and Administrative Costs
	5.3 Payment Procedure and Method

	6. EMPLOYMENT OF ABAG LEGACY PERSONNEL
	6.1 Pension Obligations and Other Employee Benefits
	6.2 Changes in Employment Status
	6.3 Employee Transition Plan
	6.4 Plan for Staff Consolidation
	6.5 LCP Staffing and Officers
	6.6 SFEP Staff
	6.7 Pension and Medical Benefits

	7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF MTC PERSONNEL
	7.1 Personnel

	8. GOVERNANCE STUDY
	9. RELEASE OF CLAIMS
	10. INSURANCE AND RISK ALLOCATION
	10.1 Engagement of Consultant(s)
	(a) Not more than 60 days after the Effective Date, MTC will initiate, by procurement procedures employed by MTC in the ordinary course of business, a request for proposals/qualifications (the “Solicitation”) for the services described above and to as...
	(b) MTC staff will review responses to the Solicitation and evaluate them based on factors such as responsiveness, qualifications/reputation, and cost, and will select one or more preferred providers.
	(c) MTC staff will present the choice of the selected provider(s) to the MTC Administration Committee and the ABAG Finance and Personnel Committee for approval.

	10.2 Insurance Policies
	(a) ABAG, the LCPs, and MTC will be insured under one blanket comprehensive general liability policy, professional errors and omissions policy (if applicable) and crime and fidelity policy.  ABAG, the LCPs, and MTC will be insured under separate publi...
	(b) The allocation of the costs of deductibles under the policy described in the immediately preceding paragraph will be determined on a case by case bases under criteria and processes to be agreed upon by the parties after the Effective Date;
	(c) MTC will be insured under a separate employment practices policy; and
	(d) The costs of any uninsured claims made against either of the parties will be allocated on a case by case basis under criteria and processes to be agreed upon by the parties after the Effective Date.

	10.3 Business and Programmatic Risks

	11. NOTICES
	12. DURATION OF AGREEMENT
	13. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	(a) ABAG and MTC shall use good faith efforts to resolve all disputes informally.  In the event such efforts are unsuccessful, either party may request that MTC provide a written determination as to the proposed resolution of the dispute.  Within 30 c...
	(b) For disputes described in subsection (c), if the joint MTC board and ABAG Executive Board cannot agree, said dispute shall be referred to binding arbitration using a JAMS binding arbitration panel of three (3) individuals with Governmental/Public ...
	(a) If the joint MTC board and ABAG Executive Board cannot agree, the dispute shall be referred to binding arbitration using an arbitration board supplied by JAMS.  Each party shall bear the costs and expenses incurred by it in connection with such bi...

	14. TERMINATION
	14.1  Termination for Cause
	14.2   Notice of Termination
	14.3  Payment for Services Rendered Following Notice of Termination

	15. CHOICE OF LAW
	16. PARTIAL INVALIDITY
	17. BENEFIT OF AGREEMENT
	18. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION
	EXHIBIT A:  ABAG Statutory RESPONSIBILITIES
	EXHIBIT B:  Employee Transition Plan
	EXHIBIT B1:  MTC POSITIONS OFFERED TO ABAG LEGACY EMPLOYEES
	EXHIBIT B2:  MTC VACATION ACCRUAL CHART
	fjf
	EXHIBIT C: MTC ORGANIZATION CHART

	7aiv_Exhibit A_ABAG Statutory Roles  Responsibilities + Attchmts
	ABAG - Statutory Roles & Responsibilities
	ABAG JPA
	ABAG Bylaws

	7av_Exhibit C_Org Chart_v2
	Blank Page

	EB 20170316 Item 10A Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Retirees Combined
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Retriree Group 20170313
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Hickman 20170311
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Loss 20170313
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Maharaj 20170314
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Perry 20170312
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Radovich 20170311
	Comment ABAG MTC Contract for Services Ryder 20170311

	COB Website Roster Executive Board Current
	Blank Page 9
	Meeting Schedule 2017 Final 20161117


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




